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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”), as well as other statements we make, contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
federal securities laws, which include any statements that are not historical facts. Such statements often contain words such as “expect,” “may,” “can,”
“believe,” “predict,” “plan,” “potential,” “projected,” “projections,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “ambition,” “goal,” “target,” “think,” “should,”
“could,” “would,” “will,” “hope,” “see,” “likely,” and other similar words.

Forward-looking statements address matters that are, to varying degrees, uncertain, such as statements about financial and performance targets and
other forecasts or expectations regarding, or dependent on, our business outlook; our ability to secure sufficient and timely inventory from suppliers; our
ability to meet contracted customer demand; our ability to manage manufacturing or delivery delays; our ability to manage our supply chains and distribution
channels; our joint ventures, partnerships and other alliances; forecasts or expectations regarding energy transition and global climate change; reduction of
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions; the integration and optimization of energy resources; our business strategies and those of our customers; our ability to
retain or upgrade current customers, further penetrate existing markets or expand into new markets; the effects of natural disasters and other events beyond
our control; the direct or indirect effects on our business of macroeconomic factors and geopolitical instability, such as the ongoing conflict in Ukraine; the
expected benefits of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 on our business; and our future results of operations, including our adjusted EBITDA.

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied by such forward-looking statements, including but not limited to our inability to secure sufficient and timely inventory from our suppliers, as well as
contracted quantities of equipment; our inability to meet contracted customer demand; supply chain interruptions and manufacturing or delivery delays;
disruptions in sales, production, service or other business activities; general macroeconomic and business conditions in key regions of the world, including
inflationary pressures, general economic slowdown or a recession, rising interest rates, changes in monetary policy, instability in financial institutions, and
the prospect of a shutdown of the U.S. federal government; the direct and indirect effects of widespread health emergencies on our workforce, operations,
financial results and cash flows; geopolitical instability, such as the ongoing conflict in Ukraine; the results of operations and financial condition of our
customers and suppliers; pricing pressures; severe weather and seasonal factors; our inability to continue to grow and manage our growth effectively; our
inability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel; our inability to comply with, and the effect on our business of, evolving legal standards
and regulations, including those concerning data protection, consumer privacy, sustainability, and evolving labor standards; risks relating to the development
and performance of our energy storage systems and software-enabled services; our inability to retain or upgrade current customers, further penetrate
existing markets or expand into new markets; the risk that our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by other
political, economic, business and competitive factors; and other risks and uncertainties discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC. If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize (or the consequences of any such
development changes), or should our underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results or outcomes, or the timing of these results or outcomes,
may vary materially from those reflected in our forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements and other statements in this Report regarding our
environmental, social, and other sustainability plans and goals are not an indication that these statements are necessarily material to investors or required to
be disclosed in our filings with the SEC. In addition, historical, current, and forward-looking environmental, social, and sustainability-related statements may
be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to evolve, and assumptions that are
subject to change in the future. Forward-looking statements in this Report are made as of the date of this Report, and we do not assume any obligation to
update any forward-looking statements after the date of this Report, except as required by law.

PART I.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Stem, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Stem,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”), is a global leader in artificial intelligence (“AI”)-driven clean energy
solutions and services. We maintain one of the world’s largest digitally connected, intelligent, renewable energy networks, providing customers with (i)
energy storage hardware, sourced from leading, global battery original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), that we deliver through our partners, including
developers, distributors and engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) firms, (ii) edge hardware to aid in the collection of site data and the real-
time operation and control of the site plus other optional equipment, and (iii) an ongoing software platform, Athena , and professional services to operate
and manage the performance of standalone energy storage, integrated solar plus storage

®
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systems, and solar assets. In addition, in all of the markets where we help manage our customers’ clean energy assets, we have agreements to use the
Athena platform to participate in such markets and to share the revenue from such market participation.

We deliver our battery hardware and software-enabled services to our customers through our Athena platform. We believe that the network created by
our growing customer base increases grid resilience and reliability through the real-time processing of market-based demand signals, energy prices and
other factors in connection with the deployment of renewable energy resources to our customers. Additionally, our clean energy solutions are designed to
support renewable energy generation by helping to alleviate grid intermittency issues, thereby reducing customer dependence on traditional, fossil fuel
resources. As of December 31, 2023, Athena had accumulated more than 37 million runtime hours, with more than 500,000 industrial Internet of Things
(“IoT”) devices under management, across more than 184,000 sites in 48 countries.

We operate in two key areas within the energy landscape: Behind-the-Meter (“BTM”) and Front-of-the-Meter (“FTM”). An energy system’s position in
relation to a customer’s electric meter determines whether it is designated a BTM or FTM system. BTM systems provide power that can be used on-site
without interacting with the electric grid and passing through an electric meter. FTM, grid-connected systems provide power to off-site locations and must
pass through an electric meter prior to reaching an end-user.

For BTM customers, Athena mitigates customer energy costs through services such as time-of-use and demand charge management optimization and
by aggregating the dispatch of energy through a network of virtual power plants. Our software is designed to reduce  commercial and industrial (“C&I”)
customer energy bills, increase their energy yield, and help our customers facilitate the achievement of their corporate environmental, social, and corporate
governance (“ESG”) and carbon reduction objectives. Through Athena’s PowerTrack application, our software is designed to maximize solar energy output
and minimize asset downtime.

For FTM customers, our software decreases risk for project developers, asset owners, independent power producers and investors by adapting to
dynamic energy market conditions in connection with the deployment of electricity and improving the value of energy assets over the course of their FTM
system’s lifetime. We also help asset owners and operators monitor and manage the health and performance of their clean energy assets. As an early
participant in the BTM market, we developed operational focus and technical capabilities that position us to have multiple product offerings and services in
the evolving market for FTM energy storage services. We believe that Athena’s ability to optimize operations in both the BTM and FTM markets for storage
and solar assets is unique in the industry and provides us with a competitive advantage.

Through our February 2022 acquisition of Also Energy Holdings, Inc. (“AlsoEnergy”), we combined our storage optimization capabilities with
AlsoEnergy’s solar asset performance monitoring and control software.

History

We were originally known as Star Peak Energy Transition Corp. (“STPK”), which was a special purpose acquisition company that completed its public
offering on August 20, 2020. On April 28, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), we consummated a business combination (the “Merger”) pursuant to an Agreement and
Plan of Merger by and among STPK, STPK Merger Sub Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of STPK (“Merger Sub”), and Stem,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Stem”). The Merger was effected on the Closing Date through the merger of the Merger Sub with and into Legacy
Stem, with Legacy Stem surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Legacy Stem was a private company and is considered the Company’s
accounting predecessor.

On April 3, 2023, we issued $240.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.25% Green Convertible Senior Notes due 2030 (the “2030 Convertible
Notes”) in a private placement offering to qualified institutional buyers (the “2023 Initial Purchasers”) pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended. The 2030 Convertible Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 4.25% per year, payable in
cash semi-annually in arrears in April and October of each year, beginning in October 1, 2023. The notes will mature on April 1, 2030, unless earlier
repurchased, redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. Upon conversion, we may choose to pay or deliver cash, shares of
common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. The notes are redeemable for cash at our option at any time given certain conditions.

Our net proceeds from this offering were approximately $232.4 million, after deducting for $7.6 million of debt issuance costs primarily consisting of
underwriters, advisory, legal, and accounting fees. On April 3, 2023, we used approximately $99.8 million of the net proceeds to purchase and surrender for
cancellation approximately $163.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.50% Green Convertible Notes due 2028 (the “2028 Convertible Notes”) .
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On March 29, 2023 and March 31, 2023, in connection with the pricing of the 2030 Convertible Notes, and on April 3, 2023, in connection with the
exercise in full by the 2023 Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional notes, we entered into Capped Calls (the “2030 Capped Calls”) with
certain counterparties. We used $27.8 million of the net proceeds from the 2030 Convertible Notes to pay the cost of the 2030 Capped Calls.

Competitive Strengths

Our competitive strengths include the following:

• Significant Benefits from Scale & Network Effects: We believe we operate one of the largest global distributed clean energy storage networks,
with more than 5.5 Gigawatt-hours (“GWh”) of operating or contracted energy storage assets and more than 27.5 GW of solar assets under
management. This large, diverse network generates a significant amount of operational data leading to enhanced software performance through
machine-learning, which improves customer economics.

• Advanced Technology Platform : We developed one of the first AI platforms for energy storage and virtual power plants that automates storage
participation in electricity markets and performs monitoring and management of customer loads, solar generation and energy prices with real-time,
complex decision-making algorithms. The platform is able to co-optimize multiple energy market revenue streams across a diverse fleet of hardware
throughout multiple geographies and energy markets.

• Compelling Business Model & Customer Solutions : Our goal is to provide a seamless customer experience from commercial proposal to
installation and to ongoing operations. Customers sign long-term contracts, typically between 3 and 20 years in duration, while providing us the
flexibility to control their clean energy systems to maximize revenue, lower their energy costs, earn market participation revenue, and meet their
decarbonization goals. Our solution is designed to support these objectives with minimal impact on customer operations.

• Leading Strategic Partnerships : We have numerous partnerships with a diverse set of industry leaders to reduce execution risk and increase
speed to market in certain geographies. In October 2023, we partnered with NineDot Energy® in the development and completion of the first battery
energy storage site in the Bronx, New York City. The Gunther site features a 3 MW/12 MWh battery energy storage system, a solar canopy, and
infrastructure ready for bi-directional electric vehicle chargers. Under this software-only arrangement, our AI-driven Athena platform responds to
grid calls within 10 minutes, while simultaneously optimizing for local and seasonal system peaks. We have also partnered with Ameresco for a 313
MWh, multiple-site battery storage project. We will provide battery storage hardware, system design support, and Athena® software to the project.
Athena will enable the electric cooperative to dispatch the battery into system peaks to minimize costs and maximize efficiency.

• Exceptional AI and Energy Storage Expertise : We have a seasoned leadership team with a demonstrated track record of execution and more
than 150 years of accumulated experience in energy storage, software and distributed energy expertise focused on AI, technology development,
new market commercialization, renewable project development and utility / grid program operations. Our data science team has more than 150
years of combined experience in machine learning, optimization and controls.

Our Mission

Our mission is to maximize the economic, environmental, and resiliency value of renewable energy assets through our leading AI platform. In order to
fulfill our mission, we provide our customers, which include C&I enterprises as well as independent power producers, renewable project developers, utilities
and grid operators, with (i) energy storage hardware, sourced from leading, global battery OEMs, that we deliver through our partners, including developers,
distributors and EPC firms, (ii) edge hardware to aid in the collection of site data and the real-time operation and control of the site plus other optional
equipment, and (iii) an ongoing software platform and professional services to operate and manage the performance of standalone energy storage,
integrated solar plus storage systems, and solar assets. In addition, in all of the markets where we help manage our customers’ clean energy assets, we
have agreements to use the Athena platform to participate in such markets and to share the revenue from such market participation.

Our Customers

We operate in two key areas within the energy storage landscape: BTM and FTM. BTM systems installed at C&I customer locations provide power that
can be used on-site without interacting with the electric grid and generally without generating energy that passes through a utility electric meter. FTM grid-
connected systems deliver power into the grid which is often sold to off-site customers and transported by the grid prior to reaching an end-user. For BTM
customers, we seek to maximize value by providing AI-powered storage services that reduce spending on utility bills, enhance the economics of solar and
provide backup power. Additionally, we help BTM customers achieve renewable energy targets as part of their environmental, social
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and governance (“ESG”) commitments. For FTM customers, we provide software-enabled services to capture revenue from energy market participation,
including the sale of capacity, energy and ancillary services into regional electricity markets helping these customers enhance renewable project returns
while improving grid resiliency and reliability for utilities and grid operators. These services that we provide are all at the direction of our customers, and we
do not independently participate in the wholesale electricity market.

Research and Development

We have invested significant amounts of time and expense in the development of our Athena platform. The ability to maintain our leadership position
depends in part on our ongoing research and development activities. Our team of more than 200 software development, data science, and product
professionals is responsible for the design, development, integration, and testing of the Athena platform. We focus our efforts on developing Athena to
improve our algorithms, augment value with new revenue streams and localize our capabilities based on geography and regulatory considerations.

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property is a key differentiator for our business, and we seek protection whenever possible for the intellectual property that we own and
control, including but not limited to patents, proprietary information, trade secrets and software tools and applications. We rely upon a combination of patent,
copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, as well as employee and third-party non-disclosure agreements and other contractual restrictions to establish
and protect our proprietary rights.

We have developed a significant patent portfolio to protect elements of our proprietary technology. As of December 31, 2023, we had 82 patents across
storage and solar asset performance.

Our intellectual property encompasses a diverse mix of patents with respect to our proprietary systems and software. These patents relate to the
following broad categories:

• power electronics, including the basic interaction of batteries with the power grid where such electronics convert direct current (DC) battery power to
alternating current (AC) compatible grid power;

• analytics and control, including use cases and decisions into the operation of an energy storage system and the coordination of providing economic
or operational value to a customer;

• networked operations and grid services that involve the aggregation and operation of a group of energy storage systems to provide value to a utility
or grid operator; and

• monitoring and control of solar photo-voltaic power assets along with fault detection, performance analytics and solar generation forecasting.

“Athena®” is a registered-trademark, and Athena’s trademarked applications include “Analyzer™,” “Supervisor™,” “Explorer™,” and “PowerBidder™.”
The services relating to these trademarks include, but are not limited to, energy optimization services, software as a service for energy optimization services
and energy storage charge and discharge.

We routinely review our development efforts to assess the existence and patentability of our intellectual property. We pursue the registration of our
domain names and trademarks and service marks in the U.S. In an effort to protect our brand, as of December 31, 2023, we had nine registered trademarks
in the U.S.

Competition

The clean energy industry is highly competitive, and new regulatory requirements for carbon emissions, technological advances, the lower cost of
renewable energy, the decrease in battery and solar panel costs, improving battery technology and shifting customer demands are causing the industry to
evolve and expand. We believe that the principal competitive factors in the clean energy market include, but are not limited to:

• safety, reliability and quality;

• product performance and uptime;

• historical track record and references for customer satisfaction;

• experience in maximizing the value of clean energy systems for multiple stakeholders;

• technological innovation;

• comprehensive solution from a single provider;
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• ease of integration; and

• seamless hardware and software-enabled service offerings.

There is rising demand for solutions that can provide clean electric power with lower carbon emissions with high availability. Additionally, the transition
to renewable energy sources and distributed energy infrastructure has increased the complexity and variability of power generation and end-customer
electricity demand. This industry transformation has created an opportunity for an increased role for clean energy solutions like ours. We believe that, as
one of the largest solutions providers in this industry, we have a significant head start against our competition in this rapidly evolving environment. We
believe that the global push for lower carbon emissions, combined with vast technological improvements in lithium-ion battery-powered technologies, will
drive C&I customers, utilities, independent power producers and project developers to grow their use of and investment in clean energy systems.

Our key competitors include energy monitoring and optimization software providers, energy storage system OEMs, hardware integration providers,
renewable project developers and EPC firms. Our industry peers are typically focused on the development and marketing of single-purpose built solutions
with captive hardware offerings, while our AI-powered platform is capable of delivering a multitude of software-enabled services operating an extensive and
diverse network of clean energy systems across multiple geographies, utility, and grid operator service areas.

We believe that one of the key advantages driving sustainable differentiation for us includes the focus and capabilities built in our pioneering history in
the BTM segment of the energy storage industry. This experience required an emphasis on AI-driven co-optimization of energy storage operations and the
build-out of significant operational infrastructure to maximize economic value and grid stability for enterprise customers, utilities, and grid operators. We
believe that the distributed asset management capability from this experience positions us well to compete in the evolving FTM segment of the energy
storage industry as recent regulatory actions include the liberalization and formalization of rules for compensation of market participation for distributed
energy resources. We believe the legacy single-purpose market for FTM solutions will be driven by greater demand for flexible solutions that can access
multiple market opportunities. Our solutions have been designed to mitigate the challenges of today’s enterprise customers, independent power producers,
utilities, renewable asset owners and the modern electrical grid at scale with continued improvements to artificial intelligence optimization strategies
informed by operational data from one of the industry’s largest network of digitally-connected energy storage systems.

We believe we are well-positioned to compete successfully in the market for energy storage hardware and software-enabled services. Despite our
limited operating history, we are among the leaders in global distributed energy storage and solar assets under management, supported by our Athena
platform, compelling customer services, strategic partnerships and seasoned leadership team with a proven track record of success.

Government Regulation and Compliance

There are varying policy frameworks across the U.S. and abroad designed to support and accelerate customer adoption of clean and reliable
distributed generation technologies. These policy initiatives come in the form of tax incentives, cash grants, performance incentives and electric tariffs.

Our AI-powered platform manages energy assets operating worldwide, with various policy frameworks across each energy market. Several U.S.
states have utility procurement programs, energy system decarbonization goals and/or renewable portfolio standards for which our technology is eligible,
including California, Connecticut, Hawaii, Illinois, Massachusetts, Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey, New York and Texas. Additionally, these energy assets
often qualify for tax or financial incentives and, following passage of the United States Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “IRA”), provisions such as the
storage investment tax credit (ITC) and solar production tax credit (PTC), among others, provide additional federal incentives.

Federal, state and local government statutes and regulations concerning electricity heavily influence the demand for our products and services even
though we are not regulated as a utility. These statutes and regulations often relate to electricity pricing, net metering, incentives, taxation, competition with
utilities and the interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. In the U.S., governments, often acting through state utility or public service
commissions, change and adopt different rates for commercial customers on a regular basis. These changes can have a positive or negative effect on our
ability to deliver cost savings to customers for the purchase of electricity.

Several states have mandates or policies designed to encourage energy storage adoption. For example, California offers a cash rebate for storage
installations through the Self Generation Incentive Program and Massachusetts and New York offer performance-based financial incentives for storage.
Storage installations also are supported in some states by state public utility
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commission policies that require utilities to consider alternatives such as storage before they can build new generation. In February 2018, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) issued Order 841, directing regional transmission operators and independent system operators to remove barriers
to the participation of storage in wholesale electricity markets and to establish rules to help ensure storage resources are compensated for the services they
provide. In September 2020, the FERC issued Order 2222, opening up U.S. wholesale energy markets to aggregations of distributed energy resources like
rooftop solar, BTM batteries, and electric vehicles. FERC Order 2222 is currently in the implementation stage.

Energy storage systems require interconnection agreements from the applicable local electricity utilities in order to connect to the grid and operate. In
almost all cases, interconnection agreements are standard form agreements that have been pre-approved by the local public utility commission or another
regulatory body with jurisdiction over interconnection agreements. As such, no additional regulatory approvals are typically required once interconnection
agreements are signed. For wholesale transmission, energy storage systems require interconnection agreements with transmission providers. The pace of
wholesale interconnection is often a source of delay for project implementation, although FERC is requiring process improvements through Order 2023,
which is an ongoing proceeding that is likely to continue at least through 2024.

Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing the occupational health and safety of our
employees and wage regulations. For example, we are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”), as
amended, and comparable state laws that protect and regulate employee health and safety.

There are government regulations pertaining to battery safety, transportation of batteries and disposal of hazardous materials. We and our suppliers,
as applicable, are required to comply with these regulations in order to sell our batteries into the market. The license and sale of our batteries and
technology abroad is likely to be subject to export controls in the future.
Each installation must be designed, constructed, and operated in compliance with applicable federal, state, and local regulations, codes, standards,
guidelines, policies, and laws. To install and operate energy storage systems on our platform, we, our customers or our partners are required to obtain
applicable permits and approvals from various authorities with jurisdiction over energy storage systems and interconnection.

Human Capital Resources

Our mission is to maximize the economic, environmental, and resiliency value of energy assets through our leading AI platform , and we are also
committed to creating a world-class employee experience. We aim to foster and maintain a workplace that values the unique talents and contributions of
every employee. We believe it is the diversity of our people, with varied skills and backgrounds, that shape our success and innovation. Our people-focused
culture is driven by collaboration and global cross-functional connections. We recognize that our success is dependent on our talent and the satisfaction of
our global workforce, and we are greatly invested in the ability of our people to succeed and thrive. The following is a description of our employees, and
outline how we manage our human capital resources and how we invest in our employees’ success.

Employees

As of December 31, 2023, we had 624 employees, of whom 425 were based in the United States and 199 in international locations. As of December 31,
2023, approximately 26% of the global team was female and 74% was male.

We believe that our future success depends in part on our continued ability to hire, motivate and retain qualified employees in any operating
environment.

Recruiting

We believe in investing for the future, including the future of our workforce by recruiting exceptional individuals who share our company values. Our
recruiting team and hiring managers begin with the creation of detailed job descriptions, which clearly outline the skills and experience necessary for
success in each role. We believe these steps are essential to effectively interview for identifiable skill sets and not just “personality fits.” We strive to build
our workforce from within whenever possible; however, if the best candidate for an available position is not identified from within our existing talent pool, we
look externally. Our recruitment strategy is to initially search for candidates directly through our professional networks, university and mentorship programs,
and through advertising with certain partners. We also occasionally use recruitment consultants and search firms.
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Professional Development

We are committed to helping people realize their highest potential and fostering a culture that supports personal development for individuals, leaders
and teams across the organization. Our employees enjoy ample opportunity to learn new skills to develop and advance their career, and we provide
opportunities for all our employees to receive ongoing formal training to help foster their professional development. We encourage our managers and
employees to participate in continuing education programs through approved institutions and online learning such as Udemy, Stem University, and the
Middle Manager Learning series to supplement essential and leadership skills. We also recently launched a redesigned New Hire Orientation experience,
which improves the onboarding experience and seeks to connect new employees to the vision, mission, values, and culture of our organization.

Employee Feedback

We value the feedback we receive from our employees. We recently launched “Your Voice,” a quarterly employee sentiment portal, which is designed to
facilitate communication with our employees and enhance our understanding of employee feedback. In addition, our annual employee engagement survey
asks all our employees for their input on a variety of matters. The results of the employee survey are disseminated to all employees, and the results are
used to design action plans to assist managers with actively responding to employees’ sentiments. The employee survey is an important tool that allows us
to improve, innovate and evolve through ongoing engagement and measurement.

Diversity and Inclusion

We are committed to building an inclusive culture and team environment that promotes equal employment opportunities and supports current and future
diversity in our industry and our talent. In the spirit of our core values, we are “One Team” and succeed through collaboration when we respect,
acknowledge and celebrate each other’s differences. We are committed to creating an inclusive environment that promotes equality, cultural awareness and
respect by implementing policies, benefits, training, recruiting and recognition practices to support our colleagues. We believe that diversity and inclusion is
about valuing our differences and identifying ways to improve our cultural intelligence which ultimately leads to better decision-making and a more tailored
client experience. To help us achieve and maintain a diverse workforce, we continue to build a strong and inclusive culture, including through employee
affinity networks. We are committed to building the best workplace in our communities and the broader industry.

We also provide a monthly global culture coalition cadence to address our mission of “bringing a community of employees together to improve the work
experience through innovative, creative, and fun culture initiatives.” Each month we discuss a different diversity, equity and inclusion subject, and we also
invite relevant guest speakers to educate our workforce and provide pamphlets for employees and their families, provide books honoring Black History
Month, display in our offices artwork from women artists, and provide goods from indigenous owned businesses as giveaways in our monthly contests. In
addition, we recently implemented a three-part diversity leadership training series on equity, equality, and inclusion.

Employee Compensation, Benefits & Well-being

We strive to enrich and elevate the lives of our employees through a robust compensation and benefits package that is flexible to meet both individual
and family needs.

Our compensation and benefits programs are designed to attract and retain talent as well as motivate employees globally. In addition to competitive
base salaries and bonus plans, we also offer attractive benefits programs both in the U.S. and globally. In the U.S., eligible employees may participate in
medical, dental and vision plans as well as financial wellness benefits including health and dependent care flexible spending accounts, 401(k) plan with
employer match, paid maternity and parental leave, health saving accounts, basic life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, short-
term and long-term disability insurance, and commuter benefits.

Globally, we comply with location-specific mandatory government employee health and leave programs while also providing an employee assistance
program, mental health, and physical wellness programs. We embrace regional and local cultural differences, and honor these by offering country-specific
paid time off and paid holiday calendars that reflect the unique observations of each country. We support the continuing development of our staff around the
world by offering several educational programs.

We design our employee compensation and benefits programs to be competitive relative to our market. We adjust our employee compensation and
benefits programs as needed based upon regular monitoring of applicable laws and practices and the competitive market. In structuring these benefit
programs, we strive to provide an aggregate level of compensation and benefits that are comparable to the demands of the market.
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Our compensation policies and procedures are designed to promote compliance with applicable government and regulatory guidelines as well as
generally accepted compensation practices. Our goal is to have programs that are based on clear and consistent policies, recognizing the need to have
flexibility to meet different organizational or market conditions.

Available Information

Our website is www.stem.com. We use our Investor Relations website, at https://investors.stem.com, as a routine channel for distribution of important
information, including news releases, analyst presentations, and financial information. We make available free of charge, though our Investor Relations
website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on
behalf of directors and executive officers, and amendments to each of those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after such documents are filed with
or furnished to the SEC. Alternatively, you may access these reports at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Copies are also available, without charge, from
Stem Investor Relations, 100 California Street, 14th Floor, San Francisco, California, 94111. Unless expressly noted, the information on our website or any
other website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this Report or any other filing that
we make with the SEC.

Information About Our Executive Officers

The following table sets forth, as of January 31, 2024, the names and ages of our executive officers, including all offices and positions held by each for the
past five years.

Name Age Current Position and Five-Year Business Experience

John Carrington 57 Chief Executive Officer and Director, since December 2013.

Bill Bush 58 Chief Financial Officer, since November 2016.

Saul R. Laureles 58 Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary, since May 2021; Director, Corporate Legal Affairs an d Assistant
Corporate Secretary at Schlumberger Limited (a global energy technology company), from May 2007 to May 2021.

Mike Carlson 60 Chief Operating Officer, since September 2022; Vice President of Koch Engineered Solutions (an equipment
technology and services company) from August 2020 to September 2022; President of Digital Grid North America at
Siemens Industries, Inc. (a technology company) from July 2014 to March 2019.

Kim Homenock 49 Chief People Officer, since March 2022 and was promoted to executive officer in July 2022; Director, Devices
Software & Services HR for Amazon (a technology company) from May 2021 to March 2022; Director, NA
Transportation HR from January 2018 to May 2021.

Alan Russo 54 Chief Revenue Officer, since February 2019; Senior Vice President of Global Sales and Marketing, April 2018 to
February 2019; Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing at REC Solar Holdings AS (subsidiary of Duke Energy),
from October 2015 to April 2018.

Larsh Johnson 66 Chief Technology Officer, since January 2016.

Prakesh Patel 49 Chief Strategy Officer since January 2020; Vice President of Capital Markets and Strategy from 2013 to January
2020.

Robert Schaefer 62 President of Transformational Initiatives since January 2023; President, AlsoEnergy from February 2022 to January
2023; CEO of AlsoEnergy from August 2017 to January 2022.

Matthew Tappin 37 President of Asset Management Division since March 2023; Vice President, Corporate Development, from May 2021
to March 2023; Corporate Development, New Energies at Shell (an energy company), from August 2019 to May
2021; Vice President and Director, Corporate Business Development at Centrica (an energy services company), from
June 2017 through August 2019.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

The following discussion of risk factors known to us contains important information for the understanding of our “forward-looking statements,” which are
discussed immediately preceding Part I, Item 1, “Business” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere. These risk factors should also be read in
conjunction with Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We urge you to consider carefully the risks described below, which discuss the material factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or
risky, as well as in other reports and materials that we file with the SEC and the other information included or incorporated by reference in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The occurrence of any of the following risks and
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uncertainties, or additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could, in circumstances we may or may
not be able to accurately predict, materially adversely affect our business, operations, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
liquidity, growth, prospects and stock price.

Risk Factors Summary

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

• Our limited operating history at current scale and our nascent industry make evaluating our business and prospects difficult.

• Our distributed generation offerings may not receive widespread market acceptance.

• Sufficient demand for our hardware and software-enabled services may not develop or take longer to develop than we anticipate.

• Battery storage costs may not continue to decline.

• Estimates and assumptions used to determine the size of our total addressable market may be inaccurate.

• We currently face and will continue to face significant competition.

• If we do not successfully execute on our new product and new market opportunities, our operating results could be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our Operations

• We face risks resulting from supplier concentration and limited supplier capacity.

• We depend on significant customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. If we fail to retain or expand our customer relationships or significant
customers reduce their purchases, our revenue could decline significantly.

• Our business is subject to risks associated with construction, utility interconnection and delays.

• Supply chain disruption and competition could result in insufficient inventory and negatively affect our business.

• Our estimates of variable consideration related to revenue recognition in connection with guarantees that we have issued under certain customer
contracts are difficult to estimate, and if our subsequent estimates differ significantly from initial estimates, we will be required to record an
adjustment in a subsequent period.

• Long-term supply agreements could result in insufficient inventory.

• Our hardware and software-enabled services involve a lengthy sales and installation cycle. If we fail to close sales on a regular and timely basis, it
could adversely affect our business.

• We may fail to attract and retain qualified management and technical personnel, which may adversely affect our ability to compete and grow our
business.

• We may not be able to develop, produce, market or sell our hardware and software-enabled services successfully.

• We have incurred significant losses in the past and may continue to incur net losses through at least 2024.

• We may be unable to reduce our cost structure.

• Any future acquisitions we undertake may disrupt our business, adversely affect operations, dilute our stockholders, and expose us to significant
costs and liabilities.

• Our current and planned foreign operations will subject us to additional business, financial, regulatory, and competitive risks.

• If any energy storage systems procured from OEM suppliers and provided to our customers contain manufacturing defects, our business and
financial results could be adversely affected.

• Estimates of useful life for our energy storage systems and related hardware and software-enabled services may be inaccurate, and our OEM
suppliers may not meet service and performance warranties and guarantees.

• Future product recalls could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

• Any disruption of, or interference with, our use of Amazon Web Services could adversely affect our business.

• Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers.
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• Our business currently depends on the availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives.

• The economic benefit of our energy storage systems to our customers depends on the cost of electricity available from alternative sources.

• We face risks related to our DevCo business model.
• If customers do not continue to use our subscription offerings or if we fail to expand the availability of hardware and software-enabled services, our

operating results will be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Third-Party Partners

• We are exposed to interconnection and transmission facility development and curtailment risks.

• We may not successfully maintain relationships with third parties such as contractors and developers.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology

• Our future growth depends on our ability to continue to develop and maintain our proprietary technology.

• We may experience information technology or data security failures.

• Our technology could have undetected defects, errors or bugs in hardware or software.

• We may not adequately secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and trademarks.

• We may need to defend ourselves against claims that we have infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated the intellectual property rights of
others.

Regulatory Risks

• The installation and operation of our energy storage systems are subject to environmental laws and regulations.

• Existing regulations and changes to such regulations may reduce demand for our energy storage systems.

• Our business could be adversely affected by trade tariffs or other trade barriers.

• Negative attitudes toward renewable energy from lawmakers and others may adversely affect our business, including by delaying permits for our
customers’ projects.

• Opposition to our customers’ project requests for permits could adversely affect our operating plans.

Additional Risks Related to Our Securities

• If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate
consolidated financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

• We may issue a significant number of shares in the future in connection with investments or acquisitions.

• Analysts may not publish sufficient or any research about our business or may publish inaccurate or unfavorable research.

• The trading price of our common stock is volatile.

• Certain provisions of our organizational documents may have an anti-takeover effect.

• Our exclusive forum provision may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes.

• The capped call transactions entered into in connection with the pricing of our 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes may adversely affect the market
price of our stock.

General Risk Factors

• We will continue to incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company.

• Current and future litigation, investigations or regulatory or administrative proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
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Our limited operating history at current scale and our nascent industry make evaluating our business and prospects difficult.

From our inception in 2009 through 2012, we were focused principally on research and development activities relating to our energy storage systems
technology. We did not sell any of our battery hardware and software-enabled services and did not recognize any material revenue until fairly recently. As a
result, we have a limited history operating our business at its current scale, and therefore a limited history upon which you can base an investment decision.

There is rising demand for clean electric power solutions that can provide electric power with lower carbon emissions with high availability. One such
solution is distributed, renewable energy generation, which is supplementing and replacing conventional generation sources, given its increasingly
compelling economics. Among other renewable energy market trends, we expect our business results to be driven by declines in the cost of generation of
renewable power both on an absolute basis and relative to other energy sources (as evidenced by current solar and wind generation deployments),
decreases in the cost of manufacturing battery packs and a rapidly growing energy storage market driven by increasing demand from commercial and
industrial customers, utilities and grid operators. However, predicting our future revenue and appropriately budgeting for our expenses is difficult, and we
have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business.

The distributed generation industry is emerging and our distributed generation offerings may not receive widespread market acceptance.

The implementation and use of distributed generation at scale is still relatively nascent, and we cannot be sure that potential customers will accept such
solutions broadly, or our hardware and software-enabled services more specifically. Enterprises may be unwilling to adopt our offerings over traditional or
competing power sources for any number of reasons, including the perception that our technology is unproven, lack of confidence in our business model,
unavailability of back-up service providers to operate and maintain the energy storage systems, and lack of awareness of our related hardware and
software-enabled services. Because this is an emerging industry, broad acceptance of our hardware and software-enabled services is subject to a high level
of uncertainty and risk. If the market develops more slowly than we anticipate, our business may be adversely affected.

Pandemics and other public health emergencies, including the emergence of new COVID-19 variants resulting in another pandemic, could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The COVID-19 pandemic caused the extended shutdown of certain businesses in the U.S., Europe and Asia, which resulted in various disruptions to our
supply chain, increases in the costs of equipment and materials, and negative impacts on our sales and operating results. The emergence of a new
pandemic or other public health emergency (including a resurgence of COVID-19 or any variant thereof) and governmental responses to limit the spread of
such pandemic or health emergency, could in the future result in similar material adverse impacts to the demand for our products and services, financial
condition, and results of operations.

If renewable energy technologies are not suitable for widespread adoption, or if sufficient demand for our hardware and software-enabled
services does not develop or takes longer to develop than we anticipate, our sales may decline and we may be unable to achieve or sustain
profitability.

The market for renewable, distributed energy generation is emerging and rapidly evolving, and its future success is uncertain. If renewable energy
generation proves unsuitable for widespread commercial deployment or if demand for our renewable energy hardware and software-enabled services fails
to develop sufficiently, our revenue, market share and profitability would be adversely impacted.

Many factors may influence the widespread adoption of renewable energy generation and demand for our hardware and software-enabled services,
including, but not limited to the cost-effectiveness of renewable energy technologies as compared with conventional and competitive technologies, the
performance and reliability of renewable energy products as compared with conventional and non-renewable products, fluctuations in economic and market
conditions that impact the viability of conventional and competitive alternative energy sources, increases or decreases in the prices of oil, coal and natural
gas, continued deregulation of the electric power industry and broader energy industry, and the availability or effectiveness of government subsidies and
incentives. You should consider our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainties emerging companies encounter when introducing new products and
services into a nascent industry.
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The failure of renewable energy hardware costs to continue to decline would have a negative effect on our business and financial condition.

The growth and profitability of our business depends on the continued decline in the cost of battery storage, solar photovoltaic (“PV”) system
components and related hardware. Over the last decade, the cost of renewable energy hardware has generally declined; however, increased demand and
global supply chain constraints could cause price increases. If, for whatever reason, there is a sustained increase in the price of battery storage systems,
solar PV system components or related hardware, our business and financial condition will be negatively affected.

If the estimates and assumptions we use to determine the size of our total addressable market are inaccurate, our future growth rate may be
negatively affected and the potential growth of our business may be limited.

Market estimates and growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may prove to be
inaccurate. Even if the markets in which we compete meet our size estimates and forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all.
The assumptions relating to our market opportunities include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) Wood Mackenzie research forecasts that the U.S.
energy storage market, excluding the residential market, is expected to reach a total value of approximately 46.5 GWh in 2025; (ii) general declines in
lithium-ion battery costs and in the cost of renewable generation; (iii) growing demand for renewable energy; and (iv) increased complexity of the electrical
grid. Our market opportunities are also based on the assumption that our existing and future offerings will be more attractive to our customers and potential
customers than competing products and services. If these assumptions prove inaccurate, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be adversely affected.

We currently face and will continue to face significant competition.

We compete for customers, financing partners and incentive dollars with other providers of energy storage systems and asset performance monitoring
and control solutions. Many providers of electricity, such as traditional utilities and other companies offering distributed generation products, have longer
operating histories, customer incumbency advantages, access to and influence with local and state governments, and more capital resources than we do.
Significant developments in alternative energy storage and management technologies or improvements in the efficiency or cost of traditional energy
sources, including coal, oil, natural gas used in combustion or nuclear power, may materially and adversely affect our business and prospects in ways we
cannot anticipate. We may also face new competitors who are not currently in the market, including as a result of the IRA and its anticipated impacts and
benefits to our industry. If we fail to adapt to changing market conditions and to compete successfully with new competitors, we will limit our growth and
adversely affect our business results.

Our future growth will depend on expanding and diversifying our new product and new market opportunities, and if we do not successfully
execute on our new product and new market plans, or if our new product and new market opportunities are more limited than we expect, our
operating results and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.

We are attempting to enhance our future growth opportunities by expanding our existing products and services, including our modular energy storage
systems and higher-margin software and services, and investing in the research and development of new offerings. Additionally, we are seeking to expand
the markets in which we sell our products and services. If we do not appropriately allocate our resources in line with the market and developing
opportunities, our results of operations and future growth prospects could be adversely affected.

Our investments also may not result in the growth we expect, or the timing of when we expect it, for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to,
changes in growth trends, evolving and changing markets and increasing competition, market opportunities, and technology and product innovation. We
may introduce new technologies or products that do not work, are not delivered on a timely basis, are not developed according to product and/or cost
specifications, or are not well received by customers. Moreover, there may be fewer opportunities than we expect due to a decline in business or economic
conditions or a decreased demand in these markets or for our new products from our expectations, our inability to successfully execute our sales and
marketing plans, or for other reasons. In addition to our current growth opportunities, our future growth may be reliant on our ability to identify and develop
potential new growth opportunities. This process is inherently risky and may result in investments in time and resources for which we do not achieve any
return or value. These risks are enhanced by attempting to introduce multiple breakthrough technologies and products simultaneously.

Our growth opportunities and those opportunities we may pursue are subject to rapidly changing and evolving technologies and industry standards, and
may be replaced by new technology concepts or platforms. If we do not develop innovative and reliable product offerings and enhancements in a cost-
effective and timely manner that are attractive to customers in these markets; if we are otherwise unsuccessful in competing in these new product
categories; if the new product categories in which we invest our limited resources do not emerge as expected or do not produce the growth or profitability
we expect, or when we
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expect it, or if we do not correctly anticipate changes and evolutions in technology and platforms, our business and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

Risks Relating to Our Operations

We are subject to supply chain risk and our suppliers may fail to deliver components according to schedules, prices, quality and volumes that
are acceptable to us, which could negatively affect our results of operations.

We purchase our components and materials from international and domestic vendors, and are exposed to supply chain risks arising from logistics
disruptions. Unexpected changes in business conditions, the macroeconomic environment, geopolitical instability, materials pricing, including inflation of raw
material costs, labor issues, wars, natural disasters, health epidemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, trade and shipping disruptions, port congestions
and other factors beyond our or our suppliers’ control could also affect these suppliers’ ability to deliver components to us or to remain solvent and
operational. In addition, international supply is also exposed to risks related to tariffs and sanctions, as well as political, social, and economic instability in
regions where we source products and material. For example, in recent years, China and the U.S. have each imposed tariffs, and there remains a potential
for further trade barriers and the possibility of an escalated trade war between China and the U.S. These or other tariffs could adversely affect our hardware
component prices and negatively affect any plans to sell products in China and other impacted international markets. Disruptions in the availability of key
equipment, components or materials such as lithium may adversely affect our business, prospects and operations, and volatility in prices and availability of
such items may negatively affect our customer relationships and ability to plan for future growth.

We also face risks resulting from supplier concentration and limited supplier capacity.

We rely on a very small number of suppliers of energy storage systems and other equipment. If any of our suppliers were unable or unwilling to provide
us with contracted quantities in a timely manner at prices, quality levels and volumes acceptable to us, we would have very limited alternatives for supply,
and we may not be able to contract for and receive suitable alternative supply in a timely manner for our customers, or at all. Such an event may impair our
ability to meet scheduled deliveries of our products to customers, which may cause our customers to cancel orders and subject us to liability, including
liquidated damages to our customers, and may materially adversely affect our customer relationships, business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations. We may also be unsuccessful in our continued efforts to negotiate with existing suppliers to obtain cost reductions and avoid unfavorable
changes to terms. Global demand has increased for lithium-ion battery cells, which has caused challenges for our suppliers, including delays or price
volatility. Any such delays or reduced availability of energy storage systems or other component materials may impact our sales and operating results.
Further, these risks may increase as the market demand for our offerings grows. Additionally, some of our suppliers supply systems and components to
other businesses, including businesses engaged in the production of consumer electronics and other industries unrelated to energy storage systems. There
are also larger purchasers of certain parts and materials that we supply to our customers. As a result, we may be unable to procure a sufficient supply of the
items we require in the event that our suppliers fail to produce sufficient quantities to satisfy the demands of all of their customers. Any of these occurrences
could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We have entered into long-term supply agreements that could result in insufficient inventory and negatively affect our results of operations.

We have entered into long-term supply agreements with certain suppliers of battery storage systems and other components of our energy storage
systems. Some of these supply agreements provide for fixed or inflation-adjusted pricing and substantial prepayment obligations. Additionally, if our
suppliers provide insufficient inventory at the level of quality required to meet customer demand, or if our suppliers are unable or unwilling to provide us with
the contracted quantities, we will have limited alternatives for supply and our results of operations could be materially and negatively impacted. Further, we
face significant specific counterparty risk under long-term supply agreements when dealing with certain suppliers without a long, stable production and
financial history.

Given the uniqueness of our product, some of our suppliers do not have a long operating history and may not have sufficient capital resources. In the
event any such supplier experiences financial difficulties, it may be difficult or may require substantial time and expense to replace such a supplier. We do
not know whether we will be able to maintain long-term supply relationships with our critical suppliers, or secure new long-term supply agreements.
Additionally, we procure many of the battery storage systems and components of our energy storage systems from non-U.S. suppliers, which exposes us to
risks, including but not limited to unforeseen increases in costs or interruptions in supply arising from macroeconomic or geopolitical factors and from
changes in applicable international trade regulations, such as taxes, tariffs, or quotas. Any of the foregoing could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Our hardware and software-enabled services involve a lengthy sales and installation cycle. If we fail to close sales on a regular and timely basis,
it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Amounts included in our contracted backlog may not result
in actual revenue or translate into profits.

Our sales cycle is typically six to 12 months for our hardware and software-enabled services, but can vary considerably. In order to make a sale, we
must typically provide a significant level of education to prospective customers regarding the use and benefits of our hardware and software-enabled
services.

The period between initial discussions with a potential customer and the sale of even a single energy storage system typically depends on a number of
factors, including the potential customer’s budget and decision as to the type of financing it chooses to use, as well as the arrangement of such financing.
Prospective customers often undertake a significant evaluation process, which may further extend the sales cycle, and which evaluation may be negatively
impacted by general market and economic conditions such as inflation, rising interest rates, availability of capital, a recessionary environment, geopolitical
instability, energy availability and costs, and the availability and effects of government initiatives.

We view potential contracts with developers and independent power producers for energy optimization services and transfer of energy storage systems
that are currently being pursued by our direct sales force and channel partners as part of our pipeline.

Currently, the time between the entry into a sales contract with a customer and the installation of our energy storage systems can range from nine to 18
months, or more. This lengthy sales and installation cycle is subject to a number of significant risks over which we have little or no control. We characterize
contracts that have been signed but not yet installed as a booking that becomes part of our backlog. Because of both the long sales and installation cycles,
we may expend significant resources without generating a sale or producing revenue from our bookings and backlog.

These lengthy sales and installation cycles increase the risk that our customers may fail to satisfy their payment obligations, cancel orders before the
completion of the transaction or delay the planned date for installation. Cancellation rates may be affected by factors outside of our control including, but not
limited to, an inability to install an energy storage system at the customer’s chosen location because of permitting or other regulatory issues, unanticipated
changes in the cost or availability of alternative sources of electricity available to the customer or other reasons unique to each customer. Our operating
expenses are based on anticipated sales levels, and many of our expenses are fixed. If we are unsuccessful in closing sales after expending significant
resources or if we experience delays or cancellations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Additionally, we have ongoing arrangements with our customers and target customers. Some of these arrangements are evidenced by contracts or
long-term contract partnership arrangements. If these arrangements are terminated or if we are unable to continue to fulfill the obligations under such
contracts or arrangements, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract and retain key employees and hire qualified management, technical, engineering and sales personnel, our ability to
compete and successfully grow our business could be adversely affected.

We believe that our success and our ability to reach our strategic objectives are highly dependent on the contributions of our key management,
technical, engineering, finance and sales personnel. The loss of the services of any of our senior executives and other key employees could disrupt our
operations, delay the development and introduction of our hardware and software-enabled services, and negatively affect our business, financial condition
and operating results. In addition, our ability to manage our growth effectively, including our ability to expand our market presence in international markets, is
impacted by our ability to successfully expand our management team, hire and train new personnel and implement and enhance human resources
administrative systems. Our success in hiring, attracting and retaining senior management and other experienced and highly skilled employees will depend
in part on our ability to provide competitive compensation packages and a high-quality work environment and maintain a desirable corporate culture. To help
attract, retain, and motivate qualified employees, we use stock-based awards, such as restricted stock units, and performance-based cash incentive
awards. Sustained declines in our stock price, or lower stock price performance relative to our competitors, can reduce the retention value of our stock-
based awards. We may not be able to attract, integrate, train, motivate or retain current or additional highly qualified personnel, and our failure to do so could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Furthermore, there is continued and increasing competition for talented individuals in our field, and competition for qualified personnel is especially
intense in the San Francisco Bay Area, where our principal offices are located. In addition to longstanding competition for highly skilled and technical
personnel, we face increased competitive pressures and employee cost inflation in tighter labor markets, such as was experienced during the COVID-19
pandemic. Industry competition and cross-
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industry labor market pressures may negatively impact our ability to attract and retain our executive officers and other key technology, sales, marketing and
support personnel and drive increases in our employee costs, both of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We have incurred significant losses in the past and may incur net losses through at least 2024.

Since our inception in 2009, we have incurred significant net losses and have used significant cash in our business. As of December 31, 2023, we had
an accumulated deficit of approximately $772.5 million. We expect to continue to expand our operations, including by investing in sales and marketing,
research and development, staffing systems and infrastructure to support our growth. Under our current plans, we expect to incur net losses on a GAAP
basis through at least 2024. Our ability to achieve profitability in the future will depend on a number of factors, including:

• increasing sales to existing customers and attracting new customers for our hardware and software-enabled services;

• improving our gross margins;

• growing our sales volume;

• managing operating expenses;

• improving our ability to procure energy storage systems from OEMs on cost-effective terms;

• improving the effectiveness of our sales and marketing activities;

• attracting and retaining key talent in a competitive marketplace;

• operating our systems profitably for the benefit of our customers; and

• the availability of incentives, including those associated with the IRA.

Even if we do achieve profitability when expected, we may be unable to sustain or increase our profitability in the future.

If we are not able to continue to reduce our cost structure in the future, our ability to become profitable may be impaired.

We must continue to reduce the costs of operation of our energy storage systems, and production and operation of our asset performance monitoring
and control solutions, to expand our market. Additionally, certain of our existing service contracts were entered into based on projections regarding service
cost reductions that assume continued advances in lowering the cost of delivery of our services, which we may be unable to realize. While we have been
successful in reducing some of our costs to date, some of our costs have increased, and we could experience additional cost increases in the future. Any
such increases could slow our growth and cause our financial results and operational metrics to suffer. In addition, we may face increases in our other
expenses, including increases in wages or other labor costs, as well as marketing, sales or related costs. We expect to continue to make significant
investments to drive growth in the future. In order to expand into new markets while still maintaining our current margins, we will need to continue to reduce
our costs. Increases in any of these costs, or our failure to achieve projected cost reductions, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. If we are unable to reduce our cost structure in the future, we may not be able to achieve profitability or we may fail to do so on a
satisfactory timeline, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

Any future acquisitions we undertake may disrupt our business, adversely affect operations, dilute our stockholders, and expose us to
significant costs and liabilities.

Acquisitions are an important element of our business strategy, and we may pursue future acquisitions to increase revenue, expand our market position,
add to our service offerings and technological capabilities, respond to dynamic market conditions, or for other strategic or financial purposes. However, we
cannot assure you that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates or complete any acquisitions on favorable terms, or at all. In addition, any
acquisitions we do complete, including our acquisition of AlsoEnergy, would involve a number of risks, which may include the following:

• the identification, acquisition and integration of acquired businesses require substantial attention from management. The diversion of management’s
attention and any difficulties encountered in the integration process could hurt our business;

• the identification, acquisition and integration of acquired businesses requires significant investment, including to determine which new service
offerings we might wish to acquire, harmonize service offerings, expand management capabilities and market presence, and improve or increase
development efforts and technology features and functions;

• the anticipated benefits from any acquisition may not be achieved on a timely basis or at all, including as a result of loss of clients or personnel of
the target, other difficulties in supporting and transitioning the target's clients,
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difficulties in managing expanded operations and operations in foreign jurisdictions in which we have never operated, the inability to realize
expected synergies from an acquisition, or negative organizational cultural effects arising from the integration of new personnel;

• we may face difficulties in integrating the personnel, technologies, solutions, operations, and existing contracts of the acquired business;

• we may fail to identify all of the problems, liabilities, risks or other shortcomings or challenges of an acquired company, technology or solution,
including issues related to intellectual property, solution quality or architecture, income tax and other regulatory compliance practices, revenue
recognition or other accounting or internal control practices, or employee or client issues;

• to pay for future acquisitions, we could issue additional shares of our common stock or pay cash. Issuance of shares would dilute stockholders.
See “- We may issue a significant number of shares in the future in connection with investments or acquisitions” below. Use of cash reserves could
diminish our ability to respond to other opportunities or challenges. Borrowing to fund any cash purchase price would result in increased fixed
obligations and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impair our ability to manage our operations;

• acquisitions expose us to the risk of assumed known and unknown liabilities including contract, tax, regulatory or other legal, and other obligations
incurred by the acquired business or fines or penalties, for which indemnity obligations, escrow arrangements or insurance may not be available or
may not be sufficient to provide coverage;

• new business acquisitions can generate significant intangible assets that result in substantial related amortization charges and the potential for
goodwill impairments in the future;

• the operations of acquired businesses, or our adaptation of those operations, may require that we apply revenue recognition or other accounting
methodologies, assumptions, and estimates that are different from those we use in our current business, which could complicate our financial
statements, expose us to additional accounting and audit costs, and increase the risk of accounting errors;

• acquired businesses may have insufficient internal controls that we must remediate, and the integration of acquired businesses may require us to
modify or enhance our own internal controls, in each case resulting in increased administrative expense and risk that we experience control
deficiencies or fail to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and

• acquisitions can sometimes lead to disputes with the former owners of the acquired company, which can result in increased legal expenses,
management distraction and the risk that we may suffer an adverse judgment if we are not the prevailing party in the dispute.

Our current and planned foreign operations expose us to additional business, financial, regulatory and geopolitical risks, and any adverse event
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

As a result of our acquisition of AlsoEnergy, we now operate in more than 50 countries, including the United States and Canada, and in multiple
European Union (“EU”) and Latin American countries and Asia. Prior to our acquisition of AlsoEnergy, we operated in only three countries. We may in the
future evaluate further opportunities to expand into new geographic markets and introduce new product offerings and services that are an extension of our
existing business. We also may from time to time acquire businesses or product lines with the potential to strengthen our market position, enable us to enter
attractive markets, expand our technological capabilities, or provide synergy opportunities.

We have very limited experience operating outside of the U.S. Managing our international expansion will require additional resources and controls,
including additional manufacturing and assembly facilities. Furthermore, any additional markets that we may enter could have different characteristics from
the markets in which we currently operate, and our success will depend on our ability to adapt properly to these differences. Any further international
expansion could subject our business to risks associated with international operations, including:

• compliance with multiple, potentially conflicting and changing governmental laws, regulations and permitting processes, including trade, labor,
environmental, banking, employment, privacy and data protection laws and regulations, such as the EU Data Privacy Directive, as well as tariffs,
export quotas, customs duties and other trade restrictions;

• compliance with U.S. and foreign anti-bribery laws, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended;

• difficulties in collecting payments in foreign currencies and associated foreign currency exposure;
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• compliance with potentially conflicting and changing laws of taxing jurisdictions where we conduct business and applicable U.S. tax laws as they
relate to international operations, the complexity and adverse consequences of such tax laws and potentially adverse tax consequences due to
changes in such tax laws;

• the laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the U.S. As a result, we may not be able to protect our
proprietary rights adequately outside of the U.S.;

• regional macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions;

• conformity with applicable business customs, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;

• lack of availability of government incentives and subsidies;

• potential changes to our established business model;

• cost of alternative power sources, which could vary meaningfully outside the U.S.;

• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations in an environment of diverse culture, laws and customers, and the increased travel,
infrastructure and legal and compliance costs associated with international operations;

• customer installation challenges which we have not encountered before, which may require the development of a unique model for each country;

• differing levels of demand among members of our customer base, including commercial and industrial customers, utilities, independent power
producers and project developers; and

• restrictions on repatriation of earnings.

As a result of these risks, any future international expansion efforts that we may undertake (as well as our acquisition of AlsoEnergy) may not be
successful and may negatively affect our results of operations and profitability.

In addition, there may be adverse effects to our business if there is instability, disruption or destruction in a significant geographic region, regardless of
cause, including war, terrorism, riot, civil insurrection or social unrest; and natural or man-made disasters, including famine, flood, fire, earthquake, storm or
disease. The U.S. government and other governments in jurisdictions in which we operate have imposed severe sanctions and export controls against
Russia and Russian interests, and have threatened additional sanctions and controls. The ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine has exacerbated
shortages and shipping delays affecting certain components and supplies. It is not possible to predict the broader consequences of this conflict, which could
include further sanctions, embargoes, greater regional instability, geopolitical shifts and other adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, international
trade, currency exchange rates, supply chains and financial markets.

Our platform performance may not meet our customers’ expectations or needs.

The renewable energy projects that our customers construct and own are subject to various operating risks that may cause them to generate less value
for our customers than expected. These risks include a failure or wearing out of our or our operators’, customers’ or utilities’ equipment; an inability to find
suitable replacement equipment or parts; lower than expected supply or quality of the project’s source of electricity or faster than expected diminishment of
such electricity supply; or volume disruption in our supply collection and distribution system. Any extended interruption or failure of our customer’s projects
for any reason to generate the expected amount of output could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, there
has been in the past, and may be in the future, an adverse impact on our customers’ willingness to continue to procure additional hardware and software-
enabled services from us if any of our customer’s projects incur operational issues that indicate expected future cash flows from the project are less than the
project’s carrying value. Any such outcome could adversely affect our operating results or ability to continue to grow our sales volume or to increase sales to
existing customers or new customers.

If any energy storage systems procured from OEM suppliers and provided to our customers contain manufacturing defects, our business and
financial results could be adversely affected.

The energy storage systems we pair with our Athena® platform are complex energy solutions. We rely on our OEM suppliers to control the quality of the
battery storage equipment and other components that make up the energy storage system sold to our customers. We are not involved in the manufacture of
the batteries or other components of the energy storage systems. As a result, our ability to seek recourse for liabilities and recover costs from our OEM
suppliers depends on our contractual rights as well as the financial condition and integrity of such OEM suppliers that supply us with the batteries and other
components of our energy storage systems. Such systems may contain undetected or latent errors or defects. In the past, we have discovered latent defects
in energy storage systems. In connection with such defects, we could incur significant expenses or disruptions of our operations, including to our energy
storage network, that would prevent us from performing the automated data engineering required to support our AI processes and energy storage network.
Any manufacturing defects or
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other failures of our energy storage systems to perform as expected could cause us to incur significant re-engineering costs, divert the attention of our
personnel from operating and maintenance efforts, expose us to adverse regulatory action and litigation and significantly and adversely affect customer
satisfaction, market acceptance and our business reputation. Furthermore, our OEM suppliers may be unable to correct manufacturing defects or other
failures of any energy storage systems in a manner satisfactory to our customers, which could adversely affect customer satisfaction, market acceptance
and our business reputation.

On rare occasions, lithium-ion batteries can rapidly release the energy they contain by venting smoke and flames in a manner that can ignite nearby
materials as well as other lithium-ion batteries. Any such occurrences could subject us to lawsuits, product recalls or redesign efforts, all of which would be
time consuming and expensive. Also, negative public perceptions regarding the suitability of lithium-ion batteries for energy applications or any future
incident involving lithium-ion batteries, such as a plant, vehicle or other fire, even if such incident does not involve hardware provided by us, could adversely
affect our business and reputation.

If our estimates of useful life for our energy storage systems and related hardware and software-enabled services are inaccurate, or if our OEM
suppliers do not meet service and performance warranties and guarantees, our business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We sell hardware and software-enabled services to our customers. Our software-enabled services are essential to the operation of these hardware
products. As a result, in connection with the sales of energy storage hardware, we enter into recurring long-term services agreements with customers for the
usage of our Athena platform for approximately 3 to 20 years. Our pricing of services contracts is based upon the value we expect to deliver to our
customers, including considerations such as the useful life of the energy storage system and prevailing electricity prices. We also provide performance
warranties and guarantees covering the efficiency and output performance of our software-enabled services. We do not have a long history with a large
number of field deployments, and our estimates may prove to be incorrect. Failure to meet these performance warranties and guarantee levels may require
us to refund our service contract payments to the customer, or require us to make cash payments to the customer based on actual performance, as
compared to expected performance.

Further, the occurrence of any defects, errors, disruptions in service, or other performance problems, interruptions, or delays associated with our energy
storage systems or the Athena platform, whether in connection with day-to-day operations or otherwise, could result in:

• loss of customers;

• loss or delayed market acceptance and sales of our hardware and software-enabled services;

• delays in payment to us by customers;

• injury to our reputation and brand;

• legal claims, including warranty and service level agreement claims, against us; or

• diversion of our resources, including through increased service and warranty expenses or financial concessions, and increased insurance costs.

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors in our hardware and software or other performance problems may be substantial and
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Future product recalls could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Any product recall in the future, whether it involves our or a competitor’s product, may result in negative publicity, damage our brand and materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the future, we may voluntarily or involuntarily initiate a recall if any of our
products are proven to be or possibly could be defective or noncompliant with applicable environmental laws and regulations, including health and safety
standards. Such recalls involve significant expense and diversion of management attention and other resources, which could adversely affect our brand
image, as well as our business, financial condition and operating results.

We primarily rely on Amazon Web Services to deliver our services to users on our Athena platform, and any disruption of, or interference with,
our use of Amazon Web Services could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently host our Athena platform and support our energy storage network operations on one or more data centers provided by Amazon Web
Services (“AWS”), a third-party provider of cloud infrastructure services. We do not have control
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over the operations of the facilities of AWS that we use. AWS’ facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, cybersecurity
attacks, terrorist attacks, power outages, and similar events or acts of misconduct.

Our Athena platform’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our success. We have experienced, and expect that in the future we will
experience, interruptions, delays, and outages in service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes,
human or software errors, website hosting disruptions and capacity constraints. In addition, any changes in AWS’ service levels may adversely affect our
ability to meet the requirements of users on our Athena platform. Since our Athena platform’s continuing and uninterrupted performance is critical to our
success, sustained or repeated system failures would reduce the attractiveness of our hardware and software-enabled services to customers. It may
become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance, as we expand and our energy storage network grows, increasing customer reliance
on the Athena platform. Any negative publicity arising from any disruptions to AWS’ facilities, and as a result, our Athena platform could adversely affect our
reputation and brand and may adversely affect the usage of our hardware and software-enabled services. Any of the above circumstances or events may
adversely affect our reputation and brand, reduce the availability or usage of our hardware and software- enabled services, lead to a significant short-term
loss of revenue, increase our costs, and impair our ability to attract new users, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our commercial agreement with AWS will remain in effect until terminated by AWS or us. AWS may terminate the agreement for convenience by
providing us at least thirty (30) days’ advance notice. AWS may also terminate the agreement for cause upon a material breach of the agreement, subject to
AWS providing prior written notice and a 30-day cure period, and may in some cases terminate the agreement immediately for cause upon written notice.
Even though our platform is entirely in the cloud, we believe that we could transition to one or more alternative cloud infrastructure providers on
commercially reasonable terms. If our agreement with AWS is terminated or we add additional cloud infrastructure service providers, we may experience
significant costs or downtime for a short period in connection with the transfer to, or the addition of, new cloud infrastructure service providers. However, we
do not believe that such transfer to, or the addition of, new cloud infrastructure service providers would adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations over the longer term.

Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and adversely affect our
financial results.

Our customers depend on our support organization to resolve any technical issues relating to our hardware and software-enabled services. In addition,
our sales process is highly dependent on the quality of our hardware and software-enabled services, on our business reputation and on strong
recommendations from our existing customers. Any failure to maintain high-quality and highly-responsive technical support, or a market perception that we
do not maintain high-quality and highly-responsive support, could adversely affect our reputation, our ability to sell our products to existing and prospective
customers, and our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We offer technical support services with our hardware and software-enabled services and may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate
short-term increases in demand for support services, particularly as we increase the size of our customer base. We also may be unable to modify the format
of our support services to compete with changes in support services provided by competitors. It is difficult to predict demand for technical support services
and if demand increases significantly, we may be unable to provide satisfactory support services to our customers. Additionally, increased demand for these
services, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business currently depends on the availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives. The reduction, modification, or
elimination of government economic incentives could cause our revenue to decline and adversely affect business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The U.S. federal government and some state and local governments provide incentives to end users and purchasers of our energy storage systems in
the form of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives, such as system performance payments and payments for renewable energy credits
associated with renewable energy generation. In addition, some countries outside the United States also provide incentives to current and future end users
and purchasers of our energy storage systems. We rely on these governmental rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives to significantly lower the
effective price of the hardware and software-enabled services we offer to our customers. However, these incentives may expire on a particular date, end
when the allocated funding is exhausted, or be reduced or terminated as a matter of regulatory or legislative policy.

Our energy storage systems and asset performance monitoring and control solutions have qualified for tax exemptions, incentives or other customer
incentives in many states. Some states have utility procurement programs and/or renewable portfolio standards for which our technology is eligible. Our
offerings are currently installed in various U.S. states, each of which may have its own enabling policy framework. There is no guarantee that these policies
will continue to exist in their
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current form, or at all. Such state programs may face increased opposition on the U.S. federal, state and local levels in the future. Changes in incentive
programs could reduce demand for our offerings, impair sales financing and adversely impact our business results.

The economic benefit of our offerings to our customers depends on the cost of electricity available from alternative sources, including local
electric utility companies, which cost structure is subject to change.

The economic benefit of our offerings to our customers includes, among other things, the benefit of reducing such customer’s payments to the local
electric utility company. The rates at which electricity is available from a customer’s local electric utility company is subject to change and any changes in
such rates may affect the relative benefits of our energy storage systems. Factors that could influence these rates include the effect of energy conservation
initiatives that reduce electricity consumption, construction of additional power generation plants (including nuclear, coal or natural gas), and technological
developments by others in the electric power industry. Further, the local electric utility may impose “departing load,” “standby” or other charges on our
customers in connection with their acquisition of our energy storage systems, the amounts of which are outside of our control and which may have a
material impact on the economic benefit of our energy storage systems to our customers. Changes in the rates offered by local electric utilities and/or in the
applicability or amounts of charges and other fees imposed by such utilities on customers acquiring our energy storage systems could adversely affect the
demand for our energy storage systems.

Additionally, even with available subsidies for our systems, the electricity produced by our energy storage systems is currently not cost competitive in
some geographic markets, and we may be unable to reduce our costs to a level at which our energy storage systems would be competitive in such markets.
As such, unless the cost of electricity in these markets rises or we are able to generate demand for our energy storage systems based on benefits other
than electricity cost savings, our potential for growth in those markets may be limited.

Our business is subject to risks associated with construction, utility interconnection and delays, including those related to obtaining
government permits and other contingencies that may arise in the course of completing installations.

Although we are not regulated as a utility, federal, state and local government statutes and regulations concerning electricity heavily influence the
demand for our products and services. These statutes and regulations often relate to electricity pricing, net metering, incentives, taxation and the rules
surrounding the interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation for specific technologies. In the U.S., governments frequently modify these
statutes and regulations. Governments, often acting through state utility or public service commissions, may change or adopt different requirements for
utilities and rates for commercial customers on a regular basis. Changes, or in some cases a lack of change, in any of the laws, regulations, ordinances or
other rules that apply to customer installations and new technology could make it more costly for our customers to install and operate our energy storage
systems on particular sites, and in turn could negatively affect our ability to deliver cost savings to customers for the purchase of electricity.

The installation and operation of our energy storage systems at a particular site is also generally subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with
national, state and local laws and ordinances relating to building codes, safety, environmental protection and related matters, and typically requires
obtaining and keeping in good standing various local and other governmental approvals and permits, including environmental approvals and permits, that
vary by jurisdiction. In some cases, these approvals and permits require periodic renewal. It is difficult and costly to track the requirements of every
individual authority having jurisdiction over energy storage system installations, to design our energy storage systems to comply with these varying
standards, and for our customers to obtain all applicable approvals and permits. We cannot predict whether or when all permits required for a given
customer’s project will be granted or whether the conditions associated with the permits will be achievable. The denial or delay of a permit or utility
connection essential to a project or the imposition of impractical conditions would impair our customer’s ability to develop the project. In addition, we cannot
predict whether the permitting process will be lengthened due to complexities and appeals. Delay in the review and permitting process for a project can
impair or delay our customers’ abilities to develop that project or increase the cost so substantially that the project is no longer attractive to our customers.
Furthermore, unforeseen delays in the review and permitting process could delay the timing of the installation of our energy storage systems and could
therefore adversely affect the timing of the recognition of revenue related to hardware acceptance by our customer, which could adversely affect our
operating results in a particular period.

In addition, the successful installation of our energy storage systems is dependent upon the availability of and timely connection to the local electric grid.
We may be unable to obtain the required consent and authorization of local utilities to ensure successful interconnection to energy grids to enable the
successful discharge of renewable energy to customers. Any delays in our customers’ ability to connect with utilities, delays in the performance of
installation-related services or poor performance of installation-related services will have an adverse effect on our results and could cause operating results
to vary materially from period to period.
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Our business depends on customers renewing their services subscriptions. If customers do not continue to use our subscription offerings or if
we fail to expand the availability of hardware and software-enabled services available to our customers, our business and operating results will
be adversely affected.

In addition to upfront sale of hardware and network integration, we depend on customers continuing to subscribe to services enabled by our Athena
platform. Therefore, it is important that customers renew their subscriptions when the contract term expires, increase their purchases of our hardware and
network solutions and enhance their subscriptions. Customers may decide not to renew their subscriptions with a similar contract period, at the same prices
or terms or with the same or a greater number of users or level of functionality. Customer retention may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of
factors, including satisfaction with software-enabled services and features, functionality of our energy storage hardware and software-enabled services,
prices, the features and pricing of competing products, reductions in spending levels, mergers and acquisitions involving customers and deteriorating
general economic conditions.

If customers do not renew their subscriptions, if they renew on less favorable terms, if they fail to increase their purchase of our hardware and software-
enabled services, or if they fail to refer us their customers and partners as potential new customers, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be adversely affected.

Changes in subscriptions or pricing models may not be reflected in near-term operating results.

We generally recognize subscription revenue from customers ratably over the terms of their contracts. As a result, most of the subscription revenue
reported in each quarter is derived from the recognition of deferred revenue relating to subscriptions entered into during previous quarters. Consequently, a
decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any single quarter will likely have only a small impact on revenue for that quarter. However, such a decline will
negatively affect revenue in future quarters. In addition, the severity and duration of events may not be predictable and their effects could extend beyond a
single quarter. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of subscription services, and potential changes in pricing
policies or rate of renewals, may not be fully apparent until future periods.

Severe weather events, including the effects of climate change, are inherently unpredictable and may have a material adverse effect on our
financial results and financial condition.

Our business, including our customers and suppliers, may be exposed to severe weather events and natural disasters, such as tornadoes, tsunamis,
tropical storms (including hurricanes), earthquakes, windstorms, hailstorms, severe thunderstorms, flooding, wildfires and other fires, extreme heatwaves,
drought and power shut-offs causing, among other things, disruptions to our supply chain or utility interconnections and/or damage to energy storage
systems installed at our customers’ sites. Such damage or disruptions may prevent us from being able to satisfy our contractual obligations or may reduce
demand from our customers for our energy storage systems causing our operating results to vary significantly from one period to the next. We may incur
losses in our business in excess of: (1) those experienced in prior years, (2) the average expected level used in pricing, or (3) current insurance coverage
limits.

The incidence and severity of severe weather conditions and other natural disasters are inherently unpredictable. Climate change is projected to affect
the occurrence of certain natural events, such as an increase in the frequency or severity of wind and thunderstorm events, and tornado or hailstorm events
due to increased convection in the atmosphere; more frequent wildfires and subsequent landslides in certain geographies; higher incidence of deluge
flooding; and the potential for an increase in severity of the hurricane events due to higher sea surface temperatures. Changing market dynamics, global
policy developments and the increasing frequency and impact of extreme weather events on critical infrastructure in the U.S. and elsewhere as a result of
climate change have the potential to disrupt our business, the business of our suppliers and the business of our customers, and may cause us to experience
higher attrition, losses and additional costs to maintain or resume operations. Additionally, climate change and the occurrence of severe weather events
may adversely impact the demand, price, and availability of insurance. Due to significant variability associated with future changing climate conditions, we
are unable to predict the impact climate change will have on our business.

Increased scrutiny from stakeholders and regulators regarding ESG practices and disclosures, including those related to sustainability, and
disclosure could result in additional costs and adversely impact our business and reputation.

Companies across all industries are facing increased scrutiny regarding their ESG practices and disclosures and institutional and individual investors
are increasingly using ESG screening criteria in making investment decisions. Our disclosures on these matters or a failure to satisfy evolving stakeholder
expectations for ESG practices and reporting may potentially harm our reputation and impact employee retention, customer relationships and access to
capital. For example, certain market participants use third-party benchmarks or scores to measure a company’s ESG practices in making investment
decisions and customers and supplies may evaluate our ESG practices or require that we adopt certain ESG policies as a condition of awarding contracts.
In addition, our failure or perceived failure to pursue or fulfill our goals, targets and objectives
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or to satisfy various reporting standards within the timelines we announce, or at all, could expose us to government enforcement actions and private
litigation.

Our ability to achieve any goal or objective, including with respect to environmental and diversity initiatives and compliance with ESG reporting
standards, is subject to numerous risks, many of which are outside of our control. Examples of such risks include the availability and cost of technologies
and products that meet sustainability and ethical supply chain standards, evolving regulatory requirements affecting ESG standards or disclosures, our
ability to recruit, develop and retain diverse talent in our labor markets, and our ability to develop reporting processes and controls that comply with evolving
standards for identifying, measuring and reporting ESG metrics. Methodologies for reporting ESG data may be updated and previously reported ESG data
may be adjusted to reflect improvement in availability and quality of third-party data, changes in assumptions, changes in the nature and scope of our
operations and other changes in circumstances. Our processes and controls for reporting ESG matters across our operations and supply chain are evolving
along with multiple disparate standards for identifying, measuring, and reporting ESG metrics, including ESG-related disclosures that may be required by
the SEC, European and other regulators, and such standards may change over time, which could result in significant revisions to our current goals, reported
progress in achieving such goals, or ability to achieve such goals in the future. As ESG best-practices, reporting standards and disclosure requirements
continue to develop, we may incur increasing costs related to ESG monitoring and reporting.

We Face Risks Related to our DevCo Business Model

From time to time, we have entered into strategic joint ventures with qualified third parties to develop energy storage power generation projects (“DevCo
Projects”), as more fully described under Note 1 — Business, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These projects require upfront investment by us and involve a high
degree of risk. The success of this business model depends in large part on the successful development, financing and construction of projects. However,
such projects ultimately may not be commercially viable or may not result in an adequate return of capital and, in pursuing these projects, we may incur
unanticipated liabilities. Successful completion of a project may be adversely affected, delayed or rendered infeasible by numerous factors, including:

• interconnection costs and capacity constraints;

• transmission grid congestion issues;

• delays in obtaining required governmental permits and approvals;

• regulatory changes that adversely affect energy storage participation in wholesale markets;

• changes in wholesale market energy and ancillary services prices and costs;

• construction delays and contractor or developer partner performance shortfalls;

• cost overruns, including costs related to renting or owning land necessary to develop DevCo Projects;

• labor, equipment, and material supply shortages, failures or disruptions; and

• force majeure and other events out of our control.

In addition, our joint venture partners may at any time have economic, business or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with the goals of the
DevCo Project. Disagreements with our business partners may impede our ability to recognize the benefits of our DevCo Projects. Our joint venture partners
may be unable or unwilling to meet their performance or other obligations under the operative documents, and we may be required to fulfill those obligations
or to dissolve and liquidate the DevCo Project.

If a DevCo Project experiences any of the factors listed above or otherwise fails to reach completion or is significantly delayed, we could lose all or a
portion of our development capital investment. If a DevCo Project fails then we may be unable to recover our investment. Losing or delaying return of all or a
portion of our investments in our DevCo Projects could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on significant customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. If we fail to retain or expand our customer relationships or
significant customers reduce their purchases, our revenue could decline significantly.

We depend on a small number of significant customers for our sales, and a small number of customers have historically accounted for a material
portion of our revenue. The loss of any one of our significant customers, their inability to perform under their contracts, their termination or failure to renew
their contracts with us, or their default in payment could cause our revenue and our working capital to decline materially. As of December 31, 2023, we had
$302.8 million of accounts receivable including $190.2 million of unbilled receivables. Certain of our unbilled arrangements totaling $73.5 million as of
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December 31, 2023, with our significant customers have variability as to the timing and price, which the realization may differ from what is currently
projected by the Company. For the near future, we may continue to derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of customers. For the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, one customer accounted for approximately 26% of our revenue. Loss of a significant customer or a significant
reduction in pricing or order volume from a significant customer could materially reduce our revenue and operating results in any reporting period.

In addition, we are subject to credit risk of our customers, and our operating results depend on receipt of timely payments from our customers. Any
delay in payment by our customers may have an adverse effect on revenue and operating results. There is no assurance that we will be able to collect all or
any of the amounts owed to us in a timely matter. If any of our customers face unexpected situations such as financial difficulties, we may not be able to
receive full or any payment of the uncollected sums or enforce any judgment debts against such clients, and our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Our estimates of variable consideration related to revenue recognition in connection with guarantees that we have issued under certain
customer contracts are difficult to estimate, and if our subsequent estimates differ significantly from initial estimates, we will be required to
record an adjustment in a subsequent period.

Our estimates of variable consideration related to revenue recognition in connection with guarantees that we have issued under certain customer
contracts are difficult to estimate, as they are based on estimates and assumptions that management believes to be reasonable but may materially differ
from actual results. For example, in certain customer contracts, we previously agreed to provide a guarantee that the value of hardware purchased by a
customer will not decline for a certain period of time. Under these guarantees, if such customers were unable to install or designate the hardware to a
specified project within such period of time, we would be required to assist the customer in re-marketing the hardware for resale by the customer. Such
guarantees provide that, in such cases, if the customer resells the hardware for less than the amount initially sold to the customer, we will be required to
compensate the customer for any shortfall in resale price of the hardware from the initial contract purchase price. We account for such guarantees as
variable consideration at each measurement date. We update our estimate of variable consideration, including changes in estimates related to such
guarantees, each quarter for facts or circumstances that have changed from the time of the initial estimate. For example, we recorded a net revenue
reduction of $35.1 million in hardware revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023. If our future estimates of variable consideration with respect to
these or other guarantees differ significantly from initial estimates, we would need to record an adjustment to earnings to reverse the revenue previously
recognized, and depending on the magnitude of any such adjustment, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Third-Party Partners

Our hardware and software-enabled services rely on interconnections to distribution and transmission facilities that are owned and operated by
third parties, and as a result, are exposed to interconnection and transmission facility development and curtailment risks.

Our hardware and software-enabled services are interconnected with electric distribution and transmission facilities owned and operated by regulated
utilities necessary to deliver the electricity that our storage systems produce. A failure or delay in the operation or development of these distribution or
transmission facilities could result in a loss of revenues or breach of a contract because such a failure or delay could limit the amount of renewable
electricity that our energy storage systems deliver or delay the completion of our customers’ construction projects. In addition, certain of our energy storage
systems’ generation may be curtailed without compensation due to distribution and transmission limitations, reducing our revenues and impairing our ability
to capitalize fully on a particular customer project’s potential. Such a failure or curtailment at levels above our expectations could impact our ability to satisfy
agreements entered into with our suppliers and adversely affect our business.

Our growth depends in part on the success of our relationships with third parties, including contractors and project developers

We rely on third-party general contractors to install energy storage systems at our customers’ sites. We currently work with a limited number of general
contractors, which has impacted and may continue to impact, our ability to facilitate customer installations as planned. Our work with contractors or their
subcontractors may have the effect of our being required to comply with additional rules (including rules unique to our customers), working conditions, site
remediation and other union requirements, which can add costs and complexity to an installation project. The timeliness, thoroughness and quality of the
installation-related services performed by our general contractors and their subcontractors in the past have not always met our expectations or standards,
and in the future may not meet our expectations and standards. It may be difficult to find and train third-party general contractors that meet our standards at
a competitive cost.
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In addition, we are investing resources in establishing strategic relationships with market players across a variety of industries, including large
renewable project developers, to generate new customers. These programs may not roll out as quickly as planned or produce the results we anticipated. A
significant portion of our business depends on attracting new partners and retaining existing partners. Negotiating relationships with our partners, investing
in due diligence efforts with potential partners, training such third parties and contractors and monitoring them for compliance with our standards require
significant time and resources and may present greater risks and challenges than expanding a direct sales or installation team. If we are not successful in
establishing or maintaining our relationships with these third parties, our ability to grow our business and address our market opportunity could be impaired.
Even if we are able to establish and maintain these relationships, we may not be able to execute on our goal of leveraging these relationships to
meaningfully expand our business, brand estimates of variable consideration related to revenue recognition, and customer base. Such circumstances would
limit our growth potential and our opportunities to generate significant additional revenue or cash flows.

We must maintain customer confidence in our long-term business prospects in order to grow our business.

Customers may be less likely to purchase our hardware and services if they do not believe that our business will succeed or that our services and
support and other operations will continue in the long term. Similarly, suppliers and other third parties will be less likely to invest time and resources in
developing business relationships with us if they do not believe that our business will succeed. Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our business, we
must maintain confidence among customers, suppliers, analysts, ratings agencies and other parties in our hardware and software-enabled services, long-
term financial viability and business prospects. Maintaining such confidence may be particularly complicated by certain factors including those that are
largely outside of our control, such as our limited operating history, customer unfamiliarity with our hardware and software-enabled services, delivery and
service operations to meet demand, competition, future changes in the evolving distributed and renewable energy markets or uncertainty regarding sales
performance compared with market expectations.

Accordingly, in order to grow our business, we must maintain confidence among our customers, OEM suppliers, third-party general contractor partners,
financing partners and other parties in our long-term business prospects. This may be particularly complicated by factors such as:

• our limited operating history at current scale;

• our historical and anticipated near-term lack of profitability;

• unfamiliarity with or uncertainty about our energy storage systems and the overall perception of the distributed and renewable energy generation
markets;

• prices for electricity in particular markets;

• competition from alternate sources of energy;

• warranty or unanticipated service issues we may experience in connection with third-party manufactured hardware and our proprietary software;

• the environmental consciousness and perceived value of environmental programs to our customers;

• the size of our expansion plans in comparison to our existing capital base and the scope and history of operations; and

• the availability and amount of incentives, credits, subsidies or other programs to promote installation of energy storage systems.

Several of these factors are largely outside our control, and any negative perceptions about our long-term business prospects, even if unfounded, would
likely adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology

If we are unsuccessful in developing and maintaining our proprietary technology, including our Athena platform, our ability to attract and retain
partners could be impaired, our competitive position could be adversely affected and our revenue could be reduced.

Our future growth depends on our ability to continue to develop and maintain our proprietary technology that supports our hardware and software-
enabled services, including our Athena platform. In the event that our current or future products and services require features that we have not developed or
licensed, or we lose the benefit of an existing license, we will be required to develop or obtain such technology through purchase, license or other
arrangements. If the required technology is not available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, we may incur additional expenses in an effort to
internally develop the required technology. We have received patents and have filed patent applications with respect to certain aspects of our technology,
and we generally rely on patent protection with respect to our proprietary technology, as well as a combination of
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trade secrets and copyright law, employee and third-party non-disclosure agreements and other protective measures to protect intellectual property rights
pertaining to our proprietary technology and hardware and software- enabled services. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by us to protect any
of our proprietary technology will be adequate to prevent misappropriation of these technologies by third parties. If we were unable to maintain our existing
proprietary technology, our ability to attract and retain customers could be impaired, our competitive position could be adversely affected, and our revenue
could be reduced.

A failure of our information technology (“IT”) and data security infrastructure could adversely affect our business and operations.

The efficient operation of our business depends on our IT systems, some of which are managed by third-party service providers. We rely upon the
capacity, reliability and security of our IT and data security infrastructure and our ability to effectively manage our business data, accounting, financial, legal
and compliance functions, communications, supply chain, order entry and fulfillment, and expand and routinely update this infrastructure in response to the
changing needs of our business. Our existing IT systems and any new IT systems we utilize may not perform as expected. If we experience a problem with
the functioning of an important IT system or a security breach of our IT systems, including during system upgrades or new system implementations, the
resulting disruptions could adversely affect our business.

Despite our implementation of reasonable security measures, our IT systems, like those of other companies, are vulnerable to damages from computer
viruses, natural disasters, fire, power loss, telecommunications failures, personnel misconduct, human error, unauthorized access, physical or electronic
security breaches, cyber-attacks (including malicious and destructive code, phishing attacks, ransomware, and denial of service attacks), and other similar
disruptions. Such attacks or security breaches may be perpetrated by bad actors internally or externally (including computer hackers, persons involved with
organized crime, or foreign state or foreign state-supported actors). Cybersecurity threat actors employ a wide variety of methods and techniques that are
constantly evolving, increasingly sophisticated, and difficult to detect and successfully defend against. Moreover, we may not have the current capability to
detect certain vulnerabilities, which may allow those vulnerabilities to persist in our systems over long periods of time. Geopolitical tensions or conflicts, such
as Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, may further heighten the risk of cyber-attacks. We have experienced such incidents in the past, and any future incidents
could expose us to claims, litigation, regulatory or other governmental investigations, administrative fines and potential liability. Any system failure, accident
or security breach could result in disruptions to our operations. A material network breach in the security of our or our service providers’ IT systems could
include the theft of our trade secrets, customer information, human resources information or other confidential data, including but not limited to personally
identifiable information. Although past incidents have not had a material adverse effect on our business operations or financial performance, to the extent
that any disruptions or security breach results in a loss or damage to our data, or an inappropriate disclosure of confidential, proprietary or customer
information, it could cause significant damage to our reputation, affect our relationships with our customers and strategic partners, lead to claims against us
from governments and private plaintiffs, and otherwise adversely affect our business. We cannot guarantee that future cyberattacks, if successful, will not
have a material effect on our business or financial results.

Many governments have enacted laws requiring companies to provide notice of cyber incidents involving certain types of data, including personal data.
If an actual or perceived cybersecurity breach of security measures, unauthorized access to our system or the systems of the third-party vendors that we
rely upon, or any other cybersecurity threat occurs, we may incur liability, costs, or damages, contract termination, our reputation may be compromised, our
ability to attract new customers could be negatively affected, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected. Any compromise of our security could also result in a violation of applicable domestic and foreign security, privacy or data protection,
consumer and other laws, regulatory or other governmental investigations, enforcement actions, and legal and financial exposure, including potential
contractual liability. In addition, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect against and remediate damage caused by these disruptions or
security breaches in the future. While we carry cyber insurance, we cannot be certain that our coverage will be adequate for liabilities actually incurred, that
insurance will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

Our technology, including the Athena platform, could have undetected defects, errors or bugs in hardware or software which could reduce
market adoption, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers and/or expose us to product liability and other claims that could
materially and adversely affect our business.

We may be subject to claims that our hardware and software-enabled services, including the Athena platform have malfunctioned and persons were
injured or purported to be injured. Any insurance that we carry may not be sufficient or it may not apply to all situations. Similarly, to the extent that such
malfunctions are related to components obtained from third-party vendors, such vendors may not assume responsibility for such malfunctions. In addition,
our customers could be subjected to claims as a result of such incidents and may bring legal claims against us to attempt to hold us liable. Any of these
events could adversely affect our brand, relationships with customers, operating results or financial condition.
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Furthermore, our Athena platform is complex, developed for over a decade by many developers, and includes a number of licensed third-party
commercial and open-source software libraries. Our software has contained defects and errors and may in the future contain undetected defects or errors.
We continue to evolve the features and functionality of our platform through updates and enhancements, and as we do, we may introduce additional defects
or errors that may not be detected until after deployment to customers through our hardware. In addition, if our hardware and software-enabled services,
including any updates or patches, are not implemented or used correctly or as intended, inadequate performance and disruptions in service may result.

Any defects or errors in product or services offerings, or the perception of such defects or errors, or other performance problems could result in any of
the following, each of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations:

• expenditure of significant financial and product development resources, including recalls, in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate or work around
errors or defects;

• loss of existing or potential customers or partners;

• interruptions or delays in sales;

• delayed or lost revenue;

• delay or failure to attain market acceptance;

• delay in the development or release of new functionality or improvements;

• negative publicity and reputational harm;

• sales credits or refunds;

• exposure of confidential or proprietary information;

• diversion of development and customer service resources;

• breach of warranty claims;

• legal claims under applicable laws, rules and regulations; and

• the expense and risk of litigation.

Although we have contractual protections, such as warranty disclaimers and limitation of liability provisions, in many of our agreements with customers,
resellers and other business partners, such protections may not be uniformly implemented in all guarantees that we have issued under certain customer
contracts and, where implemented, may not fully or effectively protect from claims by customers, resellers, business partners or other third parties. Any
insurance coverage or indemnification obligations of suppliers may not adequately cover all such claims, or cover only a portion of such claims. A successful
product liability, warranty, or other similar claim could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, even
claims that ultimately are unsuccessful could result in expenditure of funds in litigation, divert management’s time and other resources and cause
reputational harm.

Our failure to adequately secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may undermine our competitive position, and litigation to
protect our intellectual property rights may be costly.

Although we have taken many protective measures to protect our intellectual property, including trade secrets, policing unauthorized use of proprietary
technology can be difficult and expensive. For example, many of our software developers reside in California and we cannot legally prevent them from
working for a competitor.

Also, litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets, or determine the validity and scope of the
proprietary rights of others. Such litigation may result in our intellectual property rights being challenged, limited in scope or declared invalid or
unenforceable. We cannot be certain that the outcome of any litigation will be in our favor, and an adverse determination in any such litigation could impair
our intellectual property rights and may adversely affect our business, prospects and reputation.

We rely primarily on patent, trade secret and trademark laws, and non-disclosure, confidentiality, and other types of contractual restrictions to establish,
maintain, and enforce our intellectual property and proprietary rights. However, our rights under these laws and agreements afford us only limited protection
and the actions we take to establish, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property rights may not be adequate. For example, our trade secrets and other
confidential information could be disclosed in an unauthorized manner to third parties, our owned or licensed intellectual property rights could be
challenged,
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invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated or our intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to provide us with a competitive advantage,
any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we rely on our brand names,
trade names and trademarks to distinguish our products and services, such as our Athena® platform, from the products of our competitors; however, third
parties may oppose our trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of such trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully
challenged and we lose rights to use those trademarks, we could be forced to rebrand our products and services, which could result in the loss of goodwill
and brand recognition. In addition, the laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the U.S. As a result, we may not be
able to protect our proprietary rights adequately abroad.

Our patent applications may not result in issued patents, and our issued patents may not provide adequate protection, which may have a
material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from commercially exploiting products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that our pending patent applications will result in issued patents or that any of our issued patents will afford protection against a
competitor. The status of patents involves complex legal and factual questions, and the breadth of claims allowed is uncertain. As a result, we cannot be
certain that the patent applications that we file will result in patents being issued, or that our patents and any patents that may be issued to us in the future
will afford protection against competitors with similar technology. In addition, patent applications filed in foreign countries are subject to laws, rules and
procedures that differ from those of the U.S., and thus we cannot be certain that foreign patent applications related to issued U.S. patents will be issued in
other regions. Furthermore, even if these patent applications are accepted and the associated patents issued, some foreign countries provide significantly
less effective patent enforcement than in the U.S.

In addition, patents issued to us may be infringed upon or designed around by others and others may obtain patents that we need to license or design
around, either of which would increase costs and may adversely affect our business, prospects, and operating results.

We may need to defend ourselves against claims that we infringe, have misappropriated or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of
others, which may be time consuming and would cause us to incur substantial costs.

Companies, organizations, or individuals, including our competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks, or other proprietary rights that they may in
the future believe are infringed by our products and services. Although we are not currently subject to any claims related to intellectual property, these
companies holding patents or other intellectual property rights allegedly relating to our technologies could, in the future, make claims or bring suits alleging
infringement, misappropriation or other violations of such rights, or otherwise asserting their rights and seeking licenses or injunctions. Several of the
proprietary components used in our energy storage systems have been subjected to infringement challenges in the past. We also generally indemnify our
customers against claims that the hardware and software-enabled services we supply infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate third-party intellectual
property rights, and we may therefore be required to defend our customers against such claims. If a claim is successfully brought in the future and we or our
hardware and software-enabled services are determined to have infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated a third-party’s intellectual property rights,
we may be required to do one or more of the following:

• cease selling products or services that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

• pay substantial damages (including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if our infringement is determined to be willful);

• obtain a license from the holder of the intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or

• redesign our products or services, which may not be possible or cost-effective.

Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, any litigation or claims, whether or not
valid, could adversely affect our reputation, result in substantial costs, and divert resources and management attention.

We also license technology from third parties, and incorporate components supplied by third parties into our hardware. We may face claims that our use
of such technology or components infringes or otherwise violates the rights of others, which would subject us to the risks described above. We may seek
indemnification from our licensors or suppliers under our contracts with them, but our rights to indemnification or our suppliers’ resources may be
unavailable or insufficient to cover our costs and losses.

Regulatory Risks
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The installation and operation of our energy storage systems are subject to environmental laws and regulations in various jurisdictions, and
there is uncertainty with respect to the interpretation of certain environmental laws and regulations to our energy storage systems, especially as
these regulations evolve over time.

We are subject to national, state and local environmental laws and regulations, as well as environmental laws in those foreign jurisdictions in which we
operate. Environmental laws and regulations can be complex and are evolving. These laws can give rise to liability for administrative oversight costs,
cleanup costs, property damage, bodily injury, fines and penalties. We are committed to compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations,
including health and safety standards, and we routinely review the operation of our energy storage systems for health, safety and compliance. Our energy
storage systems, like other battery technology-based products of which we are aware, produce small amounts of hazardous wastes and air pollutants, and
we seek to handle these materials in accordance with applicable regulatory standards.

Maintaining compliance with laws and regulations can be challenging given the changing patchwork of environmental laws and regulations that prevail
at the U.S. federal, state, regional and local levels and in foreign countries in which we operate. Most existing environmental laws and regulations preceded
the introduction of battery technology and were adopted to apply to technologies existing at the time, namely large, coal, oil or gas-fired power plants.
Currently, there is generally little guidance from these agencies on how certain environmental laws and regulations may, or may not, be applied to our
technology.

In many instances, our technology is moving faster than the development of applicable regulatory frameworks. It is possible that regulators could delay
or prevent us from conducting our business in some way pending agreement on, and compliance with, shifting regulatory requirements. Such actions could
delay the sale to and installation by customers of energy storage systems, require their modification or replacement, result in fines, or trigger claims of
performance warranties and defaults under customer contracts that could require us to refund hardware or service contract payments, any of which could
adversely affect our business, financial performance and reputation.

Existing regulations and changes to such regulations impacting the electric power industry may create technical, regulatory and economic
barriers which could significantly reduce demand for our energy storage systems.

The market for electricity generation products is heavily influenced by U.S. federal, state, local and foreign government regulations and policies, as well
as by tariffs, internal policies and practices of electric utility providers. These regulations, tariffs and policies often relate to electricity pricing and technical
interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. These regulations, tariffs and policies are often modified and could continue to change, and this
could result in a significant reduction in demand for our energy storage systems. For example, utility companies commonly charge fees industrial customers
for disconnecting from the electric grid or for having the capacity to use power from the electric grid for back-up purposes. These fees could change,
increasing the cost to our customers of using our offerings and making them less economically attractive.

Negative attitudes toward renewable energy projects from the U.S. government, other lawmakers and regulators, and activists could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Parties with an interest in other energy sources, including lawmakers, regulators, policymakers, environmental and advocacy organizations or other
activists may invest significant time and money in efforts to delay, repeal or otherwise negatively influence regulations and programs that promote
renewable energy. Many of these parties have substantially greater resources and influence than we have. Further, changes in U.S. federal, state or local
political, social or economic conditions, including a lack of legislative focus on these programs and regulations, could result in their modification, delayed
adoption or repeal. Any failure to adopt, delay in implementing, expiration, repeal or modification of these programs and regulations, or the adoption of any
programs or regulations that encourage the use of other energy sources over renewable energy, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Opposition to our customers’ project requests for permits or successful challenges or appeals to permits issued for their projects could
adversely affect our operating plans.

A decrease in acceptance of renewable energy projects by local populations, an increase in the number of legal challenges, or an unfavorable outcome
of such legal challenges could adversely affect the financial condition of our customers and reduce their demand for our hardware and software-enabled
services. For example, persons, associations and groups could oppose renewable energy projects in general or our customers’ projects specifically, citing,
for example, misuse of water resources, landscape degradation, land use, food scarcity or price increase and harm to the environment. Moreover,
regulation may restrict the development of renewable energy plants in certain areas. In order to develop a renewable energy project, our customers are
typically required to obtain, among other things, environmental impact permits or other authorizations and building permits, which in turn require
environmental impact studies to be undertaken and public hearings and comment periods to be held during which any person, association or group may
oppose a project. The effect of such public opposition to renewable energy
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projects and any resulting reduction in customer demand for our hardware and software-enabled services could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Changes in the U.S. trade environment, including the imposition of import tariffs, could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenues,
results of operations or cash flows.

Escalating trade tensions, particularly between the United States and China, have led to increased tariffs and trade restrictions, including tariffs
applicable to certain materials and components for products used in solar energy projects and the renewable energy market more broadly, such as module
supply and availability. More specifically, in March 2018, the United States imposed a 25% tariff on steel imports and a 10% tariff on aluminum imports
pursuant to Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962 and has imposed additional tariffs on steel and aluminum imports pursuant to Section 301 of the
Trade Act of 1974. To the extent we source products that contain overseas supplies of steel and aluminum, these tariffs could result in interruptions in the
supply chain and negatively affect costs and our gross margins. Additionally, in January 2018, the United States adopted a tariff on imported solar modules
and cells pursuant to Section 201 of the Trade Act of 1974. The tariff was initially set at 30%, with a gradual reduction over four years to 15%. While this
tariff does not apply directly to the components we import, it may indirectly affect us by affecting the financial viability of solar energy projects, which could in
turn reduce demand for our products. Furthermore, in July 2018, the United States adopted a 10% tariff on a long list of products imported from China under
Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974, including, inverters and power optimizers, which became effective on September 24, 2018. In June 2019, the Office of
the U.S. Trade Representative increased the rate of such tariffs from 10% to 25%. While these tariffs are not directly applicable to our products, they could
negatively affect the solar energy projects in which our products are used, which could lead to decreased demand for our products.

In addition, the United States currently imposes antidumping and countervailing duties on certain imported crystalline silicon photovoltaic (“PV”) cells
and modules from China and Taiwan. Such antidumping and countervailing duties can change over time pursuant to annual reviews conducted by the U.S.
Department of Commerce (“USDOC”), and an increase in duty rates could have an adverse impact on our operating results.

In February 2022, Auxin Solar Inc., a U.S. producer of crystalline silicon PV products, petitioned the USDOC to investigate alleged circumvention of
antidumping and countervailing duties on crystalline silicon PV cell and module imports assembled and completed in Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand, and
Vietnam. In August 2023, USDOC issued a final determination that certain Chinese producers are circumventing antidumping and countervailing duties by
shipping crystalline silicon PV cells and modules through Cambodia, Malaysia, Thailand, and Vietnam for minor processing. The United States has
suspended until June 2024 collection of antidumping and countervailing duties on crystalline silicon PV cell and module imports from those four countries.
The timing and progress of many of our customers’ projects depend upon the supply of PV cells and modules. As a result, if the if the United States begins
collecting antidumping and countervailing duties on such products, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Tariffs, and the possibility of additional tariffs in the future, have created uncertainty in the industry. This has resulted in, and may continue to result in,
some project delays. If the price of solar systems or energy storage systems in the United States increases, the use of these products could become less
economically feasible and could reduce our gross margins or reduce the demand of such systems manufactured and sold, which in turn may decrease
demand for our products. Additionally, existing or future tariffs may negatively affect key customers, suppliers, and manufacturing partners. Such outcomes
could adversely affect the amount or timing of our revenues, results of operations or cash flows, and continuing uncertainty could cause sales volatility, price
fluctuations or supply shortages, or cause our customers to advance or delay their purchase of our products. It is difficult to predict what further trade-related
actions governments may take, which may include additional or increased tariffs and trade restrictions, and we may be unable to quickly and effectively react
to such actions.

Some products that we import may also be affected by the Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act (the “UFLPA”), which was signed into law by President
Biden on December 23, 2021. According to U.S. Customs and Border Protection, “it establishes a rebuttable presumption that the importation of any goods,
wares, articles, and merchandise mined, produced, or manufactured wholly or in part in the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region of the People’s Republic of
China, or produced by certain entities, is prohibited by Section 307 of the Tariff Act of 1930 and that such goods, wares, articles, and merchandise are not
entitled to entry to the U.S. The presumption applies unless the Commissioner of U.S. Customs and Border Protection determines that the importer of
record has complied with specified conditions and, by clear and convincing evidence, that the goods, wares, articles, or merchandise were not produced
using forced labor.” There continues to be uncertainty regarding how to achieve full compliance with the UFLPA, whether related to sufficient traceability of
materials or other factors. This has created a significant compliance burden and caused supply chain constraints and project delays for our customers that
import certain products (including solar panels and related components) from China. Although our own product delivery schedules have not been materially
affected thus far, future developments in the enforcement of the UFLPA and related withhold release orders issued by the U.S. Customs and Border
Protection may result in disruptions to our own supply chains and future sales, and therefore negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results
of operations.
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Additional Risks Related to our Securities and Our Capital Structure

We may issue a significant number of shares in the future in connection with investments or acquisitions.

We may issue securities in the future in connection with investments or acquisitions or otherwise. The amount of shares of common stock issued in
connection with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-outstanding shares of common stock. Any issuance of additional
securities in connection with investments or acquisitions may result in additional dilution to our stockholders.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and
accurate consolidated financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and the rules and
regulations of the applicable listing standards of the NYSE. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our
legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs; make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly; and place significant strain on our
personnel, systems, and resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. We continue to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules
and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and
financial officers. We also continue to improve our internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend,
significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. In addition,
changes in accounting principles or interpretations could also challenge our internal controls and require that we establish new business processes,
systems, and controls to accommodate such changes. Additionally, if these new systems, controls, or standards and the associated process changes do not
give rise to the benefits that we expect or do not operate as intended, it could adversely affect our financial reporting systems and processes, our ability to
produce timely and accurate financial reports, or the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Moreover, our business may be harmed if we
experience problems with any new systems and controls that result in delays in their implementation or increased costs to correct any post-implementation
issues that may arise.

Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or
maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our business or cause us to fail to meet our
reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our consolidated financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent
registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Ineffective disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information,
which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we
may not be able to remain listed on the NYSE. We are required to provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our
independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control
over financial reporting is documented, designed, or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial
reporting could harm our business and could cause a decline in the trading price of our common stock.

If analysts do not publish research about our business or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, our stock price and trading volume
could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any
control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock price and trading volume may decline. Similar results may occur if one
or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports on us regularly.

32



The trading price of our common stock is volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile and is subject to fluctuations in response to various factors, some
of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our common stock. Factors that could cause
fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:

• results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

• results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

• volatility in the trading prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;

• changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates and investment recommendations by securities
analysts and investors;

• declines in the market prices of stocks generally;

• strategic actions by us or our competitors;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint ventures, other strategic relationships or capital commitments;

• any significant change in our senior management;

• changes in general macroeconomic or market conditions or trends in our industry or markets, including as a result of a general economic slowdown
or a recession, increasing interest rates and changes in monetary policy, or inflationary pressures;

• changes in business or regulatory conditions, including new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to
our business;

• future sales of our common stock or other securities or the incurrence of significant debt;

• investor perceptions or the investment opportunity associated with our common stock relative to other investment alternatives;

• the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings with the SEC;

• litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;

• financial and operating guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, and any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this guidance;

• actions by institutional or activist stockholders;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from natural disasters, geopolitical instability or war, acts of terrorism or responses to these events.

These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating
performance.

In addition, in the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation against companies. For
example, in May and July 2023, two putative securities class actions were filed against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors
alleging claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. The lawsuits
seek damages, litigation costs and interest. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s time and attention
from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, regardless of the outcome of such litigation. We may be the
target of additional litigation of this type in the future.
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Our financial condition and results of operations and other key metrics are likely to fluctuate on a quarterly basis in future periods, which could
cause our results for a particular period to fall below expectations, resulting in a severe decline in the price of our common stock.

Our financial condition and results of operations and other key metrics have fluctuated significantly in the past and may continue to fluctuate in the
future due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. For example, the amount of revenue we recognize in a given period is materially
dependent on the volume of purchases of our energy storage systems and software-enabled services in that period, as well as on a small number of
customers.

In addition to the other risks described herein, the following factors could also cause our financial condition and results of operations to fluctuate on a
quarterly basis:

• the timing of customer installations of our hardware, which may depend on many factors such as availability of inventory, product quality or
performance issues, or local permitting requirements, utility requirements, environmental, health and safety requirements, weather and customer
facility construction schedules, and availability and schedule of our third-party general contractors;

• the sizes of particular customer hardware installations and the number of sites involved in any particular quarter;

• delays or cancellations of energy storage system purchases and installations;

• fluctuations in our service costs, particularly due to unaccrued costs of servicing and maintaining energy storage systems;

• weaker than anticipated demand for our energy storage systems due to changes in government incentives and policies;

• interruptions in our supply chain;

• the timing and level of additional purchases by existing customers;

• unanticipated expenses or installation delays incurred by customers due to changes in governmental regulations, permitting requirements by local
authorities at particular sites, utility requirements and environmental, health and safety requirements; and

• disruptions in our sales, production, service or other business activities resulting from our inability to attract and retain qualified personnel.

In addition, our revenue, key operating metrics and other operating results in future quarters may fall short of the expectations of investors and financial
analysts, which could have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter and Amended and Restated Bylaws may have an anti- takeover effect and may delay,
defer or prevent a merger, acquisition, tender offer, takeover attempt or other change of control transaction that a stockholder might consider in
its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by our stockholders.

These provisions, among other things:

• establish a staggered board of directors divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of our board of
directors will be elected at one time;

• authorize our board of directors to issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval and create, subject to applicable law, a series of
preferred stock with preferential rights to dividends or our assets upon liquidation, or with superior voting rights to our existing common stock;

• eliminate the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

• eliminate the ability of stockholders to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at our annual stockholder meetings;

• permit our board of directors to establish the number of directors;

• provide that our board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our Amended and Restated Bylaws;

• provide that stockholders can remove directors only for cause and only upon the approval of not less than 66 2∕3 of all outstanding shares of our
voting stock;
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• require the approval of not less than 66 2∕3 of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend our Amended and Restated Bylaws and specific
provisions of our Amended and Restated Charter; and

• limit the jurisdictions in which certain stockholder litigation may be brought.

As a Delaware corporation, we are subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), which
prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination specified in the statute with an interested stockholder (as defined in the statute)
for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person first becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is
approved in advance by a majority of the independent directors or by the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding disinterested shares. The
application of Section 203 of the DGCL could also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of us.

These anti-takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us, even if the third-party’s offer may be considered beneficial by
many of our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for their shares. These provisions could also
discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other
corporate actions you desire.

Our Amended and Restated Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types
of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our Amended and Restated Charter provides that, that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive
forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a breach of a fiduciary
duty owed by any director, officer or other employee to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any director, officer, or other
employee arising pursuant to the DGCL, (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of our second amended and restated certificate
of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws, or (v) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, shall be the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or another state court or the federal court located within the State of Delaware if the Court of Chancery does not have
or declines to accept jurisdiction), in all cases subject to the court’s having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants.

In addition, our Amended and Restated Charter provides that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act but that the forum selection provision does not apply to claims brought to enforce a
duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”). Although we believe these provisions benefit us by
providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law for the specified types of actions and proceedings, the provisions may have the effect of
discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors and officers. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our Amended
and Restated Charter to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we might incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other
jurisdictions, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. For example, under the Securities Act, federal courts have
concurrent jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act, and investors cannot waive compliance with the
federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in our shares of capital
stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consent to this exclusive forum provision, but will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the
federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

The capped call transactions we entered into in connection with the pricing of our 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

In connection with the pricing of the 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with several affiliates of the Initial
Purchasers (the “Option Counterparties”). The capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to our common stock upon
conversion of any 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of
converted notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap.

In addition, the Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various
derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock in secondary market transactions and prior to the maturity of
the 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes (and are likely to do so on each exercise date for the capped call transactions or following any termination of any
portion of the capped call transactions in connection with any repurchase, redemption or early conversion of the 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes). This
activity could cause or avoid an increase or decrease in the market price of our common stock.
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We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions.

The Option Counterparties are financial institutions, and we are subject to the risk that any or all of them might default under the capped call
transactions. Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties is not secured by any collateral. Past global economic conditions have resulted in
the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial institutions. If an option counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we
will become an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a claim equal to our exposure at that time under the capped call transactions with such option
counterparty. Our exposure will depend on many factors but, generally, an increase in our exposure will be correlated to an increase in the market price and
in the volatility of our common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer more dilution than we currently anticipate with
respect to our common stock. We can provide no assurance as to the financial stability or viability of the option counterparties.

General Risk Factors

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage us as a
public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the scrutiny of securities
analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention
away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Future litigation or administrative proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We have been and continue to be involved in legal proceedings, claims, and other litigation. In addition, since our energy storage product is a new type
of product in a nascent market, we have in the past needed and may in the future need to seek the amendment of existing regulations or, in some cases,
the creation of new regulations, in order to operate our business in some jurisdictions. Such regulatory processes may require public hearings concerning
our business, which could expose us to subsequent litigation. Unfavorable outcomes or developments relating to proceedings to which we are a party or
transactions involving our products and services, such as judgments for monetary damages, injunctions, or denial or revocation of permits, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, settlement of claims could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our operating results may be adversely affected by unfavorable macroeconomic, geopolitical, and market conditions.

Unfavorable macroeconomic conditions, such as a general slowdown or recession of the global or U.S. economy, uncertainty and volatility in the
financial markets, inflation or rising interest rates, as well as geopolitical conditions could reduce investment in projects that make use of our services. In
addition, sustained unfavorable macroeconomic conditions might also have a negative impact on many of our customers or suppliers, which could impair
their ability to meet their obligations to us. If economic and market conditions globally, in the U.S. or in other key markets become more volatile or
deteriorate further, we may experience material impacts on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We maintain a cyber risk management program that is designed to identify, assess, manage, mitigate, and respond to cybersecurity threats. The design
of our program is based on recognized best practices and standards for cybersecurity and information technology, including the National Institute of
Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework.

We have implemented a cyber incident response standard operating procedure (the “SOP”) detailing actions to be taken in the event of a cyber incident.
Pursuant to the SOP, any suspected cyber breaches or detected vulnerabilities are promptly reported by our cybersecurity team to our Chief Technology
Officer (“CTO”) and Chief Legal Officer (“CLO”) for further assessment and/or remediation. In addition, we require our employees to regularly participate in
mandatory cybersecurity training that covers critical aspects of digital security, including phishing prevention, threat awareness, and safe data handling
practices. Cybersecurity risk considerations are also incorporated into our broader business continuity planning.

In addition to our internal processes, our partnerships with various third-party vendors comprise a key component of our cyber risk management
program. We engage several reputable third-party companies to monitor and maintain the performance
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and effectiveness of our products and services, as well as to conduct System and Organization Controls (SOC) assessments and our mandatory
cybersecurity training for employees.

Our Compliance and Security Officer (“CSO”) is the head of our experienced cybersecurity team and is responsible for assessing and managing our
cyber risk management program. Our CSO collaborates with our business, engineering, human resources, legal, and other functions to implement and
enforce our cyber policies. Our CSO reports to our CTO, and they collectively inform our senior management regarding the prevention, detection, mitigation,
and remediation of incidents and vulnerabilities.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees our cybersecurity risk exposures and the steps taken by management to monitor
and mitigate cybersecurity risks. Each quarter,, our CTO updates the Audit Committee on the development and effectiveness of our cyber risk management
program. In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for periodically reviewing and discussing with management our practices with respect to
cybersecurity and information security risk management. In addition, cybersecurity risks are reviewed by the Board as part of the Company’s corporate risk
mapping exercise.

Although we have experienced, and will continue to experience, cyber incidents in the normal course of our business, prior cyber incidents have not had
a material adverse effect on our business. For a further explanation of the cybersecurity risks and threats that we could be subject, see “A failure of our
information technology and data security infrastructure could adversely affect our business and operations” in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in San Francisco, California. This facility comprises approximately 23,500 square feet of office space. We lease
this facility. In addition, our other material properties are described below.

Type of Space Location Approximate Square Footage Leased or Owned

Office Gurugram, India 41,800 square feet Leased

Office Boulder, Colorado 15,800 square feet Leased

Warehouse Longmont, Colorado 13,950 square feet Leased

We believe our space is adequate for our current needs and that suitable additional or substitute spaces will be available to accommodate the
foreseeable expansion of our operations. For more information about our material lease commitments, see Note 8 — Leases, in the accompanying notes to
the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information with respect to this Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” is set forth in  Note 20 — Commitments and Contingencies,  in the accompanying notes
to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “STEM.”

Holders

As of February 21, 2024, there were 93 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date and currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the growth of our business.
The payment of cash dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and may be affected by various factors, including our future earnings, financial
condition, capital requirements, share repurchase activity, current and future planned strategic growth initiatives, levels of indebtedness, and other
considerations our Board of Directors deems relevant.

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or deemed to be “filed” with the SEC, for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act,
or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities
Act.

The following graph compares (i) the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from August 20, 2020 (the date our common stock
commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange under our former symbol “STPK.”) through December 31, 2023 with (ii) the cumulative total return of
the Russell 2000 Index and the NASDAQ Clean Edge Green Energy Index over the same period, assuming the investment of $100 in our common stock
and in both of the other indices on August 20, 2020 and the reinvestment of dividends. As discussed above, we have never declared or paid a cash dividend
on our common stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Except as previously disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 3, 2023, no other unregistered sales of our common stock
were made during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report. In
addition to our historical consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates,
and beliefs. Our actual results and the timing of certain events could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that
could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this Report, particularly in Part I, Item
1A, “Risk Factors.”

This MD&A generally discusses 2023 and 2022 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022. Discussions of 2021 items and year-to-
year comparisons between 2022 and 2021 that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K can be found in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 17,
2023.

The Merger

The information regarding the Merger set forth in the first paragraph of Part 1, Item 1, “Business — History” above is incorporated herein by reference.
See also Note 1 — Business, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For financial reporting purposes, Legacy Stem is treated as the accounting acquirer.

Acquisition of AlsoEnergy

On February 1, 2022, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of AlsoEnergy. The transaction combined our storage optimization
capabilities with AlsoEnergy’s solar asset performance monitoring and control software. Through AlsoEnergy, we provide end-to-end turnkey solutions that
monitor and manage renewable energy systems through AlsoEnergy’s PowerTrack software. PowerTrack includes data acquisitions and monitoring,
performance modelling, agency reporting, internal reports, work order tickets, and supervisory control and data acquisition (“SCADA”) controls. AlsoEnergy
has deployed systems at various international locations, but its primary customer base is in the United States, Germany and Canada. The total
consideration for the AlsoEnergy acquisition was $652.0 million, comprised of $543.1 million paid in cash net of a working capital adjustment for an escrow
recovery, and $108.9 million in the form of 8,621,006 shares of our common stock. We incurred $6.1 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of
AlsoEnergy, which were recorded in general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2022. See Note 6 — Business
Combinations, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Our mission is to maximize the economic, environmental, and resiliency value of renewable energy assets through our leading artificial intelligence
(“AI”) platform. In order to fulfill our mission, we provide our customers, which include C&I enterprises as well as independent power producers, renewable
project developers, utilities and grid operators, with (i) energy storage hardware, sourced from leading, global battery OEMs, that we deliver through our
partners, including developers, distributors and EPC firms, (ii) edge hardware to aid in the collection of site data and the real-time operation and control of
the site plus other optional equipment, and (iii) an ongoing software platform, Athena , and professional services to operate and manage the performance
of standalone energy storage, integrated solar plus storage systems, and solar assets. In addition, in all of the markets where we help manage our
customers’ clean energy assets, we have agreements to use the Athena platform to participate in such markets and to share the revenue from such market
participation.

®
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We operate in two key areas within the energy landscape: Behind-the-Meter (“BTM”) and Front-of-the-Meter (“FTM”). An energy system’s position in
relation to a customer’s electric meter determines whether it is designated a BTM or FTM system. BTM systems provide power that can be used on-site
without interacting with the electric grid and passing through an electric meter. FTM, grid-connected systems provide power to off-site locations and must
pass through an electric meter prior to reaching an end-user.

For BTM customers, Athena mitigates customer energy costs through services such as time-of-use and demand charge management optimization and
by aggregating the dispatch of energy through a network of virtual power plants. Our software is designed to reduce C&I customer energy bills, increase
their energy yield, and help our customers facilitate the achievement of their corporate environmental, social, and corporate governance (“ESG”) and carbon
reduction objectives. Through PowerTrack, our software maximizes solar energy output and minimizes asset downtime.

For FTM customers, our software decreases risk for project developers, asset owners, independent power producers and investors by adapting to
dynamic energy market conditions in connection with the deployment of electricity and improving the value of energy assets over the course of their FTM
system’s lifetime.

Since our inception in 2009, we have engaged in developing and marketing software-enabled services, raising capital, and recruiting personnel. We
have incurred net operating losses and negative cash flows from operations each year since our inception. We have financed our operations primarily
through cash flows from customers, proceeds received from the Merger, convertible senior notes, and the issuance of convertible preferred stock.

Our total revenue grew from $363.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to $461.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. For the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we incurred net losses of $140.4 million and $124.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had an
accumulated deficit of $772.5 million.

We expect that our sales and marketing, research and development, regulatory and other expenses will continue as we expand our marketing efforts to
increase sales of our solutions, expand existing relationships with our customers, and obtain regulatory clearances or approvals for future product
enhancements. In addition, we expect to continue to manage and reduce our general and administrative costs and expenses associated with scaling our
business operations as well as being a public company, including legal, accounting, insurance, exchange listing and SEC compliance, investor relations,
and other costs and expenses.

Key Factors, Trends and Uncertainties Affecting our Business

We believe that our performance and future success depend on several factors, some of which present significant opportunities for us, and some of
which pose risks and challenges, including but not limited to:

Seasonality

Our results of operations have typically fluctuated due to seasonal trends, which we expect to recur in future periods. Historically, we have recognized
most of our revenue in the third and fourth fiscal quarters of each year due to various factors, including the requirement by our customers to reach target
commercial operation dates for their renewable energy projects as well as tax equity and financing considerations. For instance, our revenue recognized in
the third and fourth quarters of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 accounted for 65% of the total revenue recognized in the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023. The seasonality of our results of operations may be mitigated as our software and services offerings begin to comprise a greater
percentage of our total revenue.

Customer Concentration

We depend on a small number of significant customers for our sales, and a small number of customers have historically accounted for a material
portion of our revenue. While we are committed to diversifying our customer base, we may continue to derive a significant portion of our revenue from a
small number of customers. Loss of a significant customer, the inability to close a significant contract at any time, or a significant reduction in pricing or order
volume from a significant customer, could materially reduce our revenue in a given quarter and have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Supply Chain Constraints and Risk

We rely on a very small number of suppliers of energy storage systems and other equipment. If any of our suppliers were unable or unwilling to provide
us with contracted quantities in a timely manner at prices, quality levels and volumes acceptable to us, we would have very limited alternatives for supply,
and we may not be able find suitable replacements for our customers, if at all. Such an event could materially adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.
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DevCo Joint Ventures

We, through an indirect wholly-owned development subsidiary, have entered into strategic joint ventures with qualified third parties to develop select
energy storage generation projects (“DevCo Projects”), as more fully described above under Note 1 — Business in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These
projects require significant upfront investment by us and involve a high degree of risk. If a DevCo Project fails to reach completion or is significantly delayed,
we could lose all or a portion of our development capital investment. See “We Face Risks Related to our DevCo Business Model”  in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk
Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about certain risks related to these DevCo Projects.

Parent Company Guarantees

In certain customer contracts, we previously agreed to provide a guarantee that the value of purchased hardware will not decline for a certain period of
time, as more fully described above under Note 3 — Revenue, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item
8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We account for such contractual terms and guarantees as variable
consideration at each measurement date. We update our estimates of variable consideration each quarter, including changes in estimates related to such
guarantees, for facts or circumstances that have changed from the time of the initial estimate. As a result, we recorded a net revenue reduction of
$35.1 million in hardware revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023. Specifically, $16.9 million of the overall reduction in revenue was related to
deliveries that occurred during fiscal year 2022, and $18.2 million is related to deliveries that occurred during fiscal 2023. Because these contractual terms
and guarantees had not previously resulted in a revenue reduction in prior periods, and because we do not intend to provide such parent company
guarantees in customer contracts going forward, we believe that excluding the impact of the $35.1 million net reduction in revenue from adjusted EBITDA
and non-GAAP gross profit enhances the comparability to these metrics in prior periods.

We do not intend to provide new parent company guarantees in customer contracts going forward. In addition, the Company does not expect that future
revenue reductions, if any, as a result of outstanding guarantees will be material.

Decline in Lithium-Ion Battery Costs

Our revenue growth is directly tied to the continued adoption of energy storage systems by our customers. The cost of lithium-ion energy storage
hardware has generally declined over the last decade, but increased demand and global supply chain constraints could cause price increases in the future.
The market for energy storage is rapidly evolving, and while we believe costs will continue to decline over time, there is no guarantee. If costs do not
continue to decline, or do not decline as quickly as we anticipate, this could adversely affect our ability to increase our revenue and grow our business. The
IRA was signed into law in August 2022 and includes incentives and tax credits aimed at reducing the effects of climate change, such as a tax credit for
stand-alone battery storage projects. The implementation of the IRA is expected to further reduce the cost of battery storage systems for certain customers;
however, there are numerous restrictions and requirements associated with qualifying for the tax credits and other incentives available under the IRA, and
we continue to assess how the IRA may affect our business.

Increase in Deployment of Renewables

Deployment of intermittent resources has accelerated over the last decade, and today, wind and solar have become a low cost energy source. We
expect the cost of generating renewable energy to continue to decline and deployments of energy storage systems to increase. As renewable energy
sources of energy production are expected to represent a larger proportion of energy generation, grid instability rises due to their intermittency, which can be
addressed by energy storage solutions. The IRA is expected to further increase the deployment of renewable energy assets. We are continuing to evaluate
the IRA and its requirements, as well as the application to our business and our customers.

Competition

We are a market leader in terms of capacity of energy storage under management. We intend to strengthen our competitive position over time by
leveraging the network effect of Athena’s AI infrastructure. Existing competitors may expand their product offerings and sales strategies, and new
competitors may enter the market. Furthermore, our competitors include other types of software providers and some hardware manufacturers that offer
software solutions. If our market share declines due to increased competition, our revenue and ability to generate profits in the future may be adversely
affected.

Government Regulation and Compliance

Although we are not regulated as a utility, the market for our products and services is heavily influenced by federal, state, and local government statutes
and regulations concerning electricity. These statutes and regulations, like the IRA, affect
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electricity pricing, net metering, incentives, taxation, competition with utilities, and the interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. In the
United States and internationally, governments regularly modify these statutes and regulations and acting through state utility or public service commissions,
regularly change and adopt different rates for commercial customers. These changes can positively or negatively affect our ability to deliver cost savings to
customers.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to financial results determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) , we use adjusted EBITDA and
non-GAAP gross profit and margin, which are non-GAAP financial measures, for financial and operational decision making and as a means to evaluate our
operating performance and prospects, develop internal budgets and financial goals, and to facilitate period-to-period comparisons. Our management
believes that these non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding our performance and liquidity by excluding certain
expenses and expenditures that may not be indicative of our operating performance, such as stock-based compensation and other non-cash charges, as
well as discrete cash charges that are infrequent in nature. We believe that both management and investors benefit from referring to these non-GAAP
financial measures in assessing our performance and when planning, forecasting, and analyzing future periods. These non-GAAP financial measures also
facilitate management’s internal comparisons to our historical performance and liquidity as well as comparisons to our competitors’ operating results. We
believe these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors both because they (1) allow for greater transparency with respect to key metrics used by
management in its financial and operational decision making and (2) are used by our institutional investors and the analyst community to help them analyze
the health of our business. Adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP gross profit and margin should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, or superior
to, other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Margin

We define non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit excluding amortization of capitalized software, impairments related to decommissioning of end-of-life
systems, excess supplier costs and resulting liquidated damages, reduction in revenue, and revenue constraints. We define non-GAAP gross margin as
non-GAAP gross profit as a percentage of revenue.

We generally record the full purchase order value as revenue at the time of hardware delivery; however, for certain non-cancelable purchase orders
entered into during the first quarter of 2023, the final settlement amount payable to us is variable and indexed to the price per ton of lithium carbonate in the
first quarter of 2024 such that we may increase or decrease the final prices in such purchase orders based on the price per ton of lithium carbonate at final
settlement. Lithium carbonate is a key raw material used in the production of hardware systems that we ultimately sell to our customers. The total dollar
amount of such purchase orders for the indexed contracts was approximately $52.0 million. However, due to the pricing structure in such purchase orders,
we recorded revenue in the first quarter of 2023 of approximately $42.0 million, net of a $10.2 million revenue constraint, using a third party forecast of the
lithium carbonate trading value in the first quarter of 2024. Because we had not previously used indexed pricing in our customer contracts or purchase
orders and had not previously constrained revenue related to forecasted inputs of our hardware systems, we believe that including the $10.2 million revenue
constraint from the first quarter of 2023 into non-GAAP gross profit enhances the comparability to our non-GAAP gross profit in prior periods. Because the
purchase orders are variable and depend on the specified price per ton of lithium carbonate at the time of final measurement at the end of the first quarter of
2024, we are expected to receive, pursuant to such purchase orders, final consideration of at least approximately $34.0 million, subject to market conditions
upon settlement. We recorded the full cost of hardware revenue for these indexed contracts in the first quarter of 2023.

In the fourth quarter of 2023, we incurred costs of $2.7 million above initially agreed prices on the acquisition of certain hardware systems from one of
our suppliers, which resulted from production delays by such supplier. This in turn caused fulfillment and delivery delays on an order to one of our
customers, as a result of which we further incurred liquidated damages of $4.8 million under the customer contract. Because we had not previously incurred
costs above initially agreed prices with a hardware supplier and were subsequently required to pay liquidated damages to a customer, we excluded these
two items from adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP gross profit to better facilitate comparisons of our underlying operating performance across periods.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of gross profit and margin (GAAP) to non-GAAP gross profit and margin (in millions, except for
percentages):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Revenue $ 461.5 $ 363.0 

Cost of revenue (457.9) (329.9)

GAAP gross profit $ 3.6 $ 33.1 

GAAP gross margin (%) 1 % 9 %

Non-GAAP Gross Profit

GAAP Revenue $ 461.5 $ 363.0 

Add: Revenue constraint 10.2 — 

Add: Revenue reduction, net 35.1 — 

Add: Liquidated damages 4.8 — 

Subtotal 511.6 363.0 

Less: Cost of revenue (457.9) (329.9)

Add: Amortization of capitalized software & developed technology 13.5 10.7 

Add: Impairments 5.2 3.5 

Add: Excess supplier costs 2.7 — 

Non-GAAP gross profit $ 75.1 $ 47.3 

Non-GAAP gross margin (%) 15 % 13 %

(1) Refer to the discussion of revenue constraint in “— Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Margin” above.

(2) Refer to the discussion of reduction in revenue in “— Parent Company Guarantees” above.

(3) Refer to the discussion of excess supplier costs and resulting liquidated damages in “— Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Margin” above. Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies for a discussion on the accounting treatment of liquidated damages.

Adjusted EBITDA

As discussed above, we believe that adjusted EBITDA is useful for investors to use in comparing our financial performance with the performance of
other companies. Nonetheless, the expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may differ from the expenses and other
items, if any, that other companies may exclude when calculating adjusted EBITDA.

We calculate adjusted EBITDA as net loss attributable to us before depreciation and amortization, including amortization of internally developed
software, net interest expense, further adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation and other income and expense items, including the net gain on
extinguishment of debt, revenue constraint, reduction in revenue, excess supplier costs and resulting liquidated damages, change in fair value of derivative
liabilities, transaction and acquisition-related charges, litigation settlement, restructuring costs and income tax provision or benefit.

(1)

(2)

(3)

 (3)
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The following table provides a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net loss (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Net loss $ (140,413) $ (124,054)

Adjusted to exclude the following:

Depreciation and amortization 51,134 48,783 

Interest expense, net 14,977 10,468 

Gain on extinguishment of debt, net (59,121) — 

Stock-based compensation 45,109 28,661 

Revenue constraint 10,200 — 

Revenue reduction, net 35,051 — 

Excess supplier costs and resulting liquidated damages 7,554 — 

Change in fair value of derivative liability 7,731 — 

Transaction costs in connection with business combination — 6,068 

Litigation settlement — (727)

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 433 (15,161)

Other expenses 7,889 — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ (19,456) $ (45,962)

(1) Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation and amortization expense, impairment loss of energy storage systems, and impairment loss of project assets.
(2) Refer to the discussion of revenue constraint in “— Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Margin” above.
(3) Refer to the discussion of reduction in revenue in “— Parent Company Guarantees” above.
(4) Refer to the discussion of excess supplier costs and resulting liquidated damages in “— Non-GAAP Gross Profit and Margin” above.
(5) Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2023 reflects the exclusion of other expenses of $7.9 million. Other expenses are comprised of $5.6 million in

accruals for sales taxes, $1.3 million for expenses related to restructuring costs, $0.5 million for impairments, and $0.5 million of other non-recurring expenses.
Restructuring expenses consisted of employee severance and other exit costs.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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Financial Results and Key Metrics

The following table presents our financial results and our key metrics (in millions, except for percentages and unless otherwise noted):

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

(in millions)

Key Financial Metrics

Revenue $ 461.5 $ 363.0 

GAAP gross profit $ 3.6 $ 33.1 

GAAP gross margin (%) 1 % 9 %

Non-GAAP gross profit $ 75.1 $ 47.3 

Non-GAAP gross margin (%) 15 % 13 %

Net loss $ (140.4) $ (124.1)

Adjusted EBITDA $ (19.5) $ (46.0)

Key Operating Metrics

Bookings (1) $ 1,532.4 $ 1,056.9 

Contracted backlog* (2) 1,929.3 969.0 

Contracted storage AUM (in GWh)* (3) 5.5 3.1 

Solar monitoring AUM (in GW)* (4) 27.5 25.0

CARR* (5) 91.0 65.3

* at period end

(1) As described below.

(2) Total value of bookings in dollars, as reflected on a specific date.  Backlog increases as new contracts  are executed (bookings) and decreases as
integrated storage systems are delivered and recognized  as revenue.

(3) Total GWh of systems in operation or under contract. Contracted storage AUM as of December 31, 2022 has been adjusted from 2.5 GWh, as
previously disclosed, to 3.1 GWh. Revised AUM reflects adjustments to total GWh of energy storage systems to previously executed customer contracts as
a result of revisions to system configuration or changes in hardware specifications due to updates from the original equipment manufacturer.

(4) Total GW of systems in operation or under contract.

(5) Contracted Annual Recurring Revenue (CARR): Annual run rate for all executed software services contracts including contracts signed in the period for
systems that are not yet commissioned or operating.

Bookings

Due to the long-term nature of our contracts, bookings are a key metric that allows us to understand and evaluate the growth of our Company and our
estimated future revenue related to customer contracts for our energy optimization services and transfer of energy storage systems. Bookings represents
the accumulated value at a point in time of contracts that have been executed under both our host customer and partnership sales models.

For host customer sales, bookings represent the expected consideration from energy optimization services contracts, including estimated incentive
payments that are earned by the host customer from utility companies in relation to the services provided by us and assigned by the host customer to us.
For host customer sales, there are no differences between bookings and remaining performance obligations at any point in time.

For partnership sales, bookings are the sum of the expected consideration to be received from the transfer of hardware and energy optimization
services (excluding any potential revenues from market participation). For partnership sales, even though we have secured an executed contract with
estimated timing of project delivery and installation from the customer, we do not consider it a contract in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) ASU 2014-09 Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  (“ASC 606”), or a remaining performance obligation, until the customer
has placed a binding purchase order. A signed customer contract is considered a booking as this indicates the customer has agreed to place a purchase
order in the foreseeable future, which typically occurs within three months of contract execution. However, executed customer contracts, without binding
purchase orders, are cancellable without penalty by either party.
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For partnership sales, once a purchase order has been executed, the booking is considered to be a contract in accordance with ASC 606, and
therefore, gives rise to a remaining performance obligation as we have an obligation to transfer hardware and energy optimization services in our
partnership agreements. We also have the contractual right to receive consideration for our performance obligations.

The accounting policy and timing of revenue recognition for host customer contracts and partnership arrangements that qualify as contracts with
customers under ASC 606, are described within Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , in the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations and our liquidity and capital resources include the results of operations for AlsoEnergy
for the period from February 1, 2022. For additional information, including pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 calculated
as if AlsoEnergy had been acquired as of January 1, 2022, see Note 6 — Business Combinations, of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate services and other revenue and hardware revenue. Services and other revenue is mainly generated through arrangements with host
customers to provide energy optimization services using our proprietary software platform coupled with a dedicated energy storage system owned and
controlled by us throughout the term of the contract. Fees charged to customers for energy optimization services generally consist of recurring fixed monthly
payments throughout the term of the contract and in some arrangements, an installation and/or upfront fee component. We may also receive incentives from
utility companies in relation to the sale of our services. Services and other revenue also includes the sale of project assets. We separately generate services
revenue through partnership arrangements by providing energy optimization services after the developer completes the installation of the project.

We generate hardware revenue through partnership arrangements consisting of sales of energy storage system to solar plus storage project
developers. Performance obligations are satisfied when the energy storage system along with all ancillary hardware components are delivered. The
milestone payments received before the delivery of hardware are treated as deferred revenue. In certain customer contracts, we agreed to provide a
guarantee that the value of purchased hardware will not decline for a certain period of time, as more fully described below under Note 3 — Revenue, in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of services and other revenue includes depreciation of the cost of energy storage systems we own under long-term customer contracts, which
includes capitalized fulfillment costs, such as installation services, permitting and other related costs. Cost of services and other revenue also includes the
costs for the development and constructions of project assets. Cost of revenue may also include any impairment of inventory and energy storage systems,
along with system maintenance costs associated with the ongoing services provided to customers. Costs of revenue are recognized as energy optimization
and other supporting services are provided to our customers throughout the term of the contract.

Cost of hardware revenue generally includes the cost of the hardware purchased from a manufacturer, shipping, delivery, and other costs required to
fulfill our obligation to deliver the energy storage system to the customer location. Cost of hardware revenue may also include any impairment of energy
storage systems held in our inventory for sale to our customer. Cost of hardware revenue related to the sale of energy storage systems is recognized when
the delivery of the product is completed.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit fluctuates significantly from quarter to quarter. Gross profit, calculated as revenue less costs of revenue, has been, and will continue to
be, affected by various factors, including fluctuations in the amount and mix of revenue and the amount and timing of investments to expand our customer
base. Over the long term, we hope to increase both our gross profit in absolute dollars and gross margin as a percentage of revenue through enhanced
operational efficiency and economies of scale.
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Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense consists of payroll and other related personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based compensation, commissions,
bonuses, employee benefits, and travel for our sales and marketing personnel. In addition, sales and marketing expense includes trade show costs,
amortization of intangibles and other expenses. We expect our sales and marketing expense to increase in future periods to support the overall growth in
our business.

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists primarily of payroll and other related personnel costs for engineers and third parties engaged in the
design and development of products, third-party software and technologies, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation expense, project
material costs, services and depreciation. We expect research and development expense to increase in future periods to support our growth, including our
investments in optimization, accuracy and reliability of our platform and other technology improvements to support and drive efficiency in our operations.
These expenses may vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue, depending primarily upon when we choose to make more significant
investments.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense consists of payroll and other related personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based compensation, employee
benefits and expenses for executive management, legal, finance and other costs. In addition, general and administrative expense includes fees for
professional services and occupancy costs. We expect to continue to manage and reduce our general and administrative expense associated with scaling
our business operations and being a public company, including compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, legal, audit, additional insurance
expenses, investor relations activities, and other administrative and professional services.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net consists primarily of interest on our outstanding borrowings under our outstanding notes payable, convertible senior notes, and
financing obligations and accretion on our asset retirement obligations.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt, Net

Gain on extinguishment of debt, net consists of income recognized in relation to the prepayment of our outstanding borrowings under our outstanding
convertible notes and the write-off of any unamortized debt issuance costs associated with such notes.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability

Change in fair value of derivative liability is related to the revaluation of derivative feature within a revenue contract, whereby final settlement is indexed
to the price per ton of lithium carbonate.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists primarily of income from equity investments and foreign exchange gains or losses.
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Results of Operations

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Year Ended December 31,

$ Change % Change2023 2022

(In thousands, except percentages)

Revenue

Services and other revenue $ 62,548 $ 52,143 $ 10,405 20%

Hardware revenue 398,967 310,837 88,130 28%

Total revenue 461,515 362,980 98,535 27%

Cost of revenue

Cost of services and other revenue 50,298 43,153 7,145 17%

Cost of hardware revenue 407,552 286,735 120,817 42%

Total cost of revenue 457,850 329,888 127,962 39%

Gross profit 3,665 33,092 (29,427) (89)%

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 51,556 48,882 2,674 5%

Research and development 56,508 38,303 18,205 48%

General and administrative 74,915 77,028 (2,113) (3)%

Total operating expenses 182,979 164,213 18,766 11%

Loss from operations (179,314) (131,121) (48,193) 37%

Other income (expense), net

Interest expense, net (14,977) (10,468) (4,509) 43%

Gain on extinguishment of debt, net 59,121 — 59,121 *

Change in fair value of derivative liability (7,731) — (7,731) *

Other income, net 2,921 2,374 547 23%

Total other income (expense), net 39,334 (8,094) 47,428 (586)%

Loss before (provision for) benefit from income taxes (139,980) (139,215) (765) 1%

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes (433) 15,161 (15,594) (103)%

Net loss $ (140,413) $ (124,054) $ (16,359) 13%

*Percentage is not meaningful

Revenue

Total revenue increased by $98.5 million, or 27%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The
change was primarily driven by a $88.1 million increase in hardware revenue primarily due to an increase in demand for systems related to both FTM and
BTM partnership agreements. Services and other revenue increased by $10.4 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to an
increase in solar services subscriptions from existing and new customers.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased by $128.0 million, or 39%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was primarily driven by an increase of cost of hardware revenue of $120.8 million due to the increase in system costs. Cost of services and other
revenue also increased of $7.1 million, primarily due to solar cloud service costs and amortization of internally developed software costs .
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Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense increased by $2.7 million, or 5%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31,
2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $5.5 million in personnel related expenses driven by additional stock-based compensation expenses
and higher payroll costs, partially offset by a decrease of $1.7 million in amortization expense related to intangible assets from the acquisition of AlsoEnergy,
and a decrease of $1.1 million of professional services and other expenses.

Research and Development

Research and development expense increased by $18.2 million, or 48%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $12.9 million in personnel costs driven by additional stock-based compensation
expenses and higher payroll costs, and an increase of $5.3 million in professional services and other expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense decreased by $2.1 million, or 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily driven by a decrease of $9.6 million of professional services and other expenses, as well as a decrease of
$2.1 million in office-related expenses, partially offset by an increase of $4.0 million in personnel costs driven by additional stock-based compensation
expense, and an increase of $5.6 million in business taxes related to state sales tax liabilities.

Other Expense, Net

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense increased by $4.5 million, or 43%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase was primarily driven by an increase of $7.2 million in interest on our 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes, partially offset by the accretion of discount
on short-term investments of $1.8 million, a decrease of $0.7 million in interest on financing obligations, and a decrease in other interest expense of $0.2
million.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt, Net

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded a $59.4 million gain on extinguishment of debt driven by a $99.8 million payment to extinguish
approximately $163.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 2028 Convertible Notes. The gain was partially offset by a $0.3 million loss on
extinguishment of debt from repayment of our 2021 Credit Agreement.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liability

Unrealized losses relating to our derivative liability increased by $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022 due to the decrease in the price per ton of lithium carbonate.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased by $0.5 million, or 23%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The
net increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.9 million due to an increase in recognized accretion expense on assets, an increase of $0.3 million in
income from equity investments, and an increase of $0.9 million in interest income from short-term investments , partially offset by a $1.6 million realized
loss on short-term investments.

(Provision for) Benefit from Income Taxes

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recorded $0.4 million of income tax expense. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded
an income tax benefit of $15.2 million due to the partial release of our deferred tax asset valuation due to the acquisition of AlsoEnergy.

A comparative discussion of our 2022 to 2021 results of operations can be found in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with
the SEC on February 17, 2023.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Liquidity describes the ability of a company to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the cash requirements of its business operations, including working
capital needs, debt service, acquisitions, contractual obligations and other commitments. We assess liquidity in terms of our cash flows from operations and
their sufficiency to fund our operating and investing activities. To meet our payment service obligations, we must have sufficient liquid assets and be able to
move funds on a timely basis. Significant factors in the management of liquidity are funds generated from operations, levels of accounts receivable and
accounts payable and capital expenditures.

As of December 31, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $113.6 million, which were held
for working capital purposes and for investment growth opportunities. Our marketable securities generally consist of high-grade commercial paper, agency
bonds, and U.S. government agency securities. As of December 31, 2023, we had net accounts receivable of $302.8 million and our working capital, which
we define as current assets less current liabilities, was $221.9 million. We believe that our cash position is sufficient to meet our capital and liquidity
requirements for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our business prospects are subject to risks, expenses and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of commercial
operations. The attainment of profitable operations is dependent upon future events, including obtaining adequate financing to complete our development
activities, obtaining adequate supplier relationships, building our customer base, successfully executing our business and marketing strategy and hiring
appropriate personnel. Failure to generate sufficient revenues, achieve planned gross margins and operating profitability, control operating costs, or secure
additional funding may require us to modify, delay, or abandon some of our planned future expansion or development, or to otherwise enact operating cost
reductions available to management, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

In the future, we may be required to obtain additional equity or debt financing in order to support our continued capital expenditures and operations,
which may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand our
operations and invest in new technologies, this could reduce our ability to compete successfully and harm our business, growth and results of operations.

Our long-term liquidity requirements are linked primarily to the continued extension of the Athena platform and supporting applications, including Athena
PowerTrack, and the use of our balance sheet to improve the terms and conditions associated with the purchase of energy storage systems from our
hardware vendors. While we have plans to potentially expand our geographical footprint beyond our current partnerships and enter into joint ventures, those
are not required initiatives to achieve our plans.

Financing Obligations

We have entered into arrangements wherein we finance the cost of energy storage systems via special purpose entities (“SPEs”) we establish with
outside investors. These SPEs are not consolidated into our financial statements, but are accounted for as equity method investments. The investors
provide us upfront payments through the SPEs. Under these arrangements, the payment by the SPE to us is accounted for as a borrowing by recording the
proceeds received as a financing obligation. The financing obligation is repaid with the future customer payments and incentives received. A portion of the
amounts paid to the SPE is allocated to interest expense using the effective interest rate method. Furthermore, we continue to account for the revenues
from customer arrangements and incentives and all associated costs despite such systems being legally sold to the SPEs due to our significant continuing
involvement in the operations of the energy storage systems. The total financing obligation as of December 31, 2023 was $66.8 million, of which
$14.8 million was classified as a current liability.

Notes Payable

2021 Credit Agreement

In January 2021, we entered into a non-recourse credit agreement to provide a total of $2.7 million towards the financing of certain energy storage
systems that we owned and operated (the “2021 Credit Agreement”). The credit agreement had a stated interest of 5.45% and a maturity date of June 2031.
We received an advance under the credit agreement of $1.8 million in January 2021. The repayment of advances received under this credit agreement was
determined by the lender based on the proceeds generated by us through the operation of the underlying energy storage systems. On April 6, 2023, we
repaid the remaining outstanding balance under the 2021 Credit Agreement with a portion of the proceeds received from the issuance of the 2030
Convertible Notes. The facility was terminated after the repayment in April 2023. See Note 12 — Notes Payable in
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the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for additional details regarding this transaction

2028 Green Convertible Senior Notes

On November 22, 2021, we sold to Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Barclays Capital Inc, as initial purchasers (the “2021
Initial Purchasers”), and the 2021 Initial Purchasers purchased from us, $460.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 0.50% Green Convertible Notes
due 2028 (the “2028 Convertible Notes”), pursuant to a purchase agreement dated as of November 17, 2021, by and between us and the 2021 Initial
Purchasers. Our net proceeds from this offering were approximately $445.7 million, after deducting the 2021 Initial Purchasers’ discounts and commissions
and the estimated offering expenses payable by us. The 2028 Convertible Notes will accrue interest payable semi-annually in arrears and will mature on
December 1, 2028, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. Upon conversion, we may choose
to pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. The 2028 Convertible Notes
are redeemable for cash at our option at any time given certain conditions. Refer to Note 13 — Convertible Notes, in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional details regarding this transaction.

On November 17, 2021, in connection with the pricing of the 2028 Convertible Notes, and on November 19, 2021, in connection with the exercise in full
by the 2021 Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional 2028 Convertible Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with certain of the
2021 Initial Purchasers of the 2028 Convertible Notes to minimize the potential dilution to our common stockholders upon conversion of the 2028
Convertible Notes. We used approximately $66.7 million of the net proceeds from the 2028 Convertible Notes to pay the cost of the capped call transactions
described above. We intend to allocate an amount equivalent to the net proceeds from this offering to finance or refinance, in whole or in part, existing or
new eligible green expenditures of Stem, including investments related to creating a more resilient clean energy system, optimized software capabilities for
energy systems, and reducing waste through operations.
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On April 3, 2023, we used approximately $99.8 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 4.25% Green Convertible Senior Notes due 2030
(“2030 Convertible Notes”) to purchase and surrender for cancellation approximately $163.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 2028 Convertible
Notes. See Note 13 — Convertible Notes,  in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional details regarding this transaction .

2030 Convertible Notes

On April 3, 2023, we issued $240.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 2030 Convertible Notes in a private placement offering to qualified
institutional buyers (the “2023 Initial Purchasers”) pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The 2030 Convertible Notes are
senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 4.25% per year, payable in cash semi-annually in arrears in April and October of
each year, beginning in October 1, 2023. Th 2030 Convertible Notes will mature on April 1, 2030, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted in
accordance with their terms prior to such date. Upon conversion, we may choose to pay or deliver cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash
and shares of common stock. The 2030 Convertible Notes are redeemable for cash at our option at any time given certain conditions. See Note 13 —
Convertible Notes, of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional details regarding this transaction .

Our net proceeds from this offering were approximately $232.4 million, after deducting for $7.6 million of debt issuance costs primarily consisting of
underwriters, advisory, legal, and accounting fees. We used approximately $99.8 million of the net proceeds to purchase and surrender for cancellation
approximately $163.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 2028 Convertible Notes.

On March 29, 2023 and March 31, 2023, in connection with the pricing of the 2030 Convertible Notes, and on April 3, 2023, in connection with the
exercise in full by the 2023 Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional 2030 Convertible Notes, we entered into Capped Calls (the “2030 Capped
Calls”) with certain counterparties. We used $27.8 million of the net proceeds from the 2030 Convertible Notes to pay the cost of the 2030 Capped Calls.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Net cash used in operating activities $ (207,377) $ (106,030)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 135,727 (544,373)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 90,238 (9,272)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (16) (202)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 18,572 $ (659,877)

Operating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $207.4 million, primarily due to our net loss of $140.4 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $50.6 million and a net cash outflow of $117.6 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges
primarily consisted of depreciation and amortization of $46.3 million, non-cash interest expense of $2.6 million related to debt issuance costs, stock-based
compensation expense of $45.1 million, change in fair value of derivative liability of $7.7 million, non-cash lease expense of $2.9 million, impairment of
energy storage systems of $4.7 million, impairment loss of project assets of $0.2 million, provision for accounts receivable allowance of $1.4 million, and net
recognized loss on investments of $1.6 million, partially offset by a net gain on debt extinguishment of $59.1 million, an income tax benefit of $0.3 million,
net accretion of discount on investments of $1.8 million, and other non-cash items of $0.7 million. The net cash outflow from changes in operating assets
and liabilities was primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable of $80.9 million, an increase in inventory of $18.3 million, an increase in other
assets of $18.0 million, an increase in contract origination costs of $5.9 million, an increase in project assets of $5.4 million, a decrease in accrued
expenses of $15.8 million, a decrease in accounts payable of $5.2 million, and a decrease in lease liabilities, net of $2.9 million, partially offset by a
decrease in deferred costs with suppliers of $30.3 million, and an increase in deferred revenue of $4.6 million.
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $106.0 million, primarily due to our net loss of $124.1 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $70.3 million and net cash outflow of $52.3 million from changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges
primarily consisted of depreciation and amortization of $45.4 million, non-cash interest expense of $1.9 million related to debt issuance costs, stock-based
compensation expense of $28.7 million, non-cash lease expense of $2.3 million, impairment of energy storage systems of $2.6 million, loss on disposal of
property and equipment of $0.3 million, impairment loss of project assets of $0.5 million, provision for accounts receivable allowance of $3.6 million, and
other non-cash items of $0.2 million, partially offset by an income tax benefit of $15.1 million, and net accretion of discount on investments of $0.1 million.
The net cash outflow from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily driven by an increase in accounts receivable of $155.8 million, an
increase in deferred costs with suppliers of $37.1 million, an increase in other assets of $29.4 million, an increase in contract origination costs of
$9.6 million, an increase in project assets of $3.7 million, a decrease in lease liabilities, net of $1.6 million, partially offset by a decrease in inventory of
$18.6 million, an increase in accounts payable of $53.3 million, an increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $62.2 million, and an increase in
deferred revenue of $51.0 million.

Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $135.7 million, primarily consisting of $155.7 million in net
proceeds of available-for-sale investments, partially offset by $1.8 million used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, $2.6 million used for the purchase of
energy systems, $14.1 million in capital expenditures on internally-developed software, and $1.5 million used for the purchase of property and equipment.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in investing activities was $544.4 million, primarily consisting of $533.0 million used for our
acquisition of AlsoEnergy, net of cash acquired, $2.6 million used for the purchase of energy systems, $16.8 million in capital expenditures on internally-
developed software, $0.1 million used for the purchase of equity method investment, and $1.5 million used for the purchase of property plant and
equipment, partially offset by $9.6 million in net proceeds of available-for-sale investments.

Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was $90.2 million, primarily consisting of proceeds from issuance
of convertible notes of $232.4 million, and proceeds from exercise of stock options of $0.3 million, partially offset by the repayment of $99.8 million for the
partial cancellation of our 2028 Convertible Notes, the repayment of financing obligations of $12.7 million, the purchase of capped calls of $27.8 million, the
repayment of notes payable of $2.1 million, and a redemption of non-controlling interest of $0.1 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in financing activities was $9.3 million, primarily consisting of payments for withholding taxes
related to net share settlement of stock options of $2.3 million, repayment of financing obligations of $10.3 million, partially offset by proceeds from exercise
of stock options of $1.3 million, proceeds from financing obligations of $1.5 million, and an investment from non-controlling interest of $0.5 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The contractual obligations presented in the table below represent our estimates of future payments under fixed contractual obligations and
commitments. Changes in our business needs, cancellation provisions and changes in interest rates, as well as action by third parties and other factors,
may cause these estimates to change. Therefore, our actual payments in future periods may vary from those presented in the table below. We generally
expect to satisfy these commitments with cash on hand and cash provided by operating activities.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands).

Less than More than

Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Interest on 2028 Convertible Notes $ 7,302 $ 1,485 $ 2,970 $ 2,847 $ — 

Interest on 2030 Convertible Notes 63,750 10,200 20,400 20,400 12,750 

Operating lease obligations 15,224 3,620 5,869 5,339 396 

Non-cancelable purchase
obligations 6,736 3,741 2,713 282 — 

Total $ 93,012 $ 19,046 $ 31,952 $ 28,868 $ 13,146 

See Note 8 — Leases and Note 13 — Convertible Notes, in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more details.
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We do not consider our financing obligations as contractual obligations, as our repayments of such obligations are required only to the extent payments
are collected in relation to the operation of the underlying energy storage systems. The obligation is nonrecourse and there are no contractual commitments
to pay specific amounts at any point in time throughout the life of the obligation.

We are not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements, including guarantee contracts, retained or contingent interests, or unconsolidated variable
interest entities that either have, or would reasonably be expected to have, a current or future material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements. Our consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. We base our estimates on past
experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Our critical accounting policies are those that materially affect our consolidated financial statements and involve difficult, subjective or complex
judgments by management. A thorough understanding of these critical accounting policies is essential when reviewing our consolidated financial
statements. We believe that the critical accounting policies listed below involve the most difficult management decisions because they require the use of
significant estimates and assumptions as described above.

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We
believe that the following critical accounting policies reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue through host customer arrangements, partnership arrangements, and sales of project assets. We apply judgment during the
identification of a contract to determine the customer’s ability and intent to pay, which is based on a variety of factors, including the customer’s historical
payment experience or, in the case of a new customer, credit and financial information pertaining to the customer.

For contracts that contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price for each contract to each performance obligation based on
the relative standalone selling price, or SSP for each performance obligation. We use judgment in determining the SSP for our products and services. We
typically assess the SSP for our products and services on an annual basis or when facts and circumstances change. To determine SSP, we maximize the
use of observable standalone sales and observable data, where available. In instances where performance obligations do not have observable standalone
sales, we utilize available information that may include other observable inputs or use the expected cost-plus margin approach to estimate the price we
would charge if the products and services were sold separately. The expected cost-plus margin approach is currently used to determine SSP for each
distinct performance obligation for sale of hardware.

In some cases, the total transaction price is determined based on the total consideration specified in the contract, including variable consideration in the
form of a performance guaranty payment that represents potential amounts payable to customers. The expected value method is generally used when
estimating variable consideration, which typically reduces the total transaction price due to the nature of the performance obligations to which the variable
consideration relates. These estimates reflect our historical experience and current contractual requirements which cap the maximum amount that may be
paid. The expected value method requires judgment and considers multiple factors that may vary over time depending upon the unique facts and
circumstances related to each performance obligation. Depending on the facts and circumstances, a change in variable consideration estimate will either be
accounted for at the contract level or using the portfolio method.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment on annual basis. If circumstances change during interim periods between annual tests that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, we will test goodwill for impairment. Factors that would necessitate an interim goodwill
impairment assessment include a sustained decline in our stock price, or prolonged negative industry or economic trends. Management uses judgment to
determine whether to use a qualitative analysis or a quantitative fair value measurement for our goodwill impairment testing. Our fair value measurement
approach combines the income and market valuation techniques for our reporting unit. These valuation techniques use estimates and assumptions
including, but not limited to, the determination of appropriate market comparables, projected future cash flows (including timing and profitability), discount
rate reflecting the risk inherent in future cash flows, perpetual growth rate, and
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projected future economic and market conditions. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on either the fair value, the amount of any
goodwill impairment charge, or both.

We conducted our fiscal 2023 annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2023 and utilized the quantitative approach. We used discounted cash
flows (“DCF”), and market approaches to estimate the fair value of our reporting unit. We believe we used reasonable estimates and assumptions about
future revenue, cost projections, cash flows, market multiples and discount rates as of the measurement date. After this analysis, we determined that all of
our reporting units had fair values exceeding their carrying values.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including energy storage systems, and intangible assets with finite lives, are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Factors that we analyze in determining whether an impairment in our
long-lived assets exists include determining if a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset is present; a significant adverse change in the
extent to which a long-lived asset is being used in its physical condition; legal proceedings or factors; significant business climate changes; accumulations of
costs in significant excess of the amounts expected; a current-period operating or cash flow loss coupled with historical negative cash flows or expected
future negative cash flows; and current expectations that more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the
end of its estimated useful life.

When an impairment indicator is present, we determine if the carrying value of the asset is recoverable by comparing it to its expected undiscounted
future cash flows. If the asset group is not recoverable, the impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the carrying value over the fair value. Key
estimates in the undiscounted cash flow model include management’s estimate of the projected revenues and operating margins. If fair value is used to
determine an impairment loss, an additional key assumption is the selection of a weighted-average cost of capital to discount cash flows. We recorded
impairment charges for energy storage systems amounting to $4.7 million in during the year ended December 31, 2023 .

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements may be found in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position because of adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our
market risk exposure is primarily a result of exposure resulting from potential changes in inflation, exchange rates or interest rates. We do not hold financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our expenses are generally denominated in U.S. dollars. However, we have foreign currency risks related to our revenue and operating expenses
denominated in Canadian dollars. We have entered into contracts with customers and a limited number of supply contracts with vendors with payments
denominated in foreign currencies. We are subject to foreign currency transaction gains or losses on our contracts denominated in foreign currencies. To
date, foreign currency transaction gains and losses have not been material to our financial statements.

Unfavorable changes in foreign exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar could increase our product costs, thus reducing our gross profit. We have not
engaged in the hedging of foreign currency transactions to date, although we may choose to do so in the future. We do not believe that an immediate 10%
increase or decrease in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other currencies would have a material effect on operating results or financial condition.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or yield of fixed-income investments may decline if interest rates change. Fluctuations in interest rates may
impact the level of interest expense recorded on outstanding borrowings. Our 2028 Convertible Notes, 2030 Convertible Notes, and financing obligations
bear interest at a fixed rate and are not publicly traded. Therefore, the fair value of our 2028 and 2030 Convertible Notes, financing obligations and interest
expense is not materially affected by changes in the market interest rates. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments, including interest rate
swaps, for hedging or speculative purposes.

55



Credit Risk

We routinely assess the creditworthiness of our customers. We generally have not experienced any material losses related to receivables from
individual customers, or groups of customers, during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. We do not require collateral. Due to these factors, no
additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for collection losses is believed by management to be probable in our accounts receivable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Stem, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Stem, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical
audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue – Partnership Arrangements — Refer to Notes 2, 3, and 5 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

Partnership arrangements consist of promises to transfer inventory in the form of an energy storage system to a “solar plus storage” project developer and
to separately provide energy optimization services to the ultimate owner of the project after the developer completes the installation of the project. Under
partnership arrangements, the Company’s customer is the “solar plus storage” project developer. The Company determined the promise to deliver the
inventory as a component of the solar plus storage project for which the customer is responsible to develop is a separate and distinct performance
obligation from the promise to provide energy optimization services. The Company determines the transaction price at the outset of the arrangement,
primarily based on the contractual payment terms dictated by the contract with the customer. Fees charged to customers for energy optimization services
consist of recurring fixed monthly payments throughout the term of the contract. Fees charged for the sale of inventory generally consist of fixed fees
payable upon or shortly after successful delivery to the customer. For certain customer contracts, the terms of the arrangement provide for variable
consideration. The Company accounts for such contractual terms as variable consideration at each measurement date at its most likely amount. In certain
revenue contracts, the final settlement is indexed to the price per ton of lithium carbonate, which results in an embedded derivative feature that should be
considered for bifurcation and accounting recognition separate from the revenue contract. The Company allocates revenue between the hardware and
energy storage services performance obligations based on the standalone selling price of each performance obligation. The standalone selling price for the
hardware is established based on observable
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pricing. The standalone selling price for the energy optimization services is established using a residual value approach due to the significant variability in
the services provided to each individual customer based on the specific requirements of each individual project and the lack of observable standalone sales
of such services.

The Company transfers control of the inventory upon delivery and simultaneous transfer of title to the customer. The Company transfers control of its energy
optimization services to its customers continuously throughout the term of the contract (a stand-ready obligation), which does not commence until the
customer successfully completes the installation of the project. As a result, the time frame between when the Company transfers control of the inventory to
the customer upon delivery is generally several months, and can be in excess of one year, before the Company is required to perform any subsequent
energy optimization services. Revenue is recognized ratably as control of these services is transferred to its customers based on a time-based output
measure of progress of days elapsed over the term of the contract, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in
exchange for its services.

We identified the Company’s accounting for the partnership arrangements as a critical audit matter because of (1) the complexity of certain revenue
contracts with derivative features, and the significant judgment used by management to determine whether the derivative feature should be bifurcated and
accounted separately from the revenue contracts in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and (2)
management’s judgment to determine the most likely amount of variable consideration at each measurement date. This required a high degree of auditor
judgment and an increased extent of effort in auditing the judgments and estimates made in allocating revenue and determining the most likely amount of
variable consideration, including the need to involve professionals with expertise in accounting for revenue contracts with derivative features when
performing audit procedures to evaluate management’s accounting for such contracts.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to revenue from partnership agreements included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of the controls relevant to the revenue process.

• For partnership arrangements with embedded derivative features, we performed the following procedures:

– Obtained and evaluated the Company’s accounting memoranda and other documentation regarding the application of the relevant
accounting guidance to the revenue contracts with derivative features.

– Obtained, read, and compared the underlying terms and conditions of the relevant contracts and contract amendments, if any, to the
Company’s accounting memoranda and other documentation, and tested management’s identification of significant terms and conditions.

– Evaluated the Company’s conclusions regarding the accounting treatment applied to the revenue contracts with derivative features, with
the assistance of professionals with expertise in accounting for revenue contracts.

– Tested the allocation of the contract value between the primary performance obligation and the embedded derivative.

• For remaining partnership arrangements, we selected a sample of contracts with customers and performed the following procedures:

– Obtained and read the contracts and contract amendments, if any, and tested management’s identification of significant terms and
conditions.

– Tested management’s identification of distinct performance obligations by evaluating whether the underlying goods, services, or both were
highly interdependent and interrelated.

– Evaluated management’s estimate of variable consideration for reasonableness.

– Evaluated the timing of revenue recognition for each performance obligation through obtaining signed proof of delivery documents.

– Tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s calculation of revenue recognized in the financial statements.

• We evaluated the sufficiency of the disclosures related to revenue from Partnership Arrangements in the financial statements.
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Goodwill— Refer to Notes 2 and 7 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least annually or more often if circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The Company has one reporting unit
and as a result, goodwill has been assigned to the single reporting unit. For 2023, the Company performed its annual impairment test utilizing the
quantitative approach. The Company’s fair value measurement approach combines the income and market valuation techniques for the Company’s
reporting unit. These valuation techniques use estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to, the determination of appropriate market
comparables, projected future cash flows (including timing and profitability), a discount rate reflecting the risk inherent in future cash flows, a perpetual
growth rate, and projected future economic and market conditions. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on either the fair value,
the amount of any goodwill impairment charge, or both. The goodwill balance was $547.2 million as of December 31, 2023. The Company determined that
no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill was required.

We identified the annual impairment test of goodwill as a critical audit matter because of the significant judgments made by management to estimate the fair
value of the Company’s reporting unit. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our
fair value specialists, when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s estimates and assumptions related to the
determination of appropriate market comparables, projected future cash flows, the selection of the discount rate and the selection of the perpetual growth
rate.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the determination of appropriate market comparables, projected future cash flows, the selection of the discount rate, and the
selection of the perpetual growth rate used by management to estimate the fair value included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls over management's goodwill impairment test, including those over the determination of the fair value, such
as controls related to management's determination of appropriate market comparables, projected future cash flows, the selection of the discount
rate, and the selection of the perpetual growth rate.

• We evaluated management's ability to accurately projected cash flows by comparing actual results to management's historical forecasts.

• We evaluated the reasonableness of management's projected cash flows by comparing the forecasts to (1) historical results, (2) internal
communications to management and the Board of Directors, and (3) forecasted information included in the industry reports and analyst reports of
the Company and companies in its peer group.

• With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the valuation methodology, the discount rate, and the
perpetual growth rate, including testing the underlying source information and the mathematical accuracy of the calculations, and developing a
range of independent estimates and comparing those to the discount rate and the perpetual growth rate selected by management.

• With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the market multiples, including testing the underlying source information and
mathematical accuracy of the calculations, and comparing the multiples selected by management to its guideline companies.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

February 28, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.
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STEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 105,375  $ 87,903  

Short-term investments 8,219  162,074  

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $ 4,904 and $ 3,879 as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 302,848  223,219  

Inventory, net 26,665  8,374  

Deferred costs with suppliers 20,555  43,159  

Other current assets (includes $ 73 and $ 74 due from related parties as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,

respectively) 9,303  8,026  

Total current assets 472,965  532,755  

Energy storage systems, net 74,418  90,757  

Contract origination costs, net 11,119  11,697  

Goodwill 547,205  546,649  

Intangible assets, net 157,146  162,265  

Operating lease right-of-use assets 12,255  12,431  

Other noncurrent assets 81,869  65,339  

Total assets $ 1,356,977  $ 1,421,893  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 78,277  $ 83,831  

Accrued liabilities 76,873  85,258  

Accrued payroll 14,372  12,466  

Financing obligation, current portion 14,835  15,720  

Deferred revenue, current portion 53,997  64,311  

Other current liabilities (includes $ 31 and $ 687 due to related parties as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,

respectively) 12,726  5,412  

Total current liabilities 251,080  266,998  

Deferred revenue, noncurrent 88,650  73,763  

Asset retirement obligation 4,052  4,262  

Notes payable, noncurrent —  1,603  

Convertible notes, noncurrent 523,633  447,909  

Financing obligation, noncurrent 52,010  63,867  

Lease liabilities, noncurrent 10,455  10,962  

Other liabilities 416  362  

Total liabilities 930,296  869,726  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $ 0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively;

zero shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively —  —  

Common stock, $ 0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022;

155,932,880 and 154,540,197 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 16  15  

Additional paid-in capital 1,198,716  1,185,364  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ( 42 ) ( 1,672 )

Accumulated deficit ( 772,494 ) ( 632,081 )

Total Stem's stockholders’ equity 426,196  551,626  

Non-controlling interests 485  541  

Total stockholders’ equity 426,681  552,167  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,356,977  $ 1,421,893  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Revenue

Services and other revenue $ 62,548  $ 52,143  $ 20,463  

Hardware revenue 398,967  310,837  106,908  

Total revenue 461,515  362,980  127,371  

Cost of revenue

Cost of services and other revenue 50,298  43,153  28,177  

Cost of hardware revenue 407,552  286,735  97,947  

Total cost of revenue 457,850  329,888  126,124  

Gross profit 3,665  33,092  1,247  

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 51,556  48,882  19,950  

Research and development 56,508  38,303  22,723  

General and administrative 74,915  77,028  41,648  

Total operating expenses 182,979  164,213  84,321  

Loss from operations ( 179,314 ) ( 131,121 ) ( 83,074 )

Other income (expense), net

Interest expense, net ( 14,977 ) ( 10,468 ) ( 17,395 )

Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt, net 59,121  —  ( 5,064 )

Change in fair value of derivative liability ( 7,731 ) —  —  

Change in fair value of warrants and embedded derivatives —  —  3,424  

Other income, net 2,921  2,374  898  

Total other income (expense), net 39,334  ( 8,094 ) ( 18,137 )

Loss before (provision for) benefit from income taxes ( 139,980 ) ( 139,215 ) ( 101,211 )

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes ( 433 ) 15,161  —  

Net loss $ ( 140,413 ) $ ( 124,054 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Net loss per share attributable to Stem common shareholders, basic and diluted $ ( 0.90 ) $ ( 0.81 ) $ ( 0.96 )

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share to Stem common shareholders,
basic and diluted 155,583,957  153,413,743  105,561,139  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ ( 140,413 ) $ ( 124,054 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities 1,676  ( 1,507 ) ( 175 )

Foreign currency translation adjustment ( 46 ) ( 185 ) 387  

Total other comprehensive loss $ ( 138,783 ) $ ( 125,746 ) $ ( 100,999 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
 Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Non-
controlling
Interests

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount

Balance as of January 1, 2021 40,202,785  $ 4  $ 230,620  $ ( 192 ) $ ( 407,841 ) $ —  $ ( 177,409 )

Merger and PIPE financing (Note 1) 70,428,326  7  248,137  — — — 248,144  

Conversion of warrants into common stock upon Merger

(Note 14) 2,759,970  — 60,568  — — — 60,568  

Conversion of convertible notes into common stock

(Note 13) 10,921,548  1  77,747  — — — 77,748  

Exchange of warrants into common stock (Note 14) 4,683,349  1  168,646  — — — 168,647  

Issuance of common stock warrants for services (Note 14) — — 9,183  — — — 9,183  

Public Warrants exercises (Note 14) 12,638,723  1  312,115  — — — 312,116  

Issuance of 2028 Convertible Notes, net (Note 13) — — 130,979  — — — 130,979  

Purchase of capped call options (Note 13) — — ( 66,700 ) — — — ( 66,700 )

Stock option exercises, net of statutory tax withholdings 2,667,384  — ( 9,574 ) — — — ( 9,574 )

Legacy stock warrant exercises (Note 14) 369,539  — 418  — — — 418  

Stock-based compensation — — 14,706  — — — 14,706  

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities — — — ( 175 ) — — ( 175 )

Foreign currency translation gain — — — 387  — — 387  

Net loss — — — — ( 101,211 ) — ( 101,211 )

Balance as of December 31, 2021 144,671,624  14  1,176,845  20  ( 509,052 ) —  667,827  

Cumulative-effect adjustment upon adoption of ASU

2020-06 (Note 13) — — ( 130,979 ) — 1,598  — ( 129,381 )

Cumulative-effect adjustment upon adoption of ASU

2016-13 (Note 2) — — — — ( 573 ) — ( 573 )

Common stock issued upon business combination

(Note 6) 8,621,006  1  108,882  — — — 108,883  

Stock option exercises, net of statutory tax withholdings 1,019,552  — ( 1,178 ) — — — ( 1,178 )

Issuance of common stock upon release of restricted

stock units 206,914  — — — — — — 

Shares issued for exercise of warrants 21,101  — 150  — — — 150  

Stock-based compensation — — 31,644  — — — 31,644  

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities — — — ( 1,507 ) — — ( 1,507 )

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — ( 185 ) — — ( 185 )

Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — — — 541  541  

Net loss — — — — ( 124,054 ) — ( 124,054 )

Balance as of December 31, 2022 154,540,197  $ 15  $ 1,185,364  $ ( 1,672 ) $ ( 632,081 ) $ 541  $ 552,167  

Stock option exercises, net of statutory tax withholdings 125,534  — 276  — — — 276  

Issuance of common stock upon release of restricted

stock units 1,267,149  1  — — — — 1  

Stock-based compensation — — 40,916  — — — 40,916  

Purchase of capped call options (Note 13) — — ( 27,840 ) — — — ( 27,840 )

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities — — — 1,676  — — 1,676  

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — ( 46 ) — — ( 46 )

Redemption of non-controlling interests — — — — — ( 56 ) ( 56 )

Net loss — — — — ( 140,413 ) — ( 140,413 )

Balance as of December 31, 2023 155,932,880  $ 16  $ 1,198,716  $ ( 42 ) $ ( 772,494 ) $ 485  $ 426,681  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STEM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ ( 140,413 ) $ ( 124,054 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 46,275  45,434  24,473  

Non-cash interest expense, including interest expenses associated with debt issuance costs 2,602  1,901  9,648  

Stock-based compensation 45,109  28,661  13,546  

Change in fair value of derivative liability 7,731  —  —  

Change in fair value of warrant liability and embedded derivative —  —  ( 3,424 )

Non-cash lease expense 2,928  2,328  896  

Accretion of asset retirement obligations 234  243  229  

Impairment loss of energy storage systems 4,683  2,571  4,320  

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment —  276  —  

Impairment loss of project assets 176  502  —  

Issuance of warrants for services —  —  9,183  

Net (accretion of discount) amortization of premium on investments ( 1,755 ) ( 123 ) 664  

Income tax benefit from release of valuation allowance ( 335 ) ( 15,100 ) —  

Provision for accounts receivable allowance 1,447  3,590  —  

Net loss on investments 1,561  —  —  

Gain on extinguishment of debt, net ( 59,121 ) —  — 

Other ( 949 ) 3  ( 50 )

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable ( 80,887 ) ( 155,817 ) ( 48,125 )

Inventory ( 18,291 ) 18,606  ( 1,877 )

Deferred costs with suppliers 30,322  ( 37,134 ) ( 7,540 )

Other assets ( 18,036 ) ( 29,420 ) ( 17,243 )

Contract origination costs, net ( 5,924 ) ( 9,612 ) ( 2,622 )

Project assets ( 5,392 ) ( 3,711 ) —  

Accounts payable ( 5,241 ) 53,260  16,329  

Accrued expense and other liabilities ( 15,762 ) 62,210  17,007  

Deferred revenue 4,573  51,005  ( 14,967 )

Operating lease liabilities, net ( 2,912 ) ( 1,649 ) ( 502 )

Net cash used in operating activities ( 207,377 ) ( 106,030 ) ( 101,266 )

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ( 1,847 ) ( 533,009 ) —  

Purchase of available-for-sale investments ( 60,002 ) ( 220,640 ) ( 189,858 )

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investments 141,810  219,264  —  

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 73,917  10,930  16,011  

Purchase of energy storage systems ( 2,634 ) ( 2,606 ) ( 3,604 )

Capital expenditures on internally-developed software ( 14,097 ) ( 16,767 ) ( 5,970 )

Distribution from (purchase of) equity method investment 85  ( 50 ) ( 1,212 )

Purchase of property and equipment ( 1,505 ) ( 1,495 ) ( 600 )

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 135,727  ( 544,373 ) ( 185,233 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 276  1,276  148,532  

Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of stock options —  ( 2,302 ) ( 12,622 )

Net contributions from Merger and PIPE financing, net of transaction costs of $ 58,061 —  —  550,322  

Proceeds from financing obligations —  1,519  7,839  

Repayment of financing obligations ( 12,686 ) ( 10,306 ) ( 9,587 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs of $ 7,601 , $ 0 and $ 14,299 for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively 232,399  —  446,827  

Repayment of convertible notes ( 99,754 ) —  —  

Purchase of capped call options ( 27,840 ) —  ( 66,700 )

Proceeds from issuance of notes payable, net of issuance costs of $ 0 , $ 0 and $ 0 for the years
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively —  —  3,930  

(Redemption of) investment from non-controlling interests ( 56 ) 541  —  

Repayment of notes payable ( 2,101 ) —  ( 41,446 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 90,238  ( 9,272 ) 1,027,095  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 16 ) ( 202 ) 242  

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 18,572  ( 659,877 ) 740,838  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 87,903  747,780  6,942  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 106,475  $ 87,903  $ 747,780  

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest $ 14,588  $ 6,407  $ 10,188  

Cash paid for income taxes $ 235  $ 285  $ —  

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Change in asset retirement costs and asset retirement obligation $ 443  $ 116  $ 231  

Exchange of warrants for common stock $ —  $ —  $ 168,647  

Conversion of warrants upon Merger $ —  $ —  $ 60,568  

Conversion of convertible notes upon Merger $ —  $ —  $ 77,748  

Conversion of accrued interest into outstanding note payable $ —  $ —  $ 337  

Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lease liability $ 2,782  $ 428  $ 13,337  

Settlement of warrant liability into common stock due to exercise $ —  $ —  $ 167,050  

Settlement of warrant liability into common stock due to redemption $ —  $ —  $ 2,121  

Stock-based compensation capitalized to internal-use software $ 4,331  $ 2,983  $ 1,160  

Purchase of energy storage systems in accounts payable $ —  $ 172  $ —  

RECONCILIATION OF CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH WITHIN THE
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS TO THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN THE STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS ABOVE:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 105,375  $ 87,903  $ 747,780  

Restricted cash included in other noncurrent assets 1,100  —  —  

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 106,475  $ 87,903  $ 747,780  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STEM, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.     BUSINESS

Description of the Business

Stem, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries (“Stem,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”), is a global leader in artificial intelligence (“AI”) -
driven clean energy solutions and services. The Company maintains one of the world’s largest digitally connected, intelligent, renewable energy networks,
providing customers with (i) energy storage hardware, sourced from leading, global battery original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), that the Company
delivers through its partners, including developers, distributors and engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) firms, (ii) edge hardware to aid in the
collection of site data and the real-time operation and control of the site plus other optional equipment, and (iii) an ongoing software platform, Athena , and
professional services to operate and manage the performance of standalone energy storage, integrated solar plus storage systems, and solar assets. In
addition, in all of the markets where the Company helps manage its customers’ clean energy assets, the Company has agreements to use the Athena
platform to participate in such markets and to share the revenue from such market participation.

The Company delivers its battery hardware and software-enabled services to its customers through its Athena platform. The Company’s hardware and
recurring software-enabled services mitigate customer energy costs through services such as time-of-use and demand charge management optimization
and by aggregating the dispatch of energy through a network of virtual power plants. The network created by the Company’s growing customer base
increases grid resilience and reliability through the real-time processing of market-based demand signals, energy prices and other factors in connection with
the deployment of renewable energy resources to such customers. Additionally, the Company’s clean energy solutions are designed to support renewable
energy generation by helping to alleviate grid intermittency issues, thereby reducing customer dependence on traditional, fossil fuel resources.

The Company’s Athena PowerTrack application provides a vertically integrated solution that incorporates on-site power monitoring equipment that
aggregates and communicates data to enable remote control of solar generation assets. PowerTrack provides direct access to individual site performance
to measure and benchmark expected energy production, maximizing asset value for the Company’s customers.

From time to time, the Company, through an indirect wholly-owned development subsidiary (“DevCo”) will enter into strategic joint ventures (each a
“DevCo JV”) with qualified third parties for the development of select renewable energy projects (“DevCo Projects”). In this structure, DevCo forms a new
DevCo JV entity as the majority owner, with the developer as the minority owner. The purpose of the DevCo JV is to develop and sell DevCo Projects and
secure Company hardware and software services for those projects. In DevCo Projects, the Company makes development capital contributions to fund
project development, and recovers those capital contributions plus a fee when the developer takes ownership of the project. This business model is
intended to allow the Company to advance development capital to key partners in strategic markets and secure hardware upfront, in order to generate
higher-margin software and services and other revenue via exclusive long-term services contracts under the DevCo Projects.

On February 1, 2022, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Also Energy Holdings, Inc. (“AlsoEnergy”), which has
been consolidated since the date of acquisition. Through AlsoEnergy, the Company provides end-to-end turnkey solutions that monitor and manage
renewable energy systems through its PowerTrack software. PowerTrack includes data acquisitions and monitoring, performance modeling, agency
reporting, internal reports, work order tickets, and supervisory control and data acquisition (“SCADA”) controls. AlsoEnergy has deployed systems at various
international locations, but its largest concentration of customers is in the United States, Germany and Canada. See Note 6 — Business Combinations.

The Company operated as Rollins Road Acquisition Company (f/k/a Stem, Inc.) (“Legacy Stem”) prior to the Merger (as defined below). Stem, Inc. was
incorporated on March 16, 2009 in the State of Delaware and is headquartered in San Francisco, California.

Star Peak Acquisition Corp. Merger

On December 3, 2020, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Star Peak Transition Corp.
(“STPK”), an entity that was then listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trade symbol “STPK,” and STPK Merger Sub Corp., a Delaware
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of STPK (“Merger Sub”), providing for, among other things, and subject to the conditions therein, the combination
of the Company and STPK pursuant to the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company with the Company continuing as the surviving entity (the
“Merger”).

®
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STEM, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On April 28, 2021, shareholders of STPK approved the Merger, under which Stem received approximately $ 550.3 million, net of fees and expenses as
follows (in thousands):

Recapitalization

Cash — STPK trust and working capital cash $ 383,383  

Cash — PIPE (as described below) 225,000  

Less: transaction costs and advisory fees paid ( 58,061 )

Merger and PIPE financing $ 550,322  

Immediately prior to the closing of the Merger, (i) all issued and outstanding shares of Legacy Stem preferred stock, par value $ 0.00001 per share (the
“Legacy Stem Preferred Stock”), were converted into shares of Legacy Stem common stock, par value $ 0.000001 per share (the “Legacy Stem Common
Stock”) in accordance with Legacy Stem’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, (ii) all outstanding convertible promissory notes of Legacy
Stem (the “Legacy Stem Convertible Notes”) were converted into Legacy Stem Preferred Stock in accordance with the terms of the Legacy Stem
Convertible Notes and (iii) certain warrants issued by Legacy Stem to purchase Legacy Stem Common Stock and Legacy Stem Preferred Stock (the
“Legacy Stem Warrants”) were exercised by holders into Legacy Stem Common Stock in accordance with the terms thereof. Upon the consummation of the
Merger, each share of Legacy Stem common stock then issued and outstanding was canceled and converted into the right to receive shares of common
stock of Stem using an exchange ratio of 4.6432 .

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, STPK entered into separate subscription agreements (each, a “Subscription Agreement”)
with a number of investors (each a “Subscriber”), pursuant to which the Subscribers agreed to purchase, and STPK agreed to sell to the Subscribers, an
aggregate of 22,500,000 shares of common stock, for a purchase price of $ 10 per share and an aggregate purchase price of $ 225.0 million, in a private
placement pursuant to the subscription agreements (the “PIPE”). The PIPE investment closed simultaneously with the consummation of the Merger. The
Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Under this method of
accounting, STPK was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Merger was treated as
the equivalent of Stem issuing stock for the net assets of STPK, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net liabilities of STPK of $ 302.2  million, comprised
primarily of the warrant liabilities associated with the Public and Private Placement Warrants discussed in Note 14 — Warrants, are stated at historical cost,
with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded.

Liquidity

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and with the instructions to Form 10-K and
Regulation S-X, assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $
105.4 million, short-term investments of $ 8.2 million, an accumulated deficit of $ 772.5 million and net working capital of $ 221.9 million, with $ 14.8 million
of financing obligations coming due within the next 12 months. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company incurred a net loss of $ 140.4
million and had negative cash flows from operating activities of $ 207.4 million. Further, the Company received net proceeds of $ 232.4 million from the
issuance of the Company’s 4.25 % Green Convertible Senior Notes due 2030 (the “2030 Convertible Notes”) (as described in Note 13 — Convertible
Notes) of which $ 99.8 million was paid to reduce the principal balance by $ 163.0 million of the Company’s 0.5 % Green Convertible Senior Notes due
2028 (the “2028 Convertible Notes”). The Company believes that its cash position, inclusive of short-term investments, as well as expected collections from
accounts receivable, is sufficient to meet capital and liquidity requirements for at least the next 12 months after the date that the financial statements are
available to be issued.

The Company’s business prospects are subject to risks, expenses, and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of
commercial operations. The attainment of profitable operations is dependent upon future events, including securing new customers and maintaining current
ones, securing and maintaining adequate supplier relationships, building its customer base, successfully executing its business and marketing strategy,
obtaining adequate financing to complete the Company’s development activities, and hiring and retaining appropriate personnel. Failure to generate
sufficient revenues, achieve planned gross margins and operating profitability, control operating costs, or secure additional funding may require the
Company to modify, delay or abandon some of its planned future expansion or development, or to otherwise enact operating cost reductions available to
management, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Supply Chain Constraints and Risk

The Company has in the past faced shortages and shipping delays affecting the supply of inverters, enclosures, battery modules and associated
component parts for inverters and battery energy storage systems available for purchase. These shortages and delays were due in part to the evolving
macroeconomic, geopolitical and business environment, including the effects of global inflationary pressures and interest rates, general economic slowdown
or a recession, changes in monetary policy, instability in financial institutions, the prospect of a shutdown of the U.S. federal government, potential import
tariffs, geopolitical pressures, including the Russia-Ukraine armed conflict, rising tensions between China and the United States and unknown effects of
current and future trade regulations. The Company cannot predict the full effects the macroeconomic, geopolitical and business environment will have on its
business, cash flows, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic caused, and any new outbreaks or
resurgence of COVID-19 and its variants, or outbreaks of other infectious diseases, could again cause, a significant reduction in global economic activity,
significantly weakening demand for the Company’s products and services.

2.     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and consolidated variable interest entities
(“VIEs”). The Company presents non-controlling interests within the equity section of its consolidated balance sheets, and the amount of consolidated net
loss that is attributable to the Company and the non-controlling interest in its consolidated statements of operations. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company forms special purpose entities (“SPEs”), some of which are VIEs, with its investors in the ordinary course of business to facilitate the
funding and monetization of its energy storage systems. A legal entity is considered a VIE if it has either a total equity investment that is insufficient to
finance its operations without additional subordinated financial support or whose equity holders lack the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. The
Company’s variable interests arise from contractual, ownership, or other monetary interests in the entity. The typical condition for a controlling financial
interest ownership is holding a majority of the voting interests of an entity; however, a controlling financial interest may also exist in entities, such as VIEs,
through arrangements that do not involve controlling voting interests.

The Company consolidates a VIE if it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. The Company determines it is the primary beneficiary if it has the power
to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIEs’ economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses or has the right to receive
benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company evaluates its relationships with its VIEs on an ongoing basis to determine
whether it is the primary beneficiary.

Beginning in January 2022, the Company formed DevCo JVs with the purpose of originating potential battery storage facility projects in specific
locations and conducting early-stage planning and development activities. The Company determined that the DevCo JVs are VIEs as they lack sufficient
equity to finance their activities without additional financial support. The Company determined that it has both (1) the power to direct the activities of the VIE
that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially
be significant. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of the DevCo JVs, and as a result, the DevCo JVs’ operating
results, assets and liabilities are consolidated by the Company, with third party minority owners’ share presented as noncontrolling interest. The Company
applied the hypothetical liquidation at book value method in allocating recorded net income (loss) to each owner based on the change in the reporting
period, of the amount of net assets of the entity to which each owner would be entitled to under the governing contracts in a liquidation scenario.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table summarizes the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of the DevCo JVs that are consolidated by the Company as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,191  $ 6,686  

Other current assets 30  38  

Other noncurrent assets 8,424  3,208  

Total assets $ 10,645  $ 9,932  

Liabilities

Accounts payable 1,405  356  

Other current liabilities 1,892  97  

Total liabilities $ 3,297  $ 453  

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company contributed approximately $ 0.1  million and $ 7.8  million in capital investments for
hardware purchases, respectively. The net income from the DevCo JVs during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $ 1.4  million and $ 1.1
 million, respectively.

Equity Method Investments

The Company has ownership interests in SPEs which it does not control. Where the Company holds an interest in these SPEs of greater than 20% and
has the ability to exercise significant influence, the Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in these SPEs. Under the equity method
of accounting, investments are stated at initial cost and are adjusted for subsequent additional investments and the Company’s proportionate share of
earnings or losses and distributions. Such proportionate share of earnings or losses is included within other expenses, net in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company considers whether its equity method investments are impaired when events or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment charge is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for a decline in value that is determined to be
other-than-temporary. In determining if and when a decline in the fair value of these investments below their carrying value is other-than-temporary, the
Company evaluates the market condition, trends of earnings and cash flows and other key measures of performance and recognizes such loss which is
deemed to be other-than-temporary. No such losses have been recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions believed to be reasonable. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material to the financial position and
results of operations.

Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, depreciable life of energy
storage systems; estimates of transaction price with variable consideration; the amortization of acquired intangibles; the amortization of financing
obligations; deferred commissions and contract fulfillment costs; the valuation of energy storage systems, finite-lived intangible assets, internally developed
software, and asset retirement obligations; the fair value of equity instruments, equity-based instruments, derivative liability, accruals related to sales tax
liabilities, and the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which discrete financial information is available that is regularly reviewed by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s Chief
Executive Officer is the CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions,
allocating resources, and evaluating financial performance. As such, management has determined that the Company operates as one operating segment
that is focused exclusively on innovative technology services that transform the way energy is distributed and consumed. The operations acquired as part of
the acquisition of AlsoEnergy have been included in the Company’s operating segment. Net assets outside of the U.S. were less than 10% of total net
assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at financial institutions. The Company maintains all cash in a highly liquid form to meet current
obligations.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is included within Other noncurrent assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is primarily related to cash restricted
for customs and duties.

Short-Term Investments

Investments with a maturity date greater than three months that the Company intends to convert to cash or cash equivalents within a year or less are
classified as short-term investments in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, in accordance with ASC 320, Investments - Debt
Securities, the Company has classified all short-term investments as available-for-sale securities and changes in fair market value are reported in other
comprehensive loss.

The Company utilizes its short-term investments as an alternative form of cash and, if the cash needs arise, could liquidate the investments at any point
in time regardless of the contractual maturity of the investments. All of the Company’s investments are tradable on an active market and could be sold at fair
value at any point in time.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts Receivable are stated at amounts estimated by management to be equal to their net realizable values. Accounts receivable also includes
unbilled accounts receivable, which is composed of milestone development activities of noncancellable purchase orders and monthly energy optimization
services provided and recognized but not yet invoiced as of the end of the reporting period. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company's best
estimate of the amount of expected credit losses. The expectation of collectability is based on the Company's review of credit profiles of customers,
contractual terms and conditions, current economic trends, and historical payment experience. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that specific
receivable balances may be impaired, further consideration is given to the collectability of those balances and an allowance is recorded accordingly. The
allowance for doubtful accounts balance was $ 4.9 million and $ 3.9 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Uncertainties

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable.
The Company’s cash balances are primarily invested in money market funds or on deposit at high credit quality financial institutions in the U.S. The
Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at financial institutions where account balances may at times exceed federally insured limits. Management
believes the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial strength of the depository institution in which the cash is held. The
Company has no financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk of loss.

At times, the Company may be subject to a concentration of credit risk in relation to certain customers due to the purchase of large energy storage
systems made by such customers. The Company routinely assesses the creditworthiness of its customers. The Company has not experienced any material
losses related to receivables from individual customers, or groups of customers during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. The Company
does not require collateral. Due to these factors, no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for collection losses is believed by management to be
probable in the Company’s accounts receivable.
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Significant Customers

A significant customer represents 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue or accounts receivable, net balance at each reporting date. For each
significant customer, revenue as a percentage of total revenue and accounts receivable as a percentage of total accounts receivable are as follows:

Accounts Receivable Revenue

December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2023 2022 2021

Customers:

Customer A * * * * 11  %

Customer B * * * * 10  %

Customer C * * * * 10  %

Customer D 41  % 54  % 13  % 46  % *

Customer E * 16  % * 10  % *

Customer F 28  % 11  % 21  % * *

Customer G * * 26  % * *

*Total less than 10% for the respective period

There are inherent risks whenever a large percentage of total revenue is concentrated in a limited number of customers. Should a significant customer
terminate or fail to renew its contracts with the Company, in whole or in part, for any reason, or experience significant financial or operating difficulties, it
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. In general, a customer that makes up a significant
portion of revenues in one period, may not make up a significant portion in subsequent periods.

Prepaid warranty

Prepaid warranties are cash advances to suppliers for warranties on batteries. Such prepayments are amortized over five to fifteen years, based on the
warranty period, starting when the battery becomes operational.

Inventory

Inventory consists of batteries, hardware and equipment either in-process at the Company’s OEM suppliers or as a finished product at the Company’s
warehouse, which are sold and delivered directly to customers under the Company’s partnership arrangements as individual assets or assembled systems.
Battery inventory is stated at lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being determined by the specific identification method. Solar hardware and
equipment cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The Company periodically reviews its inventory for potentially slow-moving or obsolete
items and writes down specific items in inventory to net realizable value based on its assessment of market conditions.

Deferred Costs with Suppliers

Deferred costs with suppliers are payments to suppliers for materials that have not been delivered to the Company and are recognized upon receipt of
an invoice from the supplier.

Energy Storage Systems, Net

The Company sells energy optimization services to host customers through the use of energy storage systems installed at customer locations. The
Company determined that it does not transfer control of these energy storage systems to the customer, which are operated and controlled via the
Company’s proprietary software platform; therefore, these energy storage systems do not qualify as a leased asset. The energy storage systems are stated
at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment (as applicable).

Energy storage systems, net is comprised of equipment costs, which include components such as batteries, inverters, and other electrical equipment,
and associated design, installation, and interconnection costs required to begin providing the energy optimization services to customers.

Depreciation of the energy storage systems is a component of cost of revenues within the consolidated statements of operations and is calculated using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the energy storage systems, or 10 years, once the respective energy storage systems have been
installed and interconnected to the power grid, the Company has received permission to operate, and the Company has begun to provide energy
optimization services to the customer (i.e., energy storage system is live). Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Impairment charges
related to energy
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storage system that were determined to no longer be recoverable totaled $ 4.7  million, $ 2.6  million and $ 4.3  million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Project Assets

Project assets primarily consist of costs related to battery backup projects in various stages of development that are capitalized prior to the completion of
the sale of the projects, including projects that may have begun commercial operation and are actively marketed and intended to be sold. These project
related costs include costs for development and construction of a system. Development costs may include legal, consulting, permitting, transmission
upgrade, interconnection, and other similar costs. The Company would typically classify project assets as noncurrent due to the nature of projects (as long-
lived assets) and the time required to complete all activities to develop, construct, and sell projects, which is typically longer than 12 months. Once the
Company enters into a definitive sales agreement, the Company will classify project assets as current until the sale is completed and the revenue on the
sale has been recognized. The Company presents all sales and expenditures related to the development and construction of project assets, whether fully or
partially owned, as a component of cash flows from operating activities.

The Company reviews project assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. It considers a project commercially viable or recoverable if it is anticipated to be sold for a profit once it is either fully developed or fully
constructed. It considers a partially developed or partially constructed project commercially viable or recoverable if the anticipated selling price is higher than
the carrying value of the related project assets. The Company examines a number of factors to determine if the project is expected to be recoverable,
including whether there are any changes in environmental, permitting, market pricing, regulatory, or other conditions that may impact the project. Such
changes could cause the costs of the project to increase or the selling price of the project to decrease. If a project is not considered recoverable, we impair
the respective project assets and adjust the carrying value to the estimated fair value, with the resulting impairment recorded within “general and
administrative” expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company recognized $ 0.2 million and $ 0.5 million in project asset impairments
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Contract Origination Costs, Net

Contract origination costs, net is stated at gross contract origination costs less accumulated amortization. Contract origination costs consists of sales
commissions earned by the Company’s sales team, as well as related payroll taxes and other relevant fringe benefits that are direct, incremental, and
recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. As a result, these amounts have been capitalized on the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company deferred incremental costs of obtaining a contract of $ 5.9  million and $ 9.6  million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Contract origination costs are amortized over the expected period of benefit. The period of benefit is estimated by considering factors such as the timing
of fulfillment of performance obligations, historical customer attrition rates, the useful life of the Company’s technology, and the impact of competition in its
industry. Amortization of contract costs were $ 6.3 million, $ 6.3  million and $ 3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company also recorded $
0.5 million in impairment losses in sales and marketing expense in the statements of operations related to the contract origination costs that were
determined to no longer be recoverable during the year ended December 31, 2021. No impairment losses were recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business acquisitions under ASC 805, Business Combinations. The total purchase consideration for an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets (including intangible assets), liabilities assumed (including contingent liabilities) and
noncontrolling interests in an acquisition are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes goodwill if the fair value
of the total purchase consideration and any noncontrolling interests is in excess of the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. The Company recognizes a bargain purchase gain within other income (expense), net, on the consolidated statement of operations if the net fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is in excess of the fair value of the total purchase consideration and any noncontrolling
interests. The Company includes the results of operations of the acquired business in the consolidated financial statements beginning on the acquisition
date.
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Goodwill

Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least annually or more often if circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The Company has one reporting
unit and as a result, goodwill has been assigned to the single reporting unit. The Company conducted its annual impairment test of goodwill in the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2023 and determined that no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill was required.

Intangible Assets

Internal-use Software

The Company capitalizes costs incurred in the development of internal-use software during the application development stage. Costs related to
preliminary project activities and post-implementation activities are expensed as incurred. Capitalized internal-use software is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the software once it is ready for its intended use. The estimated useful life of costs capitalized is generally five years .
The Company recorded amortization for internal-use software of $ 9.2 million, $ 6.8 million and $ 5.0 million in cost of revenues in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Finite-lived Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of identifiable intangible assets acquired in business combinations, such as customer relationships, developed
technology and trade names. Finite-lived intangible assets acquired in business combinations are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently presented
net of accumulated amortization. These intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense for
intangible assets was $ 15.7 million and $ 16.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and was no t material for the year
ended December 31, 2021.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, which primarily consist of energy storage systems, right-of-use assets, and finite-lived intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable or that the useful life is
shorter than originally estimated. Recoverability of assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset over its remaining useful life.

If such assets are impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of
the assets. If the useful life is shorter than originally estimated, the Company depreciates or amortizes the remaining carrying value over the revised shorter
useful life. Assets to be disposed of by sale are reflected at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception by assessing whether the arrangement contains an identified asset and
whether it has the right to control the identified asset. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease
term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The classification of the Company’s leases as
operating or finance leases along with the initial measurement and recognition of the associated ROU assets and lease liabilities is performed at the lease
commencement date. The measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities is based on the present value of future lease payments over the lease term.
The ROU asset also includes the effect of any lease payments made prior to or on lease commencement and excludes lease incentives and initial direct
costs incurred, as applicable.

As the implicit rate in the Company’s leases is generally unknown, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available
at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future lease payments. The Company considers its credit risk, term of the lease, total
lease payments and adjusts for the impacts of collateral, as necessary, when calculating its incremental borrowing rates. The lease terms may include
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise any such options. Rent expense for the Company’s
operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments are recorded as an expense in the period incurred.

The Company has elected to not separate lease and non-lease components for any leases within its existing classes of assets and, as a result,
accounts for any lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. The Company has also elected to not apply the recognition requirement to
any leases within its existing classes of assets with a term of 12 months or less.
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Convertible Preferred Stock Warrant Liabilities

The Company evaluates whether its warrants for shares of convertible redeemable preferred stock are freestanding financial instruments that obligate
the Company to redeem the underlying preferred stock at some point in the future and determined that each of its outstanding warrants for preferred stock
are liability classified. The warrants are subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value is recognized in the change in
fair value of warrants and embedded derivatives in the consolidated statements of operations.

As discussed in Note 14 — Warrants, upon effectiveness of the Merger, substantially all of the outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants were
converted into shares of common stock of Stem. As such, the associated warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid-in-capital upon the Merger and
was no longer an outstanding Level 3 financial instrument as of December 31, 2023.

Common Stock Warrants

The Company evaluates common stock warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity. The Company
assesses whether common stock warrants are freestanding financial instruments and whether they meet the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity,
or classified as a liability. Where common stock warrants do not meet the conditions to be classified in equity, the Company assesses whether they meet
the definition of a liability under ASC 815. Common stock warrants that meet the definition of a liability are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value.
Subsequent changes in their respective fair values are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations at each reporting date.

As indicated in Note 14 — Warrants , a s part of STPK’s initial public offering, the Company issued Public Warrants and Private Warrants, which upon
issuance met the criteria for liability classification under ASC 815. As of December 31, 2023, no Public or Private Warrants were outstanding.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company recognizes a liability for the fair value of asset retirement obligations associated with its energy storage systems in the period in which
there is a legal obligation associated with the retirement of such assets and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The associated asset retirement
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the energy storage systems and depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. This liability
includes costs related to the removal of its energy storage systems at the conclusion of each respective customer contract. Subsequent to initial
measurement, the asset retirement liability is accreted each period and such accretion is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of
operations. If there are changes in the estimated amount or timing of cash flows, a revision is recorded to both the asset retirement obligation and the asset
retirement capitalized cost.

Financing Obligations

The Company has formed various SPEs to finance the development and construction of its energy storage systems. These SPEs, which are structured
as limited liability companies, obtain financing in the form of large upfront payments from outside investors and purchase energy storage systems from the
Company under master purchase agreements. The Company accounts for the large upfront payments received from the fund investor as a borrowing by
recording the proceeds received as a financing obligation, which will be repaid through host customer payments and incentives received from the utilities
that will be received by the investor.

The financing obligation is non-recourse once the associated energy storage systems have been placed in-service and the associated customer
arrangements have been assigned to the SPE. However, the Company is responsible for any warranties, performance guarantees, accounting,
performance reporting, and all other costs associated with the operation of the energy storage systems. Despite such energy storage systems being legally
sold to the SPEs, the Company recognizes host customer payments and incentives as revenue during the period as discussed in Note 3 — Revenue. The
amounts received by the fund investor from customer payments and incentives are recognized as interest using the effective interest method, and the
balance is applied to reduce the financing obligation. The effective interest rate is the interest rate that equates the present value of the cash amounts to be
received by a fund investor in relation to the underlying Projects with the present value of the cash amounts paid by the investor to the Company, adjusted
for any payments made by the Company.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure their fair value. The fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities reflects management’s estimate of amounts that
the Company would have received in connection with the sale of the assets or paid in connection with the transfer of the liabilities in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. In connection with measuring the fair value of its assets and liabilities, the Company seeks to
maximize the use of observable inputs (market data obtained from independent sources) and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs (internal
assumptions about how market participants would price assets and liabilities).

Hierarchical levels which are directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation of these assets or liabilities are as
follows:

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access as of the
measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable through
corroboration with observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability only used when there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining
fair value. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to their fair value
measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a specific input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires management to make
judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities held by the Company measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,  include cash and
cash equivalents, short-term investments, derivative liability, and convertible notes.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services are transferred to the Company’s customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services. The Company generates all of its revenues from contracts with its
customers. The Company recognizes revenue through arrangements with customers, host customer arrangements, partnership arrangements, and sale of
project assets as described below.

Host Customer Arrangements

Host customer contracts are generally entered into with commercial entities that have traditionally relied on power supplied directly from the grid. Host
customer arrangements consist of a promise to provide energy optimization services through the Company’s proprietary software platform coupled with a
dedicated energy storage system owned and controlled by the Company throughout the term of the contract. The host customer does not obtain legal title
to, or ownership of the dedicated energy storage system at any point in time. The host customer is the end consumer of the energy that directly benefits
from the energy optimization services provided by the Company. The term for the Company’s contracts with host customers generally ranges from 5 to 10
years, which may include certain renewal options to extend the initial contract term or certain termination options to reduce the initial contract term.

Although the Company installs an energy storage system at the host customer site in order to provide the energy optimization services, the Company
directs how and for what purpose the asset is used through the operation of its software platform and, as such, retains control of the energy storage
system; therefore, the contract does not contain a lease. The Company determines the various energy optimization services provided throughout the term of
the contract, which may include services such as remote monitoring, performance reporting, preventative maintenance and other ancillary services
necessary for the safe and reliable operation of the energy storage system, are part of a combined output of energy optimization services and the Company
provides a single distinct combined performance obligation representing a series of distinct days of services.

The Company determines the transaction price at the outset of the arrangement, primarily based on the contractual payment terms dictated by the
contract with the customer. Fees charged to customers for energy optimization services generally consist of recurring fixed monthly payments throughout
the term of the contract. In certain arrangements, the transaction price may include incentive payments that are earned by the host customer from utility
companies in relation to the services provided by the Company. Under such arrangements, the rights to the incentive payments are assigned by the host
customer to the Company. These incentives may be in the form of fixed upfront payments, variable monthly payments, or annual performance-
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based payments over the first 5 years of the customer contract term. Incentive payments may be contingent on approval from utility companies or actual
future performance of the energy storage system.

Substantially all of the Company’s arrangements provide customers the unilateral ability to terminate for convenience prior to the conclusion of the
stated contractual term or the contractual term is shorter than the estimated benefit period, which the Company has determined to be 10 years based on
the estimated useful life of the underlying energy storage systems and the period over which the customer can benefit from the energy optimization services
utilizing such energy storage systems. In these instances, the Company determined that upfront incentive payments received from its customers represent
a material right that is, in effect, an advance payment for future energy optimization services to be recognized throughout the estimated benefit period. In
contracts where the customer does not have the unilateral ability to terminate for convenience without a penalty during the estimated benefit period, the
Company determined the upfront incentive payments do not represent a material right for services provided beyond the initial contractual period and are
therefore a component of the initial transaction price. The Company revisits its estimate of the benefit period each reporting period. The Company’s
contracts with host customers do not contain a significant financing component.

The Company transfers control of its energy optimization services to its customers continuously throughout the term of the contract (a stand-ready
obligation) and revenue is recognized ratably as control of these services is transferred to its customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to be contractually entitled to in exchange for its services. Monthly incentive payments based on the performance of the energy storage
system are allocated to the distinct month in which they are earned because the terms of the payments relate specifically to the outcome from transferring
the distinct time increment (month) of service and because such amounts reflect the fees to which the Company expects to be entitled for providing energy
optimization services each period, consistent with the allocation objective. Annual variable performance- based payments are estimated at the inception in
the transaction price using the expected value method, which takes into consideration historical experience, current contractual requirements, specific
known market events and forecasted energy storage system performance patterns, and the Company recognizes such payments ratably using a time-
based measure of progress of days elapsed over the term of the contract to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur in a future period. At the end of each reporting period, the Company reassesses its estimate of the transaction price. The
Company does not begin recognition of revenue until the energy storage system is live (i.e., provision of energy optimization services has commenced) or,
as it relates to incentive payments, when approval has been received from the utility company, if later.

Partnership Arrangements

Partnership arrangements consist of promises to transfer inventory in the form of an energy storage system to a “solar plus storage” project developer
and separately provide energy optimization services as described previously to the ultimate owner of the project after the developer completes the
installation of the project. Under partnership arrangements, the Company’s customer is the solar plus storage project developer. The customer obtains legal
title to along with ownership and control of the inventory upon delivery and the customer is responsible for the installation of the project in some cases. Once
installation of the project is complete, the owner of the solar plus storage project provides energy to the end consumer through a separate contractual
arrangement directly with the end consumer. The term for the Company’s contracts with customers under partnership arrangements generally ranges from
3 to 20 years.

The Company determined the promise to deliver the inventory as a component of the solar plus storage project for which the customer is responsible to
develop is a separate and distinct performance obligation from the promise to provide energy optimization services.

The Company determines the transaction price at the outset of the arrangement, primarily based on the contractual payment terms dictated by the
contract with the customer. Fees charged for the sale of inventory generally consist of fixed fees payable upon or shortly after successful delivery to the
customer. For some customers, the contractual payment terms are based on milestone dates of development activities, such as the date customers accept,
acquire, or develop project assets or the date customers install or commission hardware on project assets. Such milestone dates may result in unbilled
accounts receivable for noncancellable purchase orders when control of hardware is transferred to the customer and Company has legal right to
consideration prior to the milestone date of development activities. For certain customers, the Company also guarantees the value of hardware will not
decline for a certain period of time, usually six months to one year. The Company accounts for such contractual payments terms and guarantees as variable
consideration at each measurement date at its most likely amount to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur. Fees charged to customers for energy optimization services consist of recurring fixed monthly payments throughout the term of
the contract. The Company is responsible for designing, procuring, delivering and ensuring the proper components are provided in accordance with the
requirements of the contract. Although the inventory is purchased by the Company from a third-party manufacturer, the Company determined it obtains
control of the inventory prior to delivery to the customer and is the principal in the
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arrangement. The Company is fully responsible for responding to and correcting any customer issues related to the delivery of the inventory. The Company
holds title and assumes all risks of loss associated with the inventory until the customer accepts the inventory. The Company is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the delivery of the inventory to the customer, assumes substantial inventory risks and has discretion in the pricing charged to the customer. The
Company has not entered into any partnership arrangements where it is not the principal in the transaction.

The Company allocates revenue between the hardware and energy storage services performance obligations based on the standalone selling price of
each performance obligation. The standalone selling price for the hardware is established based on observable pricing. The standalone selling price for the
energy optimization services is established using a residual value approach due to the significant variability in the services provided to each individual
customer based on the specific requirements of each individual project and the lack of observable standalone sales of such services. The Company’s
partnership arrangements do not contain a significant financing component.

The Company transfers control of the inventory upon delivery and simultaneous transfer of title to the customer. The Company transfers control of its
energy optimization services to its customers continuously throughout the term of the contract (a stand-ready obligation), which does not commence until
the customer successfully completes the installation of the project. As a result, the time frame between when the Company transfers control of the inventory
to the customer upon delivery is generally several months, and can be in excess of one year , before the Company is required to perform any subsequent
energy optimization services. Revenue is recognized ratably as control of these services is transferred to its customers based on a time-based output
measure of progress of days elapsed over the term of the contract, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in
exchange for its services.

In some partnership arrangements, the Company charges shipping fees for the inventory. The Company accounts for shipping as a fulfillment activity,
since control transfers to the customer after the shipping is complete and includes such amounts within cost of revenue.

Some contracts provide our customers the right to liquidated damages against the Company in the event equipment is not delivered according to
contract specifications. Liquidated damages are accounted for as variable consideration, and the contract price is reduced by the expected penalty or
liquidated damage amount when recognizing revenue.

Sale of Project Assets

For sales of project assets in which the Company transfers 100 % of the membership interest in project assets to a customer, the Company recognizes all
of the revenue for the consideration received at a point in time when the membership interest was transferred to the customer, which typically occurs when
the Company delivered the membership interest assignment agreement to the customer. The transaction price of contract arrangements is comprised of
both fixed and variable amounts. Variable consideration is estimated at each measurement date at its most likely amount to the extent that it is probable that
a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur and true-ups are applied prospectively as such estimates change. Changes in
estimates for sales of project assets occur when the actual development expenses vary from estimates made at the time the membership interests
transferred to the customer. The cumulative effect of revisions to transaction prices are recorded in the period in which the revisions to estimates are
identified and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. Variable consideration related to the sale of project assets are generally resolved within 60 days of
sale of project assets and are currently not material to the Company’s financial statements.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Hardware Revenue

Cost of revenue related to the sale of hardware includes the cost of the hardware sold to project developers, which generally includes the cost to
purchase the hardware from a manufacturer, shipping, and other costs required to fulfill the Company’s obligation to deliver the hardware to the customer
location. Cost of revenue may also include any impairment of hardware held in inventory for sale to a customer. Cost of revenue related to the sale of
hardware is recognized when the delivery of the hardware is completed.
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Cost of Service and Other Revenue

Cost of revenue related to energy optimization services includes depreciation of the cost of energy storage systems associated with long-term host
customer contracts, which includes capitalized fulfillment costs, such as installation services, permitting and other related costs. Cost of services and other
revenue and other also includes the costs for the development and constructions of project assets. Cost of revenue may also include any impairment of
energy storage systems along with energy storage system maintenance costs associated with the ongoing services provided to customers and other
amounts not qualifying for capitalization pursuant to the Company’s internal use software capitalization policy. Cost of revenue is recognized as the energy
optimization and other supporting services are provided to the Company’s customers throughout the term of the contract.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of payroll and other related personnel costs, including stock-based compensation, commissions,
bonuses, employee benefits, and travel for the Company’s sales & marketing department. These costs are recognized in the period incurred. Advertising
expenses for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were not material.

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists primarily of payroll and other related personnel costs for engineers and third parties engaged in the
design and development of products, third-party software, and technologies, including salaries, bonus, and stock-based compensation expense, project
material costs, services, and depreciation. The Company expenses research and development costs as they are incurred.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense consists of payroll and other related personnel costs, including salaries, bonus, and stock-based compensation for
executive management, legal, finance, and others. In addition, general and administrative expense includes fees for professional services and occupancy
costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense related to employees over the requisite service period based on the grant-date fair value
of the awards. The fair value of options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Company recognizes the grant-date fair
value of an award as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which typically corresponds to the vesting period for
the award. The Company elects to account for forfeitures as they occur and, upon forfeiture of an award prior to vesting, the Company reverses any
previously recognized compensation expense related to that award.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes based on ASC 740,  Accounting for Income Taxes . Under the asset
and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce tax assets to an
amount for which realization is more likely than not. There are certain charges that are not deductible for tax purposes.

In evaluating the ability to recover its deferred income tax assets, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including its
operating results, ongoing tax planning, and forecasts of future taxable income on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. In the event the Company determines
that it would be able to realize its deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, it would make an adjustment to the
valuation allowance that would reduce the provision for income taxes. Conversely, in the event that all or part of the net deferred tax assets are determined
not to be realizable in the future, an adjustment to the valuation allowance would be charged to earnings in the period such determination is made.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions in accordance with GAAP, which prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the Company’s
tax return. No liability related to uncertain tax positions has been recognized in the financial statements.

The Company includes interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions in the financial statements as a component of income tax expense. No accrual
has been deemed necessary as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries financial position and results of operations are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. The
functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity’s operations are conducted. Assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiaries are translated at exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates in
effect during the year. Translation adjustments are recorded within accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration for potential dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per
share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted- average number of common shares and common share
equivalents of potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation, convertible notes, warrants,
restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and common stock options are considered to be potentially dilutive securities. As the Company was in a net loss position for
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per
share attributable to common stockholders because the effects of potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interests represents the portion of net assets in consolidated subsidiaries that are not attributable, directly or indirectly, to us. In fiscal
2022, we have entered into arrangements with third-party investors under which the investors are determined to hold noncontrolling interests in entities fully
consolidated by us. The net assets of the shared entities are attributed to the controlling and noncontrolling interests based on the terms of the governing
contractual arrangements. The Company further determined the hypothetical liquidation at book value method (“HLBV Method”) to be the appropriate
method for attributing net assets to the controlling and noncontrolling interests as this method most closely mirrors the economics of the governing
contractual arrangements. Under the HLBV Method, we allocate recorded income (loss) to each investor based on the change, during the reporting period,
of the amount of net assets each investor is entitled to under the governing contractual arrangements in a liquidation scenario. The net income allocated to
the noncontrolling interests was not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures , related to the
disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15,
2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the
financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the disclosure requirements related to the new standard.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures , related to income tax
disclosures. The amendments in this update are intended to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures primarily through
changes to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, though
early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the ASU to determine its impact on the Company’s disclosures.

3.     REVENUE

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table provides information on the disaggregation of revenue as recorded in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Hardware revenue $ 398,967  $ 310,837  $ 106,908  

Services and other revenue 62,548  52,143  20,463  

Total revenue $ 461,515  $ 362,980  $ 127,371  
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The following table summarizes reportable revenue by geographic regions determined based on the location of the customers (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

United States $ 443,450  $ 353,792  $ 127,230  

Rest of the world 18,065  9,188  141  

Total revenue $ 461,515  $ 362,980  $ 127,371  

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent contracted revenue that has not been recognized, which includes contract liabilities (deferred revenue)
and amounts that will be billed and recognized as revenue in future periods. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $ 471.3 million and $ 534.9 million
of remaining performance obligations, respectively, and the approximate percentages expected to be recognized as revenue in the future are as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):

December 31, 2023

Total remaining
performance
obligations

Percent Expected to be Recognized as Revenue

Less than
one year

Two to
five years

Greater than
five years

Services and other revenue $ 348,056  14  % 47  % 39  %

Hardware revenue 123,243  97  % 3  % —  %

Total revenue $ 471,299  

December 31, 2022

Total remaining
performance
obligations

Percent Expected to be Recognized as Revenue

Less than
one year

Two to
five years

Greater than
five years

Services and other revenue $ 322,645  17  % 48  % 35  %

Hardware revenue 212,270  100  % —  % —  %

Total revenue $ 534,915  

Contract Balances

Deferred revenue primarily includes cash received in advance of revenue recognition related to energy optimization services and incentives. The
following table presents the changes in the deferred revenue balance during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021  (in thousands):

2023 2022 2021

Balance as of beginning of period $ 138,074  $ 37,443  $ 52,410  

Deferred revenue acquired upon business combination —  49,626  —  

Upfront payments received from customers 270,130  206,868  89,951  

Upfront or annual incentive payments received 4,204  5,797  6,614  

Revenue recognized related to amounts that were included in beginning balance of deferred
revenue ( 54,638 ) ( 22,669 ) ( 33,585 )

Revenue recognized related to amounts that were included in acquired balance of deferred
revenue —  ( 3,338 ) —  

Revenue recognized related to deferred revenue generated during the period ( 215,123 ) ( 135,653 ) ( 77,947 )

Balance as of end of period $ 142,647  $ 138,074  $ 37,443  
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Parent Company Guarantees

In certain customer contracts, the Company previously agreed to provide a guarantee that the value of purchased hardware will not decline for a certain
period of time. Under this guarantee, if these customers were unable to install or designate the hardware to a specified project within such period of time,
the Company would be required to assist the customer in re-marketing the hardware for resale by the customer. The guarantee provided that, in such
cases, if the customer resold the hardware for less than the amount initially sold to the customer, the Company would be required to compensate the
customer for any shortfall in fair value for the hardware from the initial contract price. The Company accounts for such contractual terms and guarantees as
variable consideration at each measurement date. The Company updates its estimate of variable consideration each quarter, including changes in
estimates related to such guarantees, for facts or circumstances that have changed from the time of the initial estimate. As a result, the Company recorded
a net revenue reduction of $ 35.1 million in hardware revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023 . Specifically, $ 16.9  million of the overall
reduction in revenue was related to deliveries that occurred during fiscal year 2022, and $ 18.2  million is related to deliveries that occurred during fiscal
2023.

4.     SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

The following tables summarize the estimated fair value of the Company’s short-term investments and the gross unrealized holding gains and losses as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2023

Amortized cost Unrealized gain Unrealized Loss Estimated Fair Value

Commercial paper $ 1,978  $ —  $ —  $ 1,978  

U.S. government bonds 2,744  —  ( 3 ) 2,741  

Agency bonds 3,503  —  ( 3 ) 3,500  

Total short-term investments $ 8,225  $ —  $ ( 6 ) $ 8,219  

As of December 31, 2022

Amortized cost Unrealized gain Unrealized Loss Estimated Fair Value

Corporate debt securities $ 17,056  $ —  $ ( 164 ) $ 16,892  

Commercial paper 18,922  —  —  18,922  

U.S. government bonds 106,774  —  ( 1,515 ) 105,259  

Certificate of deposits 9,986  —  —  9,986  

Treasury bills 9,518  3  ( 5 ) 9,516  

Agency bonds 1,500  —  ( 1 ) 1,499  

Total short-term investments $ 163,756  $ 3  $ ( 1,685 ) $ 162,074  

The following table presents the contractual maturities of the Company’s short-term investments as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2023

Amortized cost Estimated Fair Value

Due within one year $ 8,225  $ 8,219  

Total $ 8,225  $ 8,219  

The Company periodically reviews the individual securities that have unrealized losses on a regular basis to evaluate whether or not any security has
experienced, or is expected to experience, credit losses resulting in the decline in fair value. The Company evaluates, among other factors, whether the
Company intends to sell any of these marketable securities and whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell any of them
before recovery of the amortized cost basis. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company did no t record an allowance for credit losses, as
management believes any such losses would be immaterial based on the investment-grade credit rating for each of the short-term investments as of the
end of each period.

5.     FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
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Fair value accounting is applied for all financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a
recurring basis. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of accounts receivable, other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued and
other current liabilities approximated their estimated fair value due to their relatively short maturities.

The following table provides the financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Cash equivalents:

Money market fund $ 47,297 $ —  $ — $ 47,297

Commercial paper — 3,971  — 3,971

Debt securities:

Commercial paper —  1,978  —  1,978

U.S. government bonds —  2,741  —  2,741

Agency bonds —  3,500  —  3,500  

Total financial assets $ 47,297  $ 12,190  $ —  $ 59,487  

Liabilities

Derivative liability $ —  $ —  $ 7,731  $ 7,731  

December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Cash equivalents:

Money market fund $ 10,618  $ —  $ —  $ 10,618  

Commercial paper —  2,988  —  2,988

Debt securities:

Corporate debt securities —  16,892  —  16,892

Commercial paper —  18,922  —  18,922

U.S. government bonds —  105,259  —  105,259

Certificate of deposits —  9,986  —  9,986

Treasury bills —  9,516  —  9,516

Other —  1,499  —  1,499  

Total financial assets $ 10,618  $ 165,062  $ —  $ 175,680  

The Company’s money market funds are classified as Level 1 because they are valued using quoted market prices. The Company’s short-term
investments consist of available-for-sale securities and are classified as Level 2 because their value is based on valuations using significant inputs derived
from or corroborated by observable market data. The Company’s other current liabilities includes a derivative liability that is attributable to a derivative
feature within a revenue contract, whereby final settlement is indexed to the price per ton of lithium carbonate. The balance will be valued using a third party
forecast for lithium carbonate. As the derivative instrument is not traded on an exchange it is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Fair Value of Convertible Promissory Notes

The convertible notes are recorded at face value less unamortized debt issuance costs (see Note 13  — Convertible Notes for additional details) on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the estimated fair value of the 2028 Convertible Notes was $ 149.1 million
based on Level 2 quoted bid prices of the convertible notes in an over-the-counter market on the last trading date of the reporting period. As of
December 31, 2023, the estimated fair value of the 2030 Convertible Notes was $ 175.8 million based on Level 2 quoted bid prices of the convertible notes
in an over-the-counter market on the last trading date of the reporting period.
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On February 1, 2022, Stem, Inc. acquired 100 % of the outstanding shares of AlsoEnergy. AlsoEnergy provides end-to-end turnkey solutions that
monitor and manage renewable energy systems. AlsoEnergy has deployed systems at various international locations, but its largest customer bases are in
the United States, Germany and Canada. The combined company delivers a one-stop-shop solution for front-of-meter and commercial and industrial (“C&I”)
customers with solar and storage needs.

The total consideration to acquire AlsoEnergy was $ 652.0  million, comprised of $ 543.1 million in cash, net of a working capital adjustment for an
escrow recovery, and $ 108.9  million in the form of 8,621,006 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company incurred $ 6.1 million of transaction
costs related to the acquisition of AlsoEnergy, which were recorded in general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The following table summarizes the purchase price as a part of the acquisition of AlsoEnergy (in thousands):

Purchase Price

Cash consideration $ 544,059

Equity consideration 108,883

Working capital adjustment ( 915 

Total consideration $ 652,027

The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of AlsoEnergy at the date of acquisition (in
thousands):

Assets Acquired

Cash $ 10,135 

Accounts receivable 9,614 

Other current assets 1,795 

Inventory 3,701 

Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,333 

Separately identifiable intangible assets acquired other than goodwill 152,100 

Other noncurrent assets 1,032 

Total identifiable assets acquired 179,710 

Liabilities Assumed

Accounts payable 1,985 

Other current liabilities 1,596 

Accrued payroll 2,533 

Deferred revenue, current portion 17,486 

Lease liabilities, current portion 431 

Deferred revenue, noncurrent 32,140 

Lease liabilities, noncurrent 902 

Deferred tax liability 15,476 

Other noncurrent liabilities 150 

Total liabilities assumed 72,699 

Total net identifiable assets acquired 107,011 

Goodwill 545,016 

Total consideration $ 652,027 
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Based on the accounting guidance provided in ASC 805, the Company accounted for the acquisition of AlsoEnergy as a business combination in which
the Company determined that AlsoEnergy was a business.

In the second quarter of 2022, a working capital adjustment was made that resulted in the decrease of goodwill of $ 0.9  million. The allocation of fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2022. No further adjustments were made.

The following table and accompanying paragraphs below summarize the intangible assets acquired, their fair value as of the acquisition date, and their
estimated useful lives for amortizable intangible (in thousands, except estimated useful life, which is in years):

Fair Value Useful Life

Trade name $ 11,300 7

Customer relationships 106,800 12

Backlog 3,900 1.1

Developed technology 30,100 7

Separately identifiable intangible assets acquired other than goodwill $ 152,100

Trade names include the AlsoEnergy and PowerTrack trade names, which were measured at fair value using the relief-from-royalty method. Customer
relationships represent the estimated fair values of the underlying relationship with AlsoEnergy customers measured using the multiple-period excess
earnings method under the income approach. Backlog relates to subscriptions contracts that were measured at fair value using the multiple-period excess
earnings method under the income approach. Developed technology represents the preliminary fair value of AlsoEnergy’s renewable energy platform that
was measured using the relief-from-royalty method of the income approach. Significant estimates and assumptions related to the Company’s forecasts of
future revenues and selection of the weighted average cost of capital, royalty rates, and estimated revenue growth rates are used in measuring the fair
value of these assets. The amortization expense for all acquired intangible assets will be recognized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated
useful lives.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. The acquisition of AlsoEnergy resulted
in the recognition of $ 545.0  million of goodwill. Goodwill acquired primarily consists of expanded market and product opportunities, including acceleration
of growth of renewable energy onto the power grid, expanded value for the Company’s customers to manage and optimize combined solar and energy
storage systems through the vertical integration of software solutions, as well as access of the Company’s product offerings to international markets.

Goodwill created as a result of the acquisition of AlsoEnergy is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. A net deferred tax liability of $ 15.5
 million was established for the intangible assets acquired net of deferred tax assets, which primarily consists of net operating loss carryforwards and
deferred revenue.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the combined results of operations for the Company and AlsoEnergy, as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2021. The pro forma financial information is as follows (in thousands):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Total revenue $ 461,515  $ 366,815  $ 189,930  

Net loss $ ( 140,413 ) $ ( 131,959 ) $ ( 132,187 )

The pro forma financial information for the periods presented above has been calculated after adjusting the results of AlsoEnergy to reflect the business
combination accounting effects resulting from this acquisition, including the elimination of transaction costs incurred by the Company, amortization expense
from acquired intangible assets, and settlement of stock option awards. The historical consolidated financial statements have been adjusted in the pro forma
combined financial statements to give effect to pro forma events that are directly attributable to the business combination. The pro forma financial
information is for informational purposes only, and is not indicative of either future results of operations, or results that may have been achieved had the
acquisition been consummated as of the beginning of 2022 or 2021.
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7.     GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Goodwill

Goodwill consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Goodwill $ 547,158  $ 547,556  

Recovery of escrow from AlsoEnergy acquisition —  ( 915 )

Effect of foreign currency translation 47  8  

Total goodwill $ 547,205  $ 546,649  

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets, net, consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Developed technology $ 32,618  $ 30,600  

Trade name 11,300  11,300  

Customer relationships 106,800  106,800  

Backlog —  3,900  

Internally developed software 67,282  49,472  

Intangible assets 218,000  202,072  

Less: Accumulated amortization ( 60,868 ) ( 39,809 )

Add: Currency translation adjustment 14  2  

Total intangible assets, net $ 157,146  $ 162,265  

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $ 24.9  million, $ 23.6 million and $ 5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, respectively, of which amortization of internally developed software and developed technology is recognized in cost of goods sold and amortization of
customer relationships, trade name, and backlog is recognized in sales and marketing in the consolidated statements of operations.

8.     LEASES

The Company leases and subleases certain office spaces with lease terms ranging from 2 to 6 years. These leases require monthly lease payments
that may be subject to annual increases throughout the lease term. Certain of these leases also include renewal options at the election of the Company to
renew or extend the lease for an additional five years . These optional periods have not been considered in the determination of the ROU assets or lease
liabilities associated with these leases as the Company did not consider the exercise of these options to be reasonably certain.

The Company performed evaluations of its contracts and determined each of its identified leases are operating leases. For the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company incurred $ 4.2  million, $ 2.8 million and $ 1.3 million, respectively, of rent expense included in
operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations in relation to its operating leases, inclusive of short-term and variable lease expense which
was immaterial. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
was $ 2.9 million $ 1.6 million and $ 0.5 million, respectively, and was included in net cash used in operating activities in the Company’s consolidated
statements of cash flows.
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As of December 31, 2023, future payments associated with the Company’s operating lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Operating
Leases

2024 $ 3,620  

2025 2,885  

2026 2,984  

2027 3,035  

2028 2,304  

Thereafter 396  

Total lease payments 15,224  

Less: imputed interest ( 1,819 )

Total operating lease liability future lease payments $ 13,405  

Reported as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Current portion of operating lease liabilities included within other current liabilities $ 2,950  $ 2,574  

Non-current portion of operating lease liabilities 10,455  10,962  

Total $ 13,405  $ 13,536  

The following summarizes additional information related to operating leases:

December 31,

2023 2022

Weighted average remaining operating lease term (in years) 4.6 5.5

Weighted average discount rate 5.7  % 4.7  %

9.     ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The information below details the asset retirement obligation for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Beginning balance at January 1, $ 4,262  $ 4,135  

Retirement cost revaluation ( 444 ) ( 116 )

Accretion expense 234  243  

Ending balance at December 31, $ 4,052  $ 4,262  
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10.     ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEMS, NET

Energy Storage Systems, Net

Energy storage systems, net, consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Energy storage systems placed into service $ 141,181  $ 143,154  

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 70,918 ) ( 58,782 )

Energy storage systems not yet placed into service 4,155  6,385  

Total energy storage systems, net $ 74,418  $ 90,757  

Depreciation expense for energy storage systems was approximately $ 14.4 million, $ 14.9  million and $ 14.4  million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Depreciation expense is recognized in cost of service revenue.

11.     BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Unbilled receivables $ 190,230  $ 151,278  

Accounts receivable - customer 113,262  70,727  

Financing obligation receivables 4,253  5,061  

Accounts receivable allowance ( 4,904 ) ( 3,879 )

Other 7  32  

Total accounts receivable, net $ 302,848  $ 223,219  

Collateralized accounts receivable of approximately $ 29.3 million as of December 31, 2023 were held by the Company and were included in “Accounts
receivable, net” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. In the event the accounts receivable is not paid, the Company has the option to repossess
the inventory from the customer.

Inventory

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Work in process inventory $ 23,074  $ 3,374  

Raw Materials 2,961  4,623  

Finished Goods 629  376  

Batteries 1  1  

Total inventory $ 26,665  $ 8,374  
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Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Prepaid expenses $ 5,971  $ 5,676  

Utility program deposits 153  80  

Due from related parties 73  74  

Other 3,106  2,196  

Total other current assets $ 9,303  $ 8,026  

Other Noncurrent Assets

Other noncurrent assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Prepaid warranties and maintenance $ 41,023  $ 33,686  

Unbilled receivables, net 18,662  9,409  

Deferred costs with suppliers —  7,720  

Receivable from SPEs (Note 17) 2,523  2,543  

Self-generation incentive program deposits 561  688  

Investment in VIEs 2,094  1,971  

Property and equipment, net 2,813  2,158  

Project assets 8,424  3,208  

Restricted cash 1,100  —  

Other 4,669  3,956  

Total other noncurrent assets $ 81,869  $ 65,339  

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was $ 0.7 million and $ 0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
and immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Accrued payables $ 67,543  $ 83,022  

Accrued interest 2,674  311  

Other accrued liabilities 6,656  1,925  

Total accrued liabilities $ 76,873  $ 85,258  
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Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Derivative liability $ 7,731  $ —  

System advances 266  266  

Lease liabilities – current portion 2,950  2,574  

Due to related parties 31  687  

Other 1,748  1,885  

Total other current liabilities $ 12,726  $ 5,412  

12.     NOTES PAYABLE

Revolving Loan Due to SPE Member

In April 2017, the Company entered into a revolving loan agreement with an affiliate of a member of certain of the Company’s special purpose entities
(“SPE”). This agreement was, from time to time, subsequently amended. The purpose of this revolving loan agreement was to finance the Company’s
purchase of hardware for its various energy storage system projects. The agreement had a total revolving loan capacity of $ 45.0 million that bore fixed
interest at 10 % with a maturity date of June 2020.

In May 2020, concurrent with the 2020 Credit Agreement discussed below, the Company entered into an amendment to the revolving loan agreement,
which reduced the loan capacity to $ 35.0 million and extended the maturity date to May 2021. The amendment increased the fixed interest rate for any
borrowings outstanding more than nine months to 14 % thereafter. Additionally, under the original terms of the revolving loan agreement, the Company was
able to finance 100 % of the value of the hardware purchased up to the total loan capacity. The amendment reduced the advance rate to 85 %, with an
additional reduction to 70 % in August 2020. The amendment was accounted for as a modification of the debt, which did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements. In April 2021, the Company repaid the remaining outstanding balance of this facility with the proceeds received from the
Merger. The facility was terminated after the repayment in April 2021.

Term Loan Due to Former Non-Controlling Interest Holder

In June 2018, the Company acquired the outstanding member interests of an entity controlled by the Company for $ 8.1 million. The Company financed
this acquisition by entering into a term loan agreement with the noncontrolling member bearing fixed interest of 4.5 % per quarter ( 18.0 % per annum) on
the outstanding principal balance. The loan required fixed quarterly payments throughout the term of the loan, which was scheduled to be paid in full by
April 1, 2026.

In May 2020, the Company amended the term loan and, using the proceeds from the 2020 Credit Agreement discussed below, prepaid $ 1.5 million of
principal and interest on the note, of which $ 1.0 million was towards the outstanding principal balance, thereby reducing the fixed quarterly payment due to
the lender. In relation to this amendment, the Company was required to issue warrants for 400,000 shares of common stock resulting in a discount to the
term loan of $ 0.2 million. In April 2021, the Company repaid the remaining outstanding balance of this facility with the proceeds received from the Merger.
Upon prepayment of this facility, the Company incurred $ 2.6  million in prepayment penalties that were recorded to loss on extinguishment of debt in the
Company’s statement of operations. The facility was terminated after the repayment in April 2021.

2020 Credit Agreement

In May 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement (“2020 Credit Agreement”) with a new lender that provided the Company with proceeds of $
25.0 million to provide the Company with access to working capital towards the purchase of energy storage system equipment. The 2020 Credit Agreement
has a maturity date of the earlier of (1) May 2021, (2) the maturity date of the revolving loan agreement, or (3) the maturity date of the Pre-Merger
Convertible Promissory Notes discussed below in Note 13 — Convertible Notes. The loan bore interest of 12 % per annum, of which 8 % was paid in cash
and 4 % added back to principal of the loan balance every quarter. The Company used a portion of the proceeds towards payments associated with existing
debt. In April 2021, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of this facility with the proceeds received from the Merger. Upon prepayment of this
facility, the Company incurred $ 1.4  million in prepayment penalties that
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were recorded to loss on extinguishment of debt in the Company’s statement of operations. The facility was terminated after the repayment in April 2021.

2021 Credit Agreement

In January 2021, the Company, through a wholly-owned Canadian entity, entered into a credit agreement to provide a total of $ 2.7  million towards the
financing of certain energy storage systems. The credit agreement is structured on a non-recourse basis and the system will be operated by the Company.
The credit agreement has a stated interest of 5.45 % and a maturity date of June 2031. The Company received an advance under the credit agreement of $
1.8  million in January 2021. The repayment of advances received under this credit agreement is determined by the lender based on the proceeds
generated by the Company through the operation of the underlying energy storage systems.

On April 6, 2023, the Company repaid the remaining outstanding balance under the 2021 Credit Agreement with a portion of the net proceeds from the
issuance of the 2030 Convertible Notes (as described in Note 13 — Convertible Notes). Upon prepayment of this facility, the Company incurred a $ 0.3
million loss on extinguishment of debt, which is recorded in the Company’s statement of operations. The facility was terminated after the repayment in April
2023.

13.     CONVERTIBLE NOTES

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had various convertible notes outstanding to investors. The Company refers to the collective group of all such
note instruments as the “Pre-Merger Convertible Promissory Notes.” As of December 31, 2020, these Pre-Merger Convertible Promissory Notes had a
balance of $ 67.6  million. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued additional convertible notes, including convertible promissory
notes issued and sold in January 2021 (the “Q1 2021 Convertible Notes”) and the 2028 Convertible Notes. Upon effectiveness of the Merger on April 28,
2021, all outstanding Pre-Merger Convertible Promissory Notes were converted to common stock and cancelled (see “—Conversion and Cancellation of
Convertible Promissory Notes Upon Merger” below). As of December 31, 2021, the Pre-Merger Convertible Promissory Notes and the Q1 2021 Convertible
Notes were no longer outstanding.

Q1 2021 Convertible Notes

In January 2021, the Company issued and sold the Q1 2021 Convertible Notes under the same terms as the then existing Pre-Merger Convertible
Promissory Notes to various investors with aggregate gross proceeds of $ 1.1  million. The Company evaluated the conversion option within the Q1 2021
Convertible Notes and determined the effective conversion price was beneficial to the note holders.

Conversion and Cancellation of Convertible Promissory Notes Upon Merger

Immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Merger, the entire balance of the Company’s outstanding Pre-Merger Convertible Promissory Notes issued
by Legacy Stem automatically converted into shares of Legacy Stem Common Stock. Upon the effectiveness of the Merger, these shares of Legacy Stem
Common Stock automatically converted into 10,921,548 shares of common stock of Stem. The balance associated with the outstanding Pre-Merger
Convertible Promissory Notes totaling $ 77.7  million, including $ 7.7  million of interest accrued on the notes through the date of Merger, was reclassified to
additional paid-in-capital. The unamortized portion of the debt discount associated with the outstanding Q1 2021 Convertible Notes totaling $ 1.1  million
was fully expensed to loss on extinguishment of debt in the Company’s statement of operations.

2028 Convertible Notes and Capped Call Options

2028 Convertible Notes

On November 22, 2021, the Company issued $ 460.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 2028 Convertible Notes in a private placement offering
to qualified institutional buyers (the “2021 Initial Purchasers”) pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The 2028 Convertible Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 0.5 % per year, payable in cash semi-
annually in arrears in June and December of each year, beginning in June 2022. The 2028 Convertible Notes will mature on December 1, 2028, unless
earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. Upon conversion, the Company may choose to pay or deliver,
as the case may be, cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. The 2028 Convertible Notes are redeemable for
cash at the Company’s option at any time given certain conditions (as discussed below), at an initial conversion rate of 34.1965 shares of common stock per
$1,000 principal amount of 2028 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of
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approximately $ 29.24 (the “2028 Conversion Price”) per share of the Company’s common stock. The conversion rate is subject to customary adjustments
for certain events as described in the related indenture.

The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the 2028 Convertible Notes, at the Company’s option, on or after December 5, 2025 if the last
reported sale price of the Company’s common stock has been at least 130 % of the 2028 Conversion Price then in effect for at least 20 trading days at a
redemption price equal to 100 % of the principal amount of the 2028 Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The Company’s net proceeds from this offering were approximately $ 445.7 million, after deducting the Initial Purchasers’ discounts and debt issuance
costs. To minimize the impact of potential dilution to the Company’s common stockholders upon conversion of the 2028 Convertible Notes, the Company
entered into separate capped calls transactions (the “2028 Capped Calls”) as described below. In connection with the issuance of the 2030 Convertible
Notes during the second quarter of 2023, the Company used approximately $ 99.8  million of the net proceeds to purchase and surrender for cancellation
approximately $ 163.0  million aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 2028 Convertible Notes, which resulted in a $ 59.4  million gain on debt
extinguishment. See 2030 Convertible Notes  below for further details of the 2030 Convertible Notes.

In accordance with accounting guidance for debt with conversion and other options, the Company separately accounted for the liability and equity
components of the 2028 Convertible Notes by allocating the proceeds between the liability component and the equity component, due to the Company's
ability to settle the 2028 Convertible Notes in cash, its common Stock, or a combination of cash and common Stock at the option of the Company. The
carrying amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated conversion
feature. The equity component of the 2028 Convertible Notes was recognized as a debt discount and represents the difference between the gross proceeds
from the issuance of the 2028 Convertible Notes and the fair value of the liability component of the 2028 Convertible Notes on the date of issuance. The
debt discount is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over approximately seven years , or the expected life of the 2028
Convertible Notes. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.

After allocating the proceeds of the liability and equity components, the Company further allocated $ 14.3 million initial purchasers’ debt discount and
debt issuance cost of $ 12.4 million and $ 1.9 million, respectively. The initial purchaser’s discount and debt issuance costs primarily consisted of
underwriters, advisory, legal, and accounting fees. These costs were allocated to the debt and equity components based on the allocation of the proceeds
as follows (in thousands):

Amount
Equity

Component Debt Component

Initial Purchaser’s Debt Discount $ 12,420  $ 3,650  $ 8,770  

Debt Issuance Costs 1,871  550  1,321  

Total $ 14,291  $ 4,200  $ 10,091  

The portion allocated to the debt component is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the expected life of the 2028
Convertible Notes, or approximately its seven-year term. The effective interest rate on the liability component of the 2028 Convertible Notes for the period
from the date of issuance through December 2028 is 5.96 %, which remains unchanged from the date of issuance.

At the original issuance date, the fair value of the debt component of the Company’s 2028 Convertible Notes was $ 324.8 million and the estimated fair
value of the equity component was $ 135.2 million, as measured on the date of issuance, resulting in a total fair value of $ 460.0 million for the 2028
Convertible Notes. The 2028 Convertible Notes were priced at par at the valuation date resulting in the fair value of the 2028 Convertible Notes equal to the
principal amount of $ 460.0 million. The fair value of the equity component has been calculated as the residual amount between the fair value of the 2028
Convertible Notes and the fair value of the debt component.

Upon adoption of ASU 2020-06, the Company allocated all of the debt discount to long-term debt. The debt discount is amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method, computed to be 0.9 %, over the life of the 2028 Convertible Notes or approximately its seven-year term. The
outstanding 2028 Convertible Notes balances as of December 31, 2023 and
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2022 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Long Term Debt

Outstanding principal $ 297,024  $ 460,000  

Unamortized 2021 Initial Purchasers’ debt discount and debt issuance cost ( 6,501 ) ( 12,091 )

Net carrying amount $ 290,523  $ 447,909  

The following table presents total interest expense recognized related to the 2028 Convertible Notes during the year ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Cash interest expense

Contractual interest expense $ 1,693  $ 2,300  

Non-cash interest expense

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance cost 1,487  1,986  

Total interest expense $ 3,180  $ 4,286  

2028 Capped Call Options

On November 17, 2021, in connection with the pricing of the 2028 Convertible Notes, and on November 19, 2021, in connection with the exercise in full
by the 2021 Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional Notes, the Company entered into 2028 Capped Calls with certain counterparties. The
Company used $ 66.7 million of the net proceeds to pay the cost of the 2028 Capped Calls.

The 2028 Capped Calls have an initial strike price of $ 29.2428 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the 2028 Convertible
Notes and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments. The 2028 Capped Calls have a cap price of $ 49.6575 per share, subject to certain adjustments.

The 2028 Capped Calls are considered separate transactions entered into by and between the Company and the 2028 Capped Calls counterparties,
and are not part of the terms of the 2028 Convertible Notes. The Company recorded a reduction to additional paid-in capital of $ 66.7  million during the year
ended December 31, 2021 related to the premium payments for the 2028 Capped Calls. These instruments meet the conditions outlined in ASC 815 to be
classified in stockholders’ equity and are not subsequently remeasured as long as the conditions for equity classification continue to be met.

2030 Convertible Notes and 2030 Capped Call Options

2030 Convertible Notes

On April 3, 2023, the Company issued $ 240.0  million aggregate principal amount of its 2030 Convertible Notes in a private placement offering to
qualified institutional buyers (the “2023 Initial Purchasers”) pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The 2030 Convertible Notes are senior, unsecured obligations of the Company and bear interest at a rate of 4.25 % per year, payable in cash semi-
annually in arrears in April and October of each year, beginning on October 1, 2023. The 2030 Convertible Notes will mature on April 1, 2030, unless earlier
repurchased, redeemed or converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. Upon conversion, the Company may choose to pay or deliver cash,
shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. The 2030 Convertible Notes are redeemable for cash at the Company’s
option at any time given certain conditions (as discussed below), at an initial conversion rate of 140.3066 shares of common stock per $1,000.00 principal
amount of the 2030 Convertible Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $ 7.1272 (the “2030 Conversion Price”) per share of
the Company’s common stock. The conversion rate is subject to customary adjustments for certain events as described in the related indenture.

The 2030 Convertible Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, on or after April 5, 2027 if the last reported sale price of
the Company’s common stock has been at least 130 % of the 2030 Conversion Price then in effect for at least 20 trading days at a redemption price equal
to 100 % of the principal amount of the 2030 Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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The Company’s net proceeds from this offering were approximately $ 232.4  million, net of $ 7.6  million in debt issuance costs primarily consisting of
underwriters, advisory, legal, and accounting fees. The Company used approximately $ 99.8  million of the net proceeds to purchase and surrender for
cancellation approximately $ 163.0  million aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 2028 Convertible Notes. See 2028 Convertible Notes  above for
further details on the impacts of the debt extinguishment.

The outstanding 2030 Convertible Notes balances as of December 31, 2023 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Long Term Debt

Outstanding principal $ 240,000  

Unamortized 2023 Initial Purchasers’ debt discount and debt issuance cost ( 6,890 )

Net carrying amount $ 233,110  

The debt discount and debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method, computed to be 4.70 %, over the life
of the 2030 Convertible Notes or its approximately seven-year term.

The following table presents total interest expense recognized related to the 2030 Convertible Notes during the three months ended December 31, 2023
(in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Cash interest expense

Contractual interest expense $ 7,593  

Non-cash interest expense

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance cost 711  

Total interest expense $ 8,304  

2030 Capped Call Options

On March 29, 2023 and March 31, 2023, in connection with the pricing of the 2030 Convertible Notes, and on April 3, 2023, in connection with the
exercise in full by the 2023 Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional 2030 Convertible Notes, the Company entered into Capped Calls (the
“2030 Capped Calls”) with certain counterparties. The Company used $ 27.8  million of the net proceeds from the 2030 Convertible Notes to pay the cost of
the 2030 Capped Calls.

The 2030 Capped Calls have an initial strike price of $ 7.1272 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the 2030 Convertible Notes
and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments. The 2030 Capped Calls have a cap price of $ 11.1800 per share, subject to certain adjustments.

The 2030 Capped Calls are considered separate transactions entered into by and between the Company and the 2030 Capped Calls counterparties,
and are not part of the terms of the 2030 Convertible Notes. The Company recorded a reduction to additional paid-in capital of $ 27.8  million during the
second quarter of 2023 related to the premium payments for the 2030 Capped Calls. These instruments meet the conditions outlined in ASC 815 to be
classified in stockholders’ equity and are not subsequently remeasured as long as the conditions for equity classification continue to be met.

14.     WARRANTS

Legacy Stem Warrants

Prior to the Merger, the Company had issued warrants to purchase shares of Legacy Stem’s preferred stock in conjunction with various debt financings.
The Company has also issued warrants to purchase shares of Legacy Stem’s common stock. Upon effectiveness of the Merger, the Company had
50,207,439 warrants outstanding, of which substantially all were converted into 2,759,970 shares of common stock of Stem. Upon conversion of the
warrants, the existing warrant liabilities were remeasured to fair value resulting in a gain on remeasurement of $ 100.9 million and a total warrant liability of
$ 60.6 million, which was then reclassified to additional paid-in-capital. As of December 31, 2023, there were 2,533 Legacy Stem Warrants outstanding.
These instruments are exercisable into the Company’s common stock and are equity classified.
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Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants

As part of STPK’s initial public offering, under the Warrant Agreement dated as of August 20, 2020 and, prior to the effectiveness of the Merger, STPK
issued 12,786,168 warrants each of which entitled the holder to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of $ 11.50 per share of common
stock (the “Public Warrants”). Simultaneously with the closing of the initial public offering, STPK completed the private sale of 7,181,134 million warrants to
Star Peak Sponsor LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Private Warrants”). Upon issuance, these warrants met the criteria for liability
classification. Upon the effectiveness of the Merger, Stem assumed the outstanding Public Warrants and Private Warrants, which continued to meet the
criteria for liability classification, resulting in assumed warrant liabilities of $ 185.9 million and $ 116.7 million, respectively, or a total warrant liability of $
302.6 million. Such warrants were initially recorded at fair value and remeasured to fair value at each reporting period. The fair value of the Private Warrants
was determined using the Black-Scholes method. Black-Scholes inputs used to value the warrants are based on information from purchase agreements
and within valuation reports prepared by an independent third party for the Company. Inputs include exercise price, selection of guideline public companies,
volatility, fair value of common stock, expected dividend rate and risk-free interest rate.

On June 25, 2021, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with the holders of the 7,181,134 outstanding
Private Warrants, pursuant to which such holders received 4,683,349 shares of the Company’s common stock on June 30, 2021, in exchange for the
cancellation of all outstanding Private Warrants. The Exchange Shares were issued in reliance upon the exemption provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Immediately prior to the exchange, the Private Warrants were marked to fair value, resulting in a loss of $ 52.0 million.
As a result of the Exchange Agreement, there are no Private Warrants outstanding.

On August 20, 2021, the Company issued an irrevocable notice for redemption of all 12,786,129 of the Company’s outstanding public warrants at 5:00
p.m. Eastern time on September 20, 2021 (“Redemption Date”). Pursuant to the notice of redemption, holders exercised 12,638,723 Public Warrants for a
purchase price of 11.50 per share, for proceeds to the Company of approximately $ 145.3  million. The Company redeemed all remaining outstanding
Public Warrants that had not been exercised as of 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on the Redemption Date. As a result of the settlement of the Public Warrants, the
Company recorded a gain of $ 134.9  million on the revaluation of the warrant liability. The Company also recorded a gain of $ 2.1  million on the
redemption of unexercised Public Warrants. These gains are recorded in “change in fair value of warrants and embedded derivative” in the consolidated
statements of operation in the year ended December 31, 2021. The Public Warrants have been delisted from the NYSE, and there are no public warrants
outstanding.

Warrants Issued for Services

On April 7, 2021, the Company entered into a strategic relationship with an existing shareholder not deemed to be a related party to jointly explore on a
non-exclusive basis possible business opportunities to advance projects in the United States, the United Kingdom, Europe and Asia. As consideration for
the strategic relationship, upon closing of the Merger, the Company issued warrants to purchase 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $ 0.01 per share. These warrants were deemed to have been fully earned as of the grant date. The warrants were valued at fair market
value as of the grant date totaling $ 9.2 million and recorded to general and administrative expense in the Company’s statement of operations. In May 2021,
all of these warrants were exercised for shares of the Company’s common stock.

15.     COMMON STOCK

The Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance as follows:

December 31,
2023

Shares reserved for warrants 2,533

RSUs outstanding 11,159,272

Options outstanding 9,011,616

Shares available for future issuance under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 8,071,846

Conversion of 2030 Convertible Notes 42,933,810

Conversion of 2028 Convertible Notes 20,842,773

Total 92,021,850
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company had 8,071,846 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under equity incentive plans
corresponding to the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan . As of December 31, 2023, 3,622,474 stock options and 15,299,531 RSUs had been granted to
employees under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

16.     STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Under both the Stem, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”) and the Stem, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan,” and together
with the 2009 Plan, the “Plans”), the Company may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”),
performance stock units (“PSUs”), and other awards that are settled in shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company does not intend to grant new
awards under the 2009 Plan. All shares that remain available for future grants are under the 2021 Plan.

Stock Options

Under the Plans, the exercise price of an option cannot be less than 100 % of the fair value of one share of common stock for incentive or non-qualified
stock options, and not less than 110 % of the fair value for stockholders owning greater than 10 % of all classes of stock, as determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “Board”). Options under the Plans generally expire after 10 years. Under the Plans, the Compensation Committee of the Board
determines when the options granted will become exercisable. Options granted under the Plans generally vest 1/4 one year from the grant date and then
1/48 each month over the following three years and are exercisable for 10 years from the date of the grant. The Plans allow for exercise of unvested options
with repurchase rights over the restricted common stock issued at the original exercise price. The repurchase rights lapse at the same rate as the options
vest.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
Options

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in thousands)

Balances as of December 31, 2022 8,243,637  $ 6.88  6.6 35,566  

Options granted 1,291,349  10.25  

Options exercised ( 125,534 ) 2.20  

Options forfeited ( 397,836 ) 16.75  

Options expired — —

Balances as of December 31, 2023 9,011,616  $ 6.99  6.0 $ 8,686  

Options vested and exercisable — December 31, 2023 6,345,340  $ 4.86  5.0 $ 8,669  

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted to employees was $ 6.44 , $ 5.82 and $ 18.84 during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The intrinsic value of options exercised was $ 0.5 million, $ 12.7 million and $ 56.1 million during the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Significant Assumptions in Estimating Option Fair Value

The Company uses the Black-Scholes model for estimating the fair value of options granted. The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-
Scholes are as follows:

December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Expected volatility 69.05  % 68.28  % 74.00  %

Risk-free interest rate 3.97  % 1.73  % 1.06  %

Expected term (years) 6.01 6.25 6.23

Dividend yield — — —
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Restricted Stock Units

RSUs represent a right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock that is both non-transferable and forfeitable unless and until certain
conditions are satisfied. RSUs generally, either cliff vest on the third anniversary of the award grant date, vest 1/4 per year over a four-year period, or vest
1/3 per year over a three-year period, subject to continued employment through each anniversary. The fair value of restricted stock units is determined on
the grant date and is amortized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.

The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the period ended December 31, 2023:

Number of
RSUs

Outstanding 

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Fair Value
Per Share

Balances as of December 31, 2022 6,719,490 $ 15.34  

RSUs granted 7,744,552 5.54  

RSUs vested ( 1,267,389 ) 10.80  

RSUs forfeited ( 2,037,381 ) 8.38  

Balances as of December 31, 2023 11,159,272 $ 10.31  

(1) Includes certain restricted stock units with service and market-based vesting criteria.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense recorded in each component of operating expenses in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Sales and marketing $ 6,293  $ 4,251  $ 1,723  

Research and development 13,463  4,634  2,367  

General and administrative 25,353  19,776  9,456  

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 45,109  $ 28,661  $ 13,546  

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had approximately $ 14.9 million of remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for stock
options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4 years. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had approximately $ 69.8
million of remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9
years. Research and development expenses of $ 4.3 million and $ 3.0 million corresponding to internal-use software, were capitalized during the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Awards under the Company’s stock bonus program issued through the 2021 Plan are accounted for as liability-classified awards, because the
obligations are based predominantly on a fixed monetary amount determined at a future date to be settled with a variable number of shares of the
Company’s common stock. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to such bonuses in the amount of $ 8.5 million during the
year ended December 31, 2023.

17.     SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITES

The Company has formed various SPEs to finance the development and construction of its energy storage systems. These SPEs, which are structured
as limited liability companies, obtain financing from outside investors and purchase projects from the Company under master purchase agreements by
making an upfront payment to the Company for such energy storage systems. As discussed in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , the
Company accounts for the large upfront payment received from the SPE as a financing obligation. The legal purchase of the energy storage system does
not affect the Company’s legal or constructive obligation to the host customer.

(1)
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Unconsolidated VIEs

SPV II, SPV III, and SPV IV

On January 23, 2015, June 7, 2016, and June 30, 2017 the Company entered into agreements to form three Limited Liability Companies: Stem Finance
SPV II, LLC (“SPV II”), Stem Finance SPV III, LLC (“SPV III”), and Generate-Stem LCR, LLC (“SPV IV”), respectively. These agreements are accounted for
as unconsolidated VIEs because the Company lacks the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economics of these entities.
Although the Company is not the primary beneficiary of these entities, due to its significant continuing involvement in the generation of cash flows of the
energy storage systems and legal responsibilities under the host customer contract, the Company is required to include the assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses of these entities in its consolidated financial statements. The significant activities involve deciding which energy storage systems to be purchased
by the SPE and setting of the annual operating budgets which govern the ongoing operation and maintenance of the energy storage systems. Both of these
activities significantly impact the revenue, expenses, and resulting residual returns or losses that will accrue to the investors of the SPE and require
approval by both Stem and the other third-party investor. Stem, the non-managing member of the SPE, shares power through its rights to (i) agree on SPE
purchases of energy storage systems in the master purchase agreement, and (ii) approve the annual operating budgets in the operating and maintenance
agreement. The other investor shares power through its rights as the managing member in the SPE. As a result, power is shared with the other investors in
the SPE who are not considered related parties (including de facto agency relationships) of the Company. Investments in such SPEs are accounted for
under the equity method of accounting and are recorded within other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s maximum loss
exposure from these entities is limited to the aggregate carrying amount of its equity method investments. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had not
provided, and is not required to provide, financial support through a liquidity arrangement or otherwise, to its SPEs, including circumstances in which it could
be exposed to further losses (e.g., cash shortfalls). The Company’s cumulative share of the earnings/(losses) in SPV II, SPV III and SPV IV was $ 0.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2022, and $ 0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Copec

During March 2020, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Compania de Petroleos de Chile Copec S.A.  (“Copec”), a leading
wholesaler and distributor of petroleum products, that supplies fuel, lubricants, and other retail services such as carwash and foods through its series of
service stations (the “JV Agreement”). The Company operates more than 650 service stations in Chile and more than 2,500 through different subsidiaries
companies around South America, Central America, and the United States.

The purpose of the JV Agreement is to form an entity with equity contributions from both Stem and Copec to explore and develop business
opportunities within the commercial and industrial space, including utilities and grid operators, in Latin America with the focus of providing intelligent energy
storage solutions that leverage advanced software analytics and controls (principally through the Athena Platform developed by Stem) (the “JV Entity”).
Stem’s technology and expertise will be combined with the strength of Copec’s scale, distribution network, energy knowledge and other expertise areas to
develop business in certain territories as defined in the JV Agreement.

The JV Entity is a VIE and the Company holds a variable interest in the JV Entity. However, the Company does not have the power to direct activities
that most significantly impact the economics of the JV Entity and, as such, is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the Company does not consolidate
the JV Entity. The Company has concluded that it has the ability to exercise significant influence over the JV Entity, and accounts for the investment using
the equity method.

The following table summarizes additional information about the Company’s equity method investments, SPV II, SPV III, SPV IV and Copec:

SPV II SPV III SPV IV COPEC

Date formed January 23, 2015 June 7, 2016 June 30, 2017 March 24, 2020

Initial ownership % 49  % 50  % 50  % 49  %

Stem’s interest 100 % of Class A shares 100 % of Class B shares 100 % of Class B shares 100 % of Class A shares

Initial distributions:

Class A 10 % (Stem) 80 % (Stem — 50 %) 97.5  % To be determined

Class B 90  % 20 % (Stem — 100 %) 2.5 % (Stem) N/A
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 , the Company’s investment in its unconsolidated SPEs, recorded within other noncurrent assets on the
consolidated balance sheets, was as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Investment in SPV II $ —  $ —  

Investment in SPV III 390  439  

Investment in SPV IV 372  308  

Copec 1,312  1,174  

Other equity method investments $ 20  $ 50  

Total equity method investments $ 2,094  $ 1,971  

As discussed in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , the Company accounts for the legal sales of the energy storage systems to the
SPEs as a financing obligation. This is because the Company has significant continuing involvement in the generation of cash flows of the energy storage
systems and continue to be legally responsible under the host customer contract. Accordingly, in addition to the equity method investment, the Company
has the following financing obligations associated with energy storage systems legally sold to the unconsolidated SPEs (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Financing obligation, current portion $ 14,835  $ 15,720  

Financing obligation, noncurrent $ 52,010  $ 63,867  

Interest expense related to the financing obligations was $ 5.6 million, $ 6.3 million, and $ 8.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

As a result of being the accounting owner of energy storage systems sold to the SPEs and retaining the obligation to provide energy optimization
services to host customers, the Company records the carrying value of energy storage system assets and obligations under the customer host contracts on
its consolidated balance sheet. These balances were as follows as of December 31, 2023 and 2022  (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Energy storage systems, net $ 67,719  $ 76,617  

Deferred revenue, current $ 4,712  $ 4,943  

Deferred revenue, noncurrent $ 8,641  $ 10,682  

Other liabilities $ 3,480  $ 3,763  

Because the Company is the legal party responsible for providing services to the host customer and significantly involved in generating the revenue
under the host customer arrangements, the Company records the revenue associated with services, and separately records payments to the VIE as debt
and interest payments. Revenues recognized by the Company associated with energy storage systems legally sold to the unconsolidated SPEs were $ 18.0
million, $ 17.8 million, and $ 16.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively . Such revenues are inclusive of incentive
fees, consistent with the Company’s revenue policy. Depreciation expense recognized within cost of service revenue by the Company for the energy
storage systems legally sold to the unconsolidated SPEs was $ 12.0 million, $ 6.8 million and $ 12.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.
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18.     NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, except share
and per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Numerator - Basic and Diluted:

Net loss attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ ( 140,413 ) $ ( 124,054 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Denominator:

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 155,583,957  153,413,743  105,561,139  

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ ( 0.90 ) $ ( 0.81 ) $ ( 0.96 )

The following table shows total outstanding potentially dilutive shares excluded from the computation of diluted shares outstanding for the periods
presented as the effect would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Outstanding 2028 Convertible Notes 10,157,181  15,730,390  15,730,390  

Outstanding 2030 Convertible Notes 33,673,584  —  —  

Outstanding stock options 9,011,616  8,243,637  8,766,466  

Outstanding warrants 2,533  2,533  23,673  

Outstanding RSUs 11,159,272  6,719,490  1,799,677  

Total 64,004,186  30,696,050  26,320,206  

19.     INCOME TAXES

The components of loss before provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Domestic $ ( 138,934 ) $ ( 137,164 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Foreign ( 1,046 ) ( 2,051 ) —  

Loss before income taxes $ ( 139,980 ) $ ( 139,215 ) $ ( 101,211 )

Due to the Company’s net losses, the Company did no t record a provision for federal income taxes during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively. The Company continues to maintain a full valuation allowance for its net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets.
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The components of the provision for income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Current:

Federal $ —  $ ( 24 ) $ —  

State 490  184  —  

Foreign 381  188  —  

Total current 871  348  —  

Deferred:

Federal ( 294 ) ( 12,448 ) —  

State ( 41 ) ( 3,021 ) —  

Foreign ( 103 ) ( 40 ) —  

Total deferred ( 438 ) ( 15,509 ) —  

Total provision for income taxes $ 433  $ ( 15,161 ) $ —  

The effective tax rate of the Company’s provision (benefit) for income taxes differs from the federal statutory rate as follows:

December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Statutory rate 21.00  % 21.00  % 21.00  %

State tax ( 0.32 )% 2.04  % 3.15  %

Foreign income and withholding taxes ( 0.36 )% ( 0.42 )% 1.61  %

Stock-based compensation ( 1.48 )% ( 0.51 )% 6.17  %

Change in fair value of warrants —  % —  % 0.71  %

Other ( 3.16 )% ( 2.26 )% ( 1.19 )%

Non-deductible interest expense ( 0.85 )% ( 0.96 )% ( 2.53 )%

Valuation allowance ( 15.14 )% ( 8.00 )% ( 28.92 )%

Total ( 0.31 )% 10.89  % —  %

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax reporting purposes, as well as net operating losses (“NOLs”) and tax credit carryforwards.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022  are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating losses $ 134,340  $ 122,005  

Tax credits 367  720  

Depreciable assets 37  291  

Operating lease liabilities 2,808  3,234  

Accruals and allowances 3,708  3,004  

Stock-based compensation 8,088  3,549  

Deferred revenue 33,894  34,575  

Interest expense 2,831  1,245  

Other 4,498  1,967  

Total gross deferred tax assets 190,571  170,590  

Less: Valuation allowance ( 168,304 ) ( 140,636 )

Net deferred tax assets 22,267  29,954  

Deferred tax liabilities:

Amortization of asset retirement obligation ( 675 ) ( 634 )

Intangibles ( 18,926 ) ( 26,319 )

Right-of-use assets ( 2,523 ) ( 2,961 )

Total gross deferred tax liabilities ( 22,124 ) ( 29,914 )

Net deferred taxes $ 143  $ 40  

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 , the Company had federal NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 459.8 million and $ 409.8 million, respectively, and
state NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 377.6 million and $ 353.2 million, respectively. Of the $ 459.8 million federal net operating loss, $ 97.0  million
will begin to expire in 2029, while the remaining amount does not expire. The state NOL carryforwards will begin to expire in 2029. As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Company had foreign NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 28.1 million and $ 23.5 million, respectively. The foreign net operating loss
carryforwards expire in 2039.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company did not have federal research and development tax credit carryforwards. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $ 0.7 million, which begin to expire in 2029 if not utilized. As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Company had California research and development tax credit carryforwards of $ 0.7 million and $ 0.7 million, respectively, which do not
expire.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. As a result of a history of taxable losses and uncertainties as to future profitability, the Company recorded a full valuation
allowance against its deferred tax assets with exception of a foreign subsidiary which has been profitable historically. The valuation allowance was $ 168.3
million and $ 140.6 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 , respectively.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit forwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to ownership change
limitations that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by the Internal Revenue Code Section 382, as well as similar state
provisions. In general, an “ownership change,” as defined by the code, results from a transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting
in an ownership change of more than 50 percentage points of the outstanding stock of a company by certain stockholders or public groups. Any limitation
may result in expiration of all or a portion of the NOL or tax credit carryforwards before utilization. The Company performed a detailed analysis in FY2023 to
determine whether an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code has previously occurred. As a result, the Company’s NOLs available after the
Section 382 limitation is approximately $ 459.8 million.
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The Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $ 0.3 million and $ 0.7 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively . There were no
material additions, reductions or settlements of unrecognized tax benefits for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 . The Company expects resolution
of unrecognized tax benefits, if created, would occur while the full valuation allowance of deferred tax assets is maintained. The Company does not expect
to have any unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2023, the Company does not have a
liability for potential penalties or interest. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the United States of America, Canada,
Germany, Japan and India. The Company is not currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service or other foreign revenue agencies, or similar state or
local authorities. The tax return years 2019 through 2023 remain open to examination by the major domestic taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is
subject. Net operating losses generated on a tax return basis by the Company for calendar years 2011 through 2023 remain open to examination by the
major domestic taxing jurisdictions.

20.     COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Non-cancelable Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of business, we enter into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various parties to purchase primarily software-based
services. As of December 31, 2023, we had outstanding non-cancelable purchase obligations with a term of less than 12 months of $ 3.7 million and non-
cancelable purchase obligations with a term 12 months or longer of $ 3.0 million.

Contingencies

The Company is party to various legal proceedings from time to time arising in the ordinary course of its business . A liability is accrued when a loss is
both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Management believes that the probability of a material loss with respect to any currently pending legal
proceeding is remote. However, litigation is inherently uncertain and it is not possible to definitively predict the ultimate disposition of any of these
proceedings. The Company does not believe that there are any pending legal proceedings or other loss contingencies that will, either individually or in the
aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Non-Income Related Taxes

During 2023, the Company determined that it was not appropriately charging certain customers sales tax and remitting to the applicable amounts to the
relevant taxing authority related to certain revenue arrangements from 2018 through 2022. As a result, the Company recorded an out of period adjustment
of $ 5.0  million in 2023 to accrue for the probable liability with a corresponding amount included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated
statement of operations. Management considered qualitative and quantitative factors and concluded the out of period adjustment is immaterial to 2023 and
each of the applicable periods.

21.     EMPLOYER RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan covering all eligible employees. Participants may elect to defer a percentage of their compensation
ranging from 1 % to 100 %, up to the maximum allowable by law by making contributions to the plan. The Company may match, at its discretion, the
employee contributions according to the terms of the plan. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the company made
matching contributions of $ 2.2  million and $ 0.6  million to the plan, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not match
any of its employees’ contributions.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (“Disclosure Controls") within the meaning of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Our
Disclosure Controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act, such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms. Our Disclosure Controls are also designed to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Based on management’s evaluation (under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and our CFO) of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our Disclosure Controls, as of December 31, 2023, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our Disclosure Controls were effective at a
reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and CFO to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our
assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on the evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2023, as stated in its report which is included in Item 9A.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) under the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the quarterly period ended December 31, 2023, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent
or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Furthermore, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The
design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future
periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in business conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Stem, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Stem, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2024, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

February 28, 2024
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

(b) Trading Plans

The following table describes contracts, instructions or written plans for the sale or purchase of our securities  adopted or terminated by our Section 16
officers and directors during the fourth quarter of 2023 and intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) (“Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Plans”). No Section 16 officer or director adopted or terminated any non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K
promulgated under the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Name and Title

Date of Adoption or
Termination of Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plan

Duration of Rule 10b5-1
Trading Plan

Aggregate Number of
Securities to be Purchased or
Sold

Matthew Tappin ( President, Asset
Management )

Adopted 11/13/2023 11/13/2023 through
11/15/2024

Sell up to 27,403 shares of
common stock, subject to
certain conditions

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

See Part I, Item I, “Business —Information About Our Executive Officers” of this Report for information regarding our executive officers. The other
information required for this Item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement, including under the headings “Corporate Governance” and “Delinquent
Section 16(a) Reports,” if applicable, and is incorporated by reference.

We maintain a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our principal executive,
principal financial and principal accounting officers, or persons performing similar functions. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is published on our
website at investors.stem.com/governance. We intend to disclose on our website future amendments to certain provisions of our Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics, or waivers of the code granted to executive officers and directors, in accordance with SEC rules.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under this Item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement, including under the headings “Executive Compensation,”
“Executive Compensation Tables,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks,” and “Report of the Compensation Committee,” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNER AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under this Item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement, including under the headings “Equity Compensation Plan
Information,” “Certain Information About Our Common Stock,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under this Item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement, including under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related
Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under this Item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement, including under the heading “Ratification of Independent Auditor
Selection,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements: The financial statements filed as part of this Report are listed on the index to financial statements on page 57.

(2) Financial Schedules: All schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, not present in amounts sufficient to require
submission of the schedule, or the required information is otherwise included.

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index are included, or incorporated by reference, in this Report.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated April 28, 2021  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2021).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated October 27, 2022  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3  to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on October 31, 2022).

4.1 Indenture dated as of November 22, 2021, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee  (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Stem’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2021).

4.2 Form of 0.50% Convertible Senior Note due 2028  (included in Exhibit 4.1).

4.3 Indenture dated as of April 3, 2023, between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2023).

4.4 Form of 4.25% Convertible Senior Note due 2030  (included in Exhibit 4.3).

4.5 Description of the Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Stem’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2022).

10.1 Form of Confirmation for 2028 Capped Call Transactions  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Stem’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on November 22, 2021).

10.2 Purchase Agreement dated as of November 17, 2021, between the Company and the Initial Purchasers  (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Stem’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2021).

10.3 Form of Confirmation for 2030 Capped Call Transactions  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on April 3, 2023).

10.4† Stem, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Stem’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2022).

10.5† Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Stem, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Stem’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2022).

10.6† Stem, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Stem’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on
July 2, 2021)

10.7* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Stem, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

10.8* Global Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Stem, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

10.9 Investor Rights Agreement dated April 28, 2021, by and among the Company and certain of its stockholders  (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2021)

10.10†† Framework BESS Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2021, by and between Tesla, Inc. and Stem, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Stem’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2021)

10.11†† First Amended and Restated M aster Supply Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Energy Storage Systems, dated as of February 28,
2020, by and between Sungrow USA Corporation, Sungrow Samsung SDI Energy Storage Power Supply Co., Ltd. and Stem, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Stem’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2022).

10.12†† First Amended and Restated Master Supply Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Energy Storage Equipment, dated as of September
14, 2022, by and between Powin Energy Corporation and Stem, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Stem’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 4, 2023).
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10.13† Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Stem’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2022).

10.14† Form of Executive Employment Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Stem’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 28, 2022).

21* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24* Powers of Attorney.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

97* Stem, Inc. Clawback Policy

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith

** Furnished herewith

† Management or compensatory plan or arrangement

†† Information in this exhibit (indicated by brackets) has been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 28, 2024 STEM, INC.

By: /s/ William Bush

William Bush

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title

* Chief Executive Officer and Director

John Carrington (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ William Bush Chief Financial Officer

William Bush (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Rahul Shukla Chief Accounting Officer

Rahul Shukla (Principal Accounting Officer)

* Chairman of the Board

David Buzby

* Director

Adam E. Daley

* Director

Anil Tammineedi

* Director

Michael C. Morgan

* Director

Laura D’Andrea Tyson

* Director

Ira Birns

* Director

Jane Woodward

/s/ Saul R. Laureles February 28, 2024

* By Saul R. Laureles, Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT 10.7

STEM, INC.

2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) shall have the same

defined meanings in this Stock Option Agreement (the “Option Agreement”).

I. NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Name:

The undersigned Participant has been granted an Option to purchase Common Stock of the Company, subject to the
terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement, as follows:

Date of Grant:
Exercise Price per Share:

Total Number of Shares Granted:

Type of Option:    ____ Incentive Stock Option (ISO)
____ Nonstatutory Stock Option (NSO)

Term/Expiration Date:

Vesting Schedule:

This Option shall be exercisable, in whole or in part, according to the following vesting schedule, subject to such
Participant’s Continuous Service through each applicable vesting date:

Please refer to Appendix: Vesting Schedule

Termination Period:

Vested Option shall be exercisable for three (3) months after Participant’s Continuous Service ceases, unless such
cessation is due to Participant’s death or Disability, in which case this Option shall be exercisable for twelve (12) months
after Participant’s Continuous Service ceases. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, in no event may this Option be
exercised after the Term/Expiration Date as provided above and this Option may be subject to earlier termination as
provided in the Plan.

II. AGREEMENT

1. Grant of Option. The Administrator of the Company hereby grants to the Participant named in the Notice of
Stock Option Grant in Part I of this Agreement (“Participant”), an option (the “Option”) to purchase the number of Shares set
forth in the Notice of Stock Option Grant, at the



exercise price per Share set forth in the Notice of Stock Option Grant (the “Exercise Price”), and subject to the terms and
conditions of the Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 18 of the Plan, in the event of a conflict
between the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

If designated in the Notice of Stock Option Grant as an Incentive Stock Option (“ISO”), this Option is intended
to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option as defined in Section 422 of the Code. Nevertheless, to the extent that it exceeds the
$100,000 rule of Code Section 422(d), this Option shall be treated as a Nonstatutory Stock Option (“NSO”). Further, if for
any reason this Option (or portion thereof) shall not qualify as an ISO, then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such
Option (or portion thereof) shall be regarded as a NSO granted under the Plan. In no event shall the Administrator, the
Company or any Parent or Subsidiary or any of their respective employees or directors have any liability to Participant (or
any other person) due to the failure of the Option to qualify for any reason as an ISO.

2. Exercise of Option.

(a) Right to Exercise. This Option shall be exercisable during its term in accordance with the Vesting
Schedule set out in the Notice of Stock Option Grant and with the applicable provisions of the Plan and this Option
Agreement.

(b) Method of Exercise. This Option shall be exercisable by delivery of an exercise notice (the “Exercise
Notice”) in a manner and pursuant to such procedures as the Company may determine, which shall state the election to
exercise the Option, the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised (the “Exercised Shares”),
and such other representations and agreements as may be required by the Company. The Exercise Notice shall be
accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as to all Exercised Shares, together with any applicable tax
withholding. This Option shall be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Company of such fully executed Exercise
Notice accompanied by the aggregate Exercise Price, together with any applicable tax withholding.

No Shares shall be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option unless such issuance and such exercise
comply with applicable laws. Assuming such compliance, for income tax purposes the Shares shall be considered
transferred to Participant on the date on which the Option is exercised with respect to such Shares.

3. Clawback Policy. Participant hereby acknowledges that if he or she is covered by the Company’s policy on
recoupment of certain incentive-based compensation, as amended from time to time (the “Clawback Policy”), such policy
may result in the recoupment of the Options awarded hereunder, any Common Stock delivered hereunder, and any profits
realized on the sale of such Common Stock either before, on or after the date on which Participant becomes subject to such
policy. In addition, by acceptance of this award, Participant agrees that any prior awards that have been issued to him or her
pursuant to the Plan or any other incentive plan of the Company are subject to the Clawback Policy.

4. Lock-Up Period. Participant hereby agrees that Participant shall not offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any
option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend,
or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or
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indirectly, any Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company or enter into any swap, hedging or other arrangement
that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of any Common Stock (or
other securities) of the Company held by Participant (other than those included in the registration) for a period specified by
the representative of the underwriters of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company not to exceed one hundred
and eighty (180) days following the effective date of any registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities
Act (or such other period as may be requested by the Company or the underwriters to accommodate regulatory restrictions
on (i) the publication or other distribution of research reports and (ii) analyst recommendations and opinions, including, but
not limited to, the restrictions contained in NASD Rule 2711(f)(4) or NYSE Rule 472(f)(4), or any successor provisions or
amendments thereto).

Participant agrees to execute and deliver such other agreements as may be reasonably requested by the
Company or the underwriter which are consistent with the foregoing or which are necessary to give further effect thereto. In
addition, if requested by the Company or the representative of the underwriters of Common Stock (or other securities) of the
Company, Participant shall provide, within ten (10) days of such request, such information as may be required by the
Company or such representative in connection with the completion of any public offering of the Company’s securities
pursuant to a registration statement filed under the Securities Act. The obligations described in this Section 4 shall not apply
to a registration relating solely to employee benefit plans on Form S-1 or Form S-8 or similar forms that may be promulgated
in the future, or a registration relating solely to a Commission Rule 145 transaction on Form S-4 or similar forms that may be
promulgated in the future. The Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to the shares of Common Stock
(or other securities) subject to the foregoing restriction until the end of said one hundred and eighty (180) day (or other)
period. Participant agrees that any transferee of the Option or shares acquired pursuant to the Option shall be bound by this
Section 4.

5. Method of Payment. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price shall be by any of the following, or a combination
thereof, at the election of the Participant:

(a) cash;

(b) check;

(c) consideration received by the Company under a formal cashless exercise program adopted by the
Company in connection with the Plan; or

(d) surrender of other Shares which (i) shall be valued at its Fair Market Value on the date of exercise, and
(ii) must be owned free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, if accepting such Shares, in the
sole discretion of the Company, shall not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company.

6. Restrictions on Exercise. This Option may not be exercised if the issuance of such Shares upon such exercise
or the method of payment of consideration for such shares would constitute a violation of any applicable law.

7. Non-Transferability of Option.
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(a) This Option may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent or
distribution and may be exercised during the lifetime of Participant only by Participant. The terms of the Plan and this Option
Agreement shall be binding upon the executors, administrators, heirs, successors and assigns of Participant.

8. Term of Option. This Option may be exercised only within the term set out in the Notice of Stock Option Grant,
and may be exercised during such term only in accordance with the Plan and the terms of this Option Agreement.

9. Tax Obligations.

(a) Tax Withholding. Participant agrees to make appropriate arrangements with the Company (or the parent
or Subsidiary employing or retaining Participant) for the satisfaction of all Federal, state, local and foreign income and
employment tax withholding requirements applicable to the Option exercise. Participant acknowledges and agrees that the
Company may refuse to honor the exercise and refuse to deliver the Shares if such withholding amounts are not delivered
at the time of exercise.

(b) Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISO Shares. If the Option granted to Participant herein is an ISO,
and if Participant sells or otherwise disposes of any of the Shares acquired pursuant to the ISO on or before the later of (i)
the date two (2) years after the Date of Grant, or (ii) the date one (1) year after the date of exercise, Participant shall
immediately notify the Company in writing of such disposition. Participant agrees that Participant may be subject to income
tax withholding by the Company on the compensation income recognized by Participant.

10. Entire Agreement; Governing Law. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Option
Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and
may not be modified adversely to the Participant’s interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and
Participant. This Option Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws but not the choice of law rules of California.

11. No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING
OF SHARES PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A SERVICE
PROVIDER AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (OR THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING
PARTICIPANT) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS OPTION OR ACQUIRING
SHARES HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT, THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT
CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR
THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH
PARTICIPANT’S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR
RETAINING PARTICIPANT) TO TERMINATE PARTICIPANT’S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT ANY
TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
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Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and represents that he or she is familiar with the terms and
provisions thereof, and hereby accepts this Option subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof. Participant has
reviewed the Plan and this Option in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing
this Option and fully understands all provisions of the Option. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and
final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or this Option. Participant
further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in the residence address indicated below.

PARTICIPANT    

Signature    

Print Name    

Title
__________
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EXHIBIT 10.8

STEM, INC.
GLOBAL RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT 

AWARD AGREEMENT

RECITALS

A.    The Board has adopted the Stem, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the “Plan”) to
provide incentives to attract, retain and motivate eligible Employees, Directors and Consultants.

B.    This Agreement is executed pursuant to, and is intended to carry out the purposes of, the Plan in connection with
the Company’s issuance of shares of its common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Shares” or “Common Stock”) to
Participant thereunder.

C.    All capitalized terms in this Agreement are defined herein or in the Appendix hereto.

NOW, THEREFORE , the Company hereby awards restricted stock units (“Restricted Stock Units” or “RSUs”) to the
Participant named in the Award Notice (as defined in Section 1 below) on the following terms and conditions:

1. GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS. The Company hereby awards to Participant, as of the Grant Date
indicated below, RSUs under the Plan. Each RSU represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock, upon the terms
and subject to the conditions set forth in the award notice previously delivered to Participant (the “Award Notice”), this
Agreement and the Plan. Each RSU that vests hereunder will entitle Participant to receive one share of Common Stock on the
specified issuance date for that unit. The number of, the applicable vesting schedule for, and the grant date with respect to,
RSUs subject to this Award are set forth in the Award Notice. The remaining terms and conditions governing the Award shall
be as set forth in this Agreement.

AWARD SUMMARY

Participant Name: as set forth in the Award Notice
Grant Date: as set forth in the Award Notice (the “Grant Date”)
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Number of RSUs:
Vesting Schedule:

Issuance Schedule

as set forth in the Award Notice
RSUs will vest in three annual installments, with 33% vesting on the
earliest occurrence of March 7, May 7, August 7, or November 7
following the first anniversary of the Grant Date (the earliest occurrence
of such date, the “Specified Date”), 33% on the first anniversary of the
Specified Date, and 34% on the second anniversary of the Specified
Date (each such date of vesting, a “Vesting Date”); provided, however,
that RSUs may be subject to accelerated vesting in accordance with
the provisions of Section 5. If, on a Vesting Date, the Participant is
subject to any Company “blackout” period or other trading restriction
imposed by the Company, vesting for the relevant RSUs shall instead
occur on the earliest date that the Participant is not subject to any such
policy or restriction, as determined by the Chief Legal Officer and
Secretary of the Company. The period of time between the Grant Date
and the vesting of Restricted Stock Units (and the termination of
restrictions thereon) is the “Restricted Period.”
Upon vesting of RSUs in accordance with the Normal Vesting
Schedule, Shares will be issuable pursuant to the Plan on the
applicable Vesting Date, subject to the Company’s collection of
applicable Withholding Taxes. Issuance of Shares upon vesting of
RSUs will be made as soon as administratively practicable, but in no
event later than 2 ½ months following the applicable Vesting Date. The
procedures pursuant to which the applicable Withholding Taxes are to
be collected are set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.

2. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER. RSUs granted hereunder to Participant may not be sold, assigned,
transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, by operation of law or otherwise (any of the
foregoing, a “Transfer”), other than (i) to the Company as a result of the forfeiture of RSUs, or (ii) by will or the laws of descent
and distribution. Payment of RSUs after Participant’s death will be made to Participant’s estate or, in the sole and absolute
discretion of the Administrator, to the person or persons entitled to receive such payment under Applicable Laws of descent
and distribution. Consistent with the foregoing, no right or benefit under this Agreement will be subject to Transfer, and any
such attempt to Transfer, will have no effect and be void. No right or benefit hereunder will in any manner be liable for or
subject to any debts, contracts, liabilities or torts of the person entitled to such benefits. If Participant attempts to Transfer any
right or benefit hereunder or if any creditor attempts to subject the same to a writ of garnishment, attachment, execution,
sequestration, or any other form of process or involuntary lien or seizure, then such attempt will have no effect and be void,
and immediately upon any such attempt the RSUs will terminate and become of no further effect.
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3. FORFEITURES OF RSUS.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Section 3 or in Section 5 below, upon Participant’s termination of
Continuous Service for any reason and at any time during the Restricted Period, any then-unvested RSUs held by the
Participant shall be forfeited and cancelled as of the date of the Participant’s termination of Continuous Service. Upon
forfeiture, neither Participant nor any successors, heirs, assigns or legal representatives of Participant will thereafter have any
further rights or interest in the unvested RSUs.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if at any time during the Restricted Period, Participant’s
Continuous Service is terminated for Cause (or for a reason that is comparable to termination for Cause under either the
employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is employed or the terms of Participant’s employment agreement, if any),
or should Participant engage in any other conduct, while in Continuous Service or following cessation of Continuous Service,
that is detrimental to the business or affairs of the Company (or any Related Entity), as determined in the sole discretion of the
Administrator, then this Award will be immediately cancelled with respect to all RSUs (whether vested or unvested). Neither
Participant nor any successors, heirs, assigns or legal representatives of Participant, shall have any right or entitlement to
receive any Shares under such cancelled RSUs.

4. NO STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS UNTIL VESTING; DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS.

(a) Participant shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a stockholder of the Company with
respect to any RSUs unless and until the Company issues shares of Common Stock to Participant in settlement of such RSUs
(as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books and records of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the
Company).

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the Participant’s
receipt of Common Stock upon settlement of the RSUs and (ii) the time when the Participant’s right to receive Common Stock
upon settlement of the RSUs is forfeited, the Participant shall be entitled, as a Dividend equivalent, to a number of additional
whole RSUs on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Stock generally. Such
Dividend equivalent shall be determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar amount of the cash dividend paid per share
of Common Stock on such date and (B) the total number of RSUs (including dividend equivalents paid thereon) previously
credited to the Participant as of such date, by (ii) the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock on such date. Such
Dividend equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be settled or forfeited in the same
manner and at the same time as the RSUs to which the Dividend equivalents were credited.

5. CHANGE IN CONTROL.

(a) Any RSUs subject to this Award at the time of a Change in Control may be (i) assumed or otherwise
continued in full force and effect by the surviving corporation, (ii) replaced with an economically-equivalent substitute award or
(iii) replaced with a cash retention program of the successor corporation that is in a dollar amount equal to the Fair Market
Value of the Shares underlying those RSUs (as measured immediately prior to the Change in Control) and
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provides for the subsequent vesting and payout of that dollar amount in accordance with the same vesting and issuance
provisions that would otherwise be in effect for those Shares in the absence of the Change in Control, provided, that such
vesting schedule shall be modified to provide for accelerated vesting in accordance with Section 5(c) below. In the event of
such assumption or continuation of the Award or such replacement of the Award with an economically equivalent award or
cash retention program, no accelerated vesting of the RSUs shall occur at the time of the Change in Control. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, no such cash retention program shall be established for the RSUs subject to this Award to the extent such
program would otherwise be deemed to constitute a deferred compensation arrangement subject to the requirements of Code
Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

(b) In the event the Award is assumed or otherwise continued in effect, the RSUs subject to the Award shall
be adjusted immediately after the consummation of the Change in Control so as to apply to the number and class of securities
into which the Shares underlying those units immediately prior to the Change in Control would have been converted in
consummation of that Change in Control had those Shares actually been issued and outstanding at that time. To the extent
the actual holders of the outstanding Common Stock receive cash consideration for their Common Stock in consummation of
the Change in Control, the successor corporation (or parent entity) may, in connection with the assumption or continuation of
the RSUs subject to the Award at that time and with the approval of the Administrator, substitute one or more shares of its own
common stock with a fair market value equivalent to the cash consideration paid per Share in the Change in Control
transaction, provided the substituted common stock is readily tradable on an established U.S. securities exchange.

(c) Any RSUs that are to be assumed or otherwise continued in effect in connection with the Change in
Control or are to be replaced with an economically equivalent award or cash retention program in accordance with Section
5(a) shall be subject to accelerated vesting in accordance with the following provision:

If Participant’s Employee status is unilaterally terminated as a result of an involuntary termination (other than for death or
Disability) without Cause, or if Participant resigns from such Employee status due to a Constructive Termination, at any time
during the period beginning with the execution date of the definitive agreement for that Change in Control transaction and
ending with the earlier of (i) the termination of that definitive agreement without the consummation of such Change in Control
or (ii) the expiration of the Applicable Acceleration Period following the consummation of such Change in Control, then
Participant shall immediately vest in all the unvested RSUs (or any replacement securities or cash proceeds) at the time
subject to this Award. The Shares (or any replacement securities or cash proceeds) that are issuable upon vesting of RSUs
pursuant to this Section 5(c) shall be issued or distributed on the date of Participant’s Separation from Service in connection
with such termination of Employee status or as soon as administratively practicable thereafter, but in no event later than the
later of (i) the close of the calendar year in which such Separation from Service occurs or (ii) the fifteenth (15th) day of the
third (3rd) calendar month following the date of such Separation from Service. The applicable Withholding Taxes with respect
to such issuance shall be collected in accordance with Section 7 below.
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(d) If the RSUs subject to this Award at the time of the Change in Control are not assumed or otherwise
continued in effect in connection with the Change in Control or are not replaced with an economically equivalent award or cash
incentive program in accordance with Section 5(a), then those units will vest immediately prior to the closing of the Change in
Control. The Shares subject to those vested units shall be converted into the right to receive, for each such Share, the same
consideration per Share payable to the other stockholders of the Company in consummation of that Change in Control, and
such consideration per Share shall be distributed to Participant as soon as administratively practicable thereafter, but in no
event later than the later of (i) the close of the calendar year in which such Change in Control occurs or (ii) the fifteenth (15th)
day of the third (3rd) calendar month following the date of such Change in Control.

(e) This Agreement does not in any way affect the right of the Company to adjust, reclassify, reorganize or
otherwise change its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve, liquidate or sell or transfer all or any part
of its business or assets.

6. ADJUSTMENT IN SHARES. In the event of a Capitalization Adjustment, then equitable adjustments shall be
made by the Administrator to the total number and/or class of securities issuable pursuant to this Award in order to reflect
such change. In making such adjustments, the Administrator shall take into account any amounts to be credited to
Participant’s book account under Section 4(a) in connection with the transaction, and the determination of the Administrator
shall be final, binding and conclusive. In the event of a Change in Control, the provisions of Section 5 shall be controlling.

7. ISSUANCE OF SHARES OR OTHER AMOUNTS.

(a) On or after each date on which one or more Shares are to be issued in accordance with the express
provisions of this Agreement, the Company shall issue, to or on behalf of Participant, a certificate (which may be in electronic
form) for those Shares, subject in each instance to the Company’s collection of the applicable Withholding Taxes.

(b) Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action the Company and/or the Employer take with
respect to any or all Withholding Taxes related to Participant’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant, the
ultimate liability for all Withholding Taxes is and shall remain Participant’s responsibility, which liability may exceed the amount
actually withheld by the Company or the Employer. Participant further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (i)
make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Withholding Taxes in connection with any aspect of
the Award, including the grant, vesting, or settlement of the Award, the issuance of Shares (or other property) upon settlement
of the Award, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such issuance and the receipt of any dividends and/or
phantom dividend equivalents; and (ii) do not commit to, and are under no obligation to, structure the terms of the grant or any
aspect of the Award to reduce or eliminate Participant’s liability for Withholding Taxes or achieve any particular tax result.
Further, if Participant has become subject to Withholding Taxes in more than one jurisdiction, Participant acknowledges that
the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable), may be required to withhold or account for Withholding
Taxes in more than one jurisdiction.
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(c) The Company may (but is not obligated to) collect, and Participant hereby authorizes the Company to
collect, the Withholding Taxes with respect to the Shares issued under this Agreement through an automatic Share
withholding procedure (such as “net settlement”) pursuant to which the Company may withhold, immediately as the Shares
are issued under the Award, a portion of those Shares with a Fair Market Value (measured as of the issuance date) equal to
the amount of such Withholding Taxes, unless such Share Withholding Method is not permissible or advisable under local law.

(d) If the Share Withholding Method is to be utilized for the collection of Withholding Taxes, then the
Company shall withhold the number of otherwise issuable Shares necessary to satisfy the applicable Withholding Taxes based
on the applicable minimum statutory rate or other applicable withholding rate, including maximum applicable rates, as
determined by the Company in its sole discretion. If the maximum rate is used, any over-withheld amount will be refunded to
Participant in cash by the Company or Employer (with no entitlement to the Common Stock equivalent) or if not refunded,
Participant may seek a refund from the local tax authorities. If the obligation for Withholding Taxes is satisfied by using the
Share Withholding Method, then Participant will, for tax purposes, be deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares
subject to the vested Award, notwithstanding that a number of the Shares are withheld solely for the purpose of paying the
applicable Withholding Taxes.

(e) The Company has sole discretion to determine whether or not the Share Withholding Method will be
utilized for the collection of applicable Withholding Taxes. Participant acknowledges that the Company does not currently
utilize the Share Withholding Method. Participant will be notified (in writing or through the Company’s electronic mail system) in
the event the Company intends to utilize the Share Withholding Method. Should any Shares become issuable under the Award
at any time that the Share Withholding Method is not being utilized by the Company, then the Withholding Taxes shall be
collected from Participant through a sell-to-cover transaction, pursuant to which an immediate open-market sale of a portion of
the Shares issued to Participant will be effected, for and on behalf of Participant, by the Company’s designated broker to cover
the Withholding Tax liability estimated by the Company in its sole discretion to be applicable to such issuance. Participant
hereby appoints, authorizes and directs the broker-dealer or sales agent chosen by the Company (the “Agent”), to effect such
open-market, sell-to-cover transactions and remit the sale proceeds, net of brokerage fees and other applicable charges, to
the Company in satisfaction of the applicable Withholding Taxes. Participant acknowledges that the authorization and
instruction to the Agent set forth in this Section is intended to comply with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1) under the
Exchange Act and to be interpreted to comply with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act (Participant’s
election to sell-to-cover and the provisions of this Section, collectively, the “10b5-1 Plan”). Participant acknowledges that by
accepting the Award, he or she is adopting the 10b5-1 Plan to permit the sell-to-cover. Participant hereby authorizes the
Company and the Agent to cooperate and communicate with one another to determine the number of shares that must be sold
pursuant to this Section to satisfy the Withholding Taxes, brokerage fees and other applicable charges. Participant
acknowledges that the Agent is under no obligation to arrange for the sell-to-cover at any particular price under this 10b5-1
Plan and that the Agent may affect sales as provided in this 10b5-1 Plan in one or more sales and that the average price for
executions resulting from bunched orders may be assigned to Participant’s account. In addition, Participant acknowledges that
it may not be possible to execute the sell-to-cover as provided for in this 10b5-1 Plan and in the event of the Agent’s inability to
execute the sell-to-cover, Participant will continue to be responsible for the timely payment to the Company
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of all Withholding Taxes. Participant hereby agrees to execute and deliver to the Agent any other agreements or documents as
the Agent deems necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes and intent of this 10b5-1 Plan. The Agent is a third-party
beneficiary of this Section and the terms of this 10b5-1 Plan. Participant’s election to sell-to-cover and to enter into this 10b5-1
Plan is irrevocable. This 10b5-1 Plan shall terminate not later than the date on which the Withholding Taxes arising from the
vesting of the RSUs and the related issuance of Shares have been paid. However, no sell-to-cover transaction shall be
effected unless (i) such a sale is at the time permissible under the Company’s insider trading policies governing the sale of
Common Stock and (ii) the transaction is not deemed to constitute a prohibited loan under Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

(f) If the Company determines that such sell-to-cover transaction is not permissible or advisable at the time,
or if Participant otherwise fails to effect a timely sale authorization as required by this Agreement, then the Company may, in its
sole discretion, elect either to defer the issuance of the Shares until such sell-to-cover transaction can be effected in
accordance with Participant’s executed sale directive or to collect the applicable Withholding Taxes through Participant’s
delivery of his or her separate check payable to the Company in the amount of such Withholding Taxes or by withholding such
amount from other wages payable to Participant. In no event shall any Shares be issued in the absence of an arrangement
reasonably satisfactory to the Company for the satisfaction of the applicable Withholding Taxes and in compliance with any
applicable requirements of Code Section 409A.

(g)  Except as otherwise provided in Section 5, the settlement of all RSUs that vest under the Award shall be
made solely in Shares. In no event, however, shall any fractional Shares be issued. Accordingly, the total number of Shares to
be issued at the time the Award vests shall, to the extent necessary, be rounded down to the next whole Share in order to
avoid the issuance of a fractional Share.

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

(a) The issuance of Shares pursuant to the Award shall be subject to compliance by the Company and
Participant with all Applicable Laws relating thereto, as determined by counsel for the Company.

(b) The inability of the Company to obtain approval from any regulatory body having authority deemed by the
Company to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Common Stock pursuant to this Award shall relieve the
Company of any liability with respect to the non-issuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which such approval shall not
have been obtained. The Company, however, shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain all such approvals.

9. CLAWBACK POLICY. Participant hereby acknowledges that if he or she is covered by the Company’s policy on
recoupment of certain incentive-based compensation, as amended from time to time (the “Clawback Policy”), such policy may
result in the recoupment of the RSUs awarded hereunder, any Shares delivered hereunder, and any profits realized on the
sale of such Shares either before, on or after the date on which Participant becomes subject to such policy. In addition, by
acceptance of this award, Participant agrees that any prior awards that have been issued to him or her pursuant to the Plan or
any other incentive plan of the Company are subject to the Clawback Policy.
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10. INSIDER TRADING RESTRICTIONS/MARKET ABUSE LAWS.
Participant may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws based on the exchange on which the
Shares are listed and in applicable jurisdictions including the United States and Participant’s country or his or her broker’s
country, if different, which may affect Participant’s ability to accept, acquire, sell or otherwise dispose of Shares, rights to
Shares (e.g., Restricted Stock Units) or rights linked to the value of Shares (e.g., dividend equivalents) during such times as
Participant is considered to have “inside information” regarding the Company (as defined by the laws in applicable
jurisdictions). Local insider trading laws and regulations may prohibit the cancellation or amendment of orders Participant
placed before he or she possessed inside information. Furthermore, Participant could be prohibited from (i) disclosing the
inside information to any third party, which may include fellow employees and service providers and (ii) “tipping” third parties
or causing them otherwise to buy or sell securities. Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in
addition to any restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable insider trading policy of the Company. Participant
acknowledges that it is Participant’s responsibility to comply with any applicable restrictions and Participant should speak with
his or her personal legal advisor on this matter.

11. DEFERRED ISSUANCE DATE. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, to the extent
Participant is subject to taxation in the United States and this Award may be deemed to create a deferred compensation
arrangement under Code Section 409A, then the following limitation shall apply:

No Shares or other amounts which become issuable or distributable under this Agreement upon Participant’s
Separation from Service shall actually be issued or distributed to Participant prior to the earlier of (i) the first day of the
seventh (7th) month following the date of such Separation from Service or (ii) the date of Participant’s death, if Participant is
deemed at the time of such Separation from Service to be a specified employee under Section 1.409A-1(i) of the Treasury
Regulations issued under Code Section 409A, as determined by the Administrator in accordance with consistent and uniform
standards applied to all other Code Section 409A arrangements of the Company, and such delayed commencement is
otherwise required in order to avoid a prohibited distribution under Code Section 409A(a)(2). The deferred Shares or other
distributable amount shall be issued or distributed in a lump sum on the first day of the seventh (7th) month following the date
of Participant’s Separation from Service or, if earlier, the first day of the month immediately following the date the Company
receives proof of Participant’s death.

To the extent there is any ambiguity as to whether any provision of this Agreement would otherwise contravene one or
more requirements or limitations of Code Section 409A, such provisions shall be interpreted and applied in a manner that does
not result in a violation of the applicable requirements or limitations of Code Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations
thereunder.

Each installment of Shares issuable pursuant to this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of
Code Section 409A.

8



12. NOTICES. Any notice required to be given or delivered to the Company under the terms of this Agreement shall
be in writing and addressed to the Company at its principal corporate offices. Any notice required to be given or delivered to
Participant shall be in writing and addressed to Participant at the most current address then indicated for Participant on the
Company’s employee records or shall be delivered electronically to Participant through the Company’s electronic mail system
or through the on-line brokerage firm authorized by the Company to effect the sale of the Shares issued hereunder. All notices
shall be deemed effective upon personal delivery or delivery through the Company’s electronic mail system or upon deposit in
the U.S. or local country mail, postage prepaid and properly addressed to the party to be notified.

13. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS . Except to the extent otherwise provided in this Agreement, the provisions of
this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Company and its successors and assigns and
Participant, Participant’s assigns, the legal representatives, heirs and legatees of Participant’s estate.

14. CONSTRUCTION. This Agreement and the Award evidenced hereby are made and granted pursuant to the
Plan and are in all respects limited by and subject to the terms of the Plan. In the event of any conflict between the provisions
of this Agreement, the Award Notice and the terms of the Plan, the Award Notice and this Agreement shall control. In the
event of any conflict between the Award Notice and this Agreement, the Award Notice shall control. The words “hereof,”
“herein,” “hereby,” “hereunder” and “herewith” and words of similar import shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to
any particular provision of this Agreement. References to articles, sections, paragraphs, exhibits, annexes and schedules are
to the articles, sections and paragraphs of, and exhibits, annexes and schedules to, this Agreement, unless otherwise
specified, and the table of contents and headings in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any
way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. All decisions of the Administrator with respect to any question or issue
arising under the Plan, the Award Notice or this Agreement shall be conclusive and binding on all persons having an interest in
the Award.

15. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE.

(a) The interpretation, performance and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Delaware without resort to that State’s conflict-of-laws rules.

(b) For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises directly or indirectly from the relationship of the parties
evidenced by this Award and this Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State
of California and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the courts of San Francisco County, California, or the
federal courts for the Northern District of California, and no other courts where the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is made
and/or to be performed.

16. SEVERABILITY. The provisions of this Agreement are severable and if any one or more provisions are
determined to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless be binding
and enforceable.
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17. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NATURE OF PLAN AND AWARD . In accepting the Award, Participant
acknowledges, understands and agrees that:

(a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature, and it may be modified,
amended, suspended or terminated by the Company at any time, to the extent permitted by the Plan;

(b)  the Award is exceptional, voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to
receive future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have
been granted in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future Awards or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the
Company;

(d) the Award and Participant’s participation in the Plan shall not create a right to employment or be
interpreted as forming or amending an employment or service contract with the Company, the Employer or any Related Entity
and shall not interfere with the ability of the Company, the Employer or any Related Entity, as applicable, to terminate
Participant’s employment or service relationship (if any);

(e) Participant’s participation in the Plan is voluntary;

(f)  the Award and the Shares subject to the Award, and the income and value of same, are not intended to
replace any pension rights or compensation;

(g) the Award and the Shares subject to the Award, and the income and value of same, are not part of normal
or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of
service payments, holiday pay, bonuses, long-service awards, leave-related payments, pension or retirement or welfare
benefits or similar payments;

(h) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with any
certainty;

(i) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Award resulting from
termination of Participant’s Continuous Service by the Employer or the Company (or any Related Entity) (for any reason
whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is
employed or the terms of Participant’s employment agreement, if any), and in consideration of the Award, Participant
irrevocably agrees not to institute any claim against the Company, the Employer or any Related Entity, waives his or her
ability, if any, to bring any such claim and releases the Company, the Employer and any Related Entity from any such claim; if,
notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan,
Participant shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents
necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim;
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(j)  unless otherwise agreed with the Company in writing, the Award and the Shares subject to the Award,
and the income and value of same, are not granted as consideration for, or in connection with, any service Participant may
provide as a director of the Company or a Related Entity; and

(k)  unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and
the benefits evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits
transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor to be exchanged, cashed-out or substituted for, in connection with any
corporate transaction affecting the Shares.

18. NO ADVICE REGARDING GRANT. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the
Company making any recommendations regarding Participant’s participation in the Plan or Participant’s acquisition or sale of
the underlying Shares. Participant should consult with his or her personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her
participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan or the Restricted Stock Units.

19. WAIVER. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement
shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by
Participant or other Participants.

20. DATA PRIVACY.

(a) Data Privacy Information. By electing to participate in the Plan via the Company’s online acceptance
procedure, Participant is declaring that he or she understands the data processing practices described herein and including
the collection, processing and use of Personal Data (as defined below) by the Company and the transfer of Personal Data to
the recipients mentioned herein, including recipients located in countries which do not adduce an adequate level of protection
from a European (or other) data protection law perspective, for the purposes described herein. Participant understands that he
or she needs to review the following information about the processing of his or her personal data by or on behalf of the
Company, the Employer and/or any Related Entity and its service providers (such as the Agent) as described in this
Agreement and any other Plan materials and declare his or her consent to the international transfer of his personal data as
attached hereto.

(b) Data Processing and Personal Data. The Company, directly or indirectly through Participant’s Employer,
collects, uses, and otherwise processes Personal Data (as defined below) about Participant for the purposes of allocating
Shares and implementing, administering and managing the Plan. Participant understands that this Personal Data may include,
without limitation, his or her name, home address and telephone number, email address, date of birth, social insurance
number, passport number or other identification number (e.g., resident registration number), salary, nationality, job title, any
shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitlement to shares of
stock or equivalent benefits awarded, cancelled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (the
“Personal Data”).
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(c) Legal Basis and Controller. The processing of Participant’s Personal Data is necessary in order for
Participant to participate in the Plan and for Company for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan
and Participant’s participation therein (on the basis of the performance of a contract (Art. 6(1)(b) GDPR)), to comply with legal
obligations in the EU (on the basis of (Art. 6(1)(c) GDPR) and on the basis of legitimate interests, in particular to comply with
non-EU legal obligations (Art. 6(1)(f) GDPR). As regards the processing of Participant’s Personal Data in connection with the
Plan and this Agreement, Participant understands that the Company (Stem, Inc.) is the controller of his or her Personal Data.

(d) Stock Plan Administration Service Providers. Participant understands that the Company transfers his or
her Personal Data, or parts thereof, to the Agent (and its affiliated companies), an independent service provider based in the
United States that assists the Company (as data processor) with the implementation, administration, and management of the
Plan. In the future, the Company may select a different service provider and share Participant’s Personal Data with such
different service provider that serves the Company in a similar manner. Participant understands and acknowledges that the
Company’s service provider will open an account for him or her to receive and trade Shares acquired under the Plan and that
he or she will be asked to agree on separate terms and data processing practices with the service provider, which is a
condition of Participant’s ability to participate he Plan.

(e) International Data Transfers. Participant understands that the Company and, as of the date hereof, any
third parties assisting in the implementation, administration, and management of the Plan as data processors (such as the
Agent) are based in the United States. Participant understands and acknowledges that his or her country may have enacted
data privacy laws that are different from the laws of the United States. The Company’s legal basis for the transfer of
Participant’s Personal Data outside the European Economic Area is his or her consent and will be provided by Participant in
the form as attached hereto.

(f) Data Retention. Participant understands that the Company will use his or her Personal Data only as long
as is necessary to implement, administer and manage the Plan and his or her participation in the Plan and for the duration of
any relevant statutes of limitations which may exceed the duration of Participant’s participation in the Plan, or to comply with
legal or regulatory obligations, including under tax and securities laws. In the latter case, Participant understands and
acknowledges that the Company’s legal basis for the processing of his or her Personal Data would be compliance with the
relevant laws or regulations and legitimate interests of the Company (for non-EU legal obligations). When the Company no
longer needs Participant’s Personal Data for any of the above purposes, Participant understands the Company will remove it
from its systems.

(g) Voluntariness and Consequences of Denial/Withdrawal of Consent. Participant understands that his or her
participation in the Plan and his or her consent is purely voluntary. Participant may deny or later withdraw his or her consent at
any time, with future effect and for any or no reason. If Participant denies or later withdraws his or her consent, the Company
can no longer offer Participant participation in the Plan or offer other equity awards to Participant or administer or maintain
such awards and Participant would no longer be able to participate in the Plan. Participant further understands that denial or
withdrawal of his or her consent would not affect his or her status or salary as an employee or his or her career and that
Participant would merely forfeit the opportunities associated with the Plan. The withdrawal of
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his or her consent will not affect the lawfulness of any data transfers based on consent before its withdrawal.
(h) Data Subject Rights. Participant understands that data subject rights regarding the processing of Personal

Data vary depending on the Applicable Laws and that, depending on where Participant is based and subject to the conditions
set out in the Applicable Laws, Participant may have, without limitation, the rights to (i) inquire whether and what kind of
Personal Data the Company holds about him or her and how it is processed, and to access or request copies of such Personal
Data, (ii) request the correction or supplementation of Personal Data about him or her that is inaccurate, incomplete or out-of-
date in light of the purposes underlying the processing, (iii) obtain the erasure of Personal Data no longer necessary for the
purposes underlying the processing, processed based on withdrawn consent, processed for legitimate interests that, in the
context of his or her objection, do not prove to be compelling, or processed in non-compliance with applicable legal
requirements, (iv) request the Company to restrict the processing of his or her Personal Data in certain situations where
Participant feels its processing is inappropriate, (v) object, in certain circumstances, to the processing of Personal Data for
legitimate interests, and to (vi) request portability of Participant’s Personal Data that he or she has actively or passively
provided to the Company (which does not include data derived or inferred from the collected data), where the processing of
such Personal Data is based on consent or his or her employment and is carried out by automated means. In case of
concerns, Participant understands that he or she may also have the right to lodge a complaint with the competent local data
protection authority or contact the Company’s data protection officer with any questions or concerns regarding the processing
of Participant’s Personal Data (contact details: saul.laureles@stem.com). Further, to receive clarification of, or to exercise any
of, Participant’s rights, Participant understands that he or she should contact his or her local human resources representative.

21. LANGUAGE. By electing to accept this Agreement, Participant acknowledges that he or she is sufficiently
proficient in English or has consulted with an \advisor who is sufficiently proficient in English so as to allow Participant, to
understand the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Further, if Participant has received this Agreement or any other
document related to the Plan translated into a language other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is
different than the English version, the English version will control.

22. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY AND ACCEPTANCE . The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

23. PARTICIPANT ACCEPTANCE . Participant must accept the terms and conditions of this Agreement either
electronically through the electronic acceptance procedure established by the Company or through a written acceptance
delivered to the Company in a form satisfactory to the Company. In no event shall any Shares be issued (or other securities or
property distributed) under this Agreement in the absence of such acceptance.
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24. ADDENDUM. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement, the Award shall be subject to any special terms
and conditions set forth in any Addendum to this Agreement for Participant’s country. Moreover, if Participant relocates to one
of the countries included in the Addendum, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the
extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary for legal or administrative
reasons. The Addendum constitutes part of this Agreement.

25. IMPOSITION OF OTHER REQUIREMENTS. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the Award and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company
determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require Participant to sign any additional
agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

IN ORDER TO RECEIVE THE BENEFITS OF THIS AGREEMENT, PARTICIPANT MUST EXECUTE AND RETURN
THE AWARD NOTICE (THE “ ACCEPTANCE REQUIREMENTS”). IF YOU FAIL TO SATISFY THE ACCEPTANCE
REQUIREMENTS WITHIN 60 DAYS AFTER THE GRANT DATE, THEN THE AWARD NOTICE WILL BE OF NO FORCE OR
EFFECT AND THIS AWARD WILL BE AUTOMATICALLY FORFEITED TO THE COMPANY WITHOUT CONSIDERATION.

By accepting this Agreement, Participant acknowledges that Participant has received and read, and agrees that this
Award shall be subject to, the terms of this Agreement, the Award Notice and the Plan.

STEM, INC.
By: Kim Homenock
Title: Chief People Officer

By Participant’s electronic acceptance and the signature of the Company’s representative above, Participant and the
Company agree that this Award is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement,
including the terms and conditions set forth in any Addendum to this Agreement for Participant’s country.

Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of
counsel prior to accepting this Agreement and fully understands all provisions of the Plan and Agreement.
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STEM, INC.
GLOBAL RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT 

AWARD AGREEMENT

ADDENDUM

Terms and Conditions

This Addendum includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement to which this Addendum is attached to the extent Participant resides outside the
United States and additional terms and conditions applicable to Participant’s providing Services to the Company, the Employer
or any Related Entity in one of the countries listed below.

Capitalized terms not defined in this Addendum will have the same definition as provided in this Agreement or in the Appendix,
as appropriate.

Notifications

This Addendum also includes information relating to exchange control, securities laws, foreign asset/account reporting and
other issues of which Participant should be aware with respect to Participant’s participation in the Plan. The information is
based on the securities, exchange control, foreign asset/account reporting and other laws in effect in the respective countries
as of February 2023. Such laws are complex and change frequently. As a result, Participant should not rely on the information
herein as the only source of information relating to the consequences of Participant’s participation in the Plan because the
information may be out of date at the time that Participant vests in the Restricted Stock Units, sells Shares acquired under the
Plan or takes any other action in connection with the Plan.

In addition, the information is general in nature and may not apply to Participant’s particular situation, and the Company is not
in a position to assure Participant of any particular result. Accordingly, Participant should seek appropriate professional advice
as to how the relevant laws in Participant’s country may apply to Participant’s situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country, or is considered resident of a country, other than the one in which
Participant is currently working and/or residing, or Participant transfers employment and/or residency after the Award Grant
Date, the information contained herein may not apply to Participant in the same manner.

Participant acknowledges that he or she has been advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to how the
relevant laws in Participant’s country may apply to his or her individual situation.
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I. GLOBAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO NON-U.S. PARTICIPANTS

Terms and Conditions

1. Foreign Asset/Account, Exchange Control and Tax Reporting. Participant understands and agrees that Participant may
be subject to foreign asset/account, exchange control and/or tax reporting requirements as a result of the acquisition, holding
and/or transfer of Shares or cash (including dividends and the proceeds arising from the sale of Shares) derived from his or
her participation in the Plan in, to and/or from a brokerage/bank account or legal entity located outside Participant’s country.
The Applicable Laws of Participant’s country may require that Participant report such accounts, assets, the balances therein,
the value thereof and/or the transactions related thereto to the applicable authorities in such country. Participant acknowledges
that he or she is responsible for ensuring compliance with any applicable foreign asset/account, exchange control and tax
reporting requirements and should consult his or her personal legal advisor on this matter.

2. Foreign Exchange Considerations. Participant understands and agrees that neither the Company, the Employer and
any Related Entity shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation between Participant’s local currency and the U.S.
dollar that may affect the value of the Restricted Stock Units, or of any amounts due to Participant under the Plan or as a result
of vesting in the Restricted Stock Units and/or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired under the Plan. Participant agrees
and acknowledges that he or she will bear any and all risk associated with the exchange or fluctuation of currency associated
with his or her participation in the Plan. Participant acknowledges and agrees that he or she may be responsible for reporting
inbound transactions or fund transfers that exceed a certain amount. Participant is advised to seek appropriate professional
advice as to how the exchange control regulations apply to the Restricted Stock Units and Participant’s specific situation and
understands that the relevant laws and regulations can change frequently and occasionally on a retroactive basis.

3. Acknowledgement of Nature of Plan and Award. The following provision supplements Section 17 of this Agreement:

For purposes of the Restricted Stock Units, Participant’s status as a service provider will be considered terminated as of the
date Participant is no longer in Continuous Service (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether or not later
found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a service provider or the terms of
Participant’s employment or service agreement, if any), and unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement (including
by reference in the Award Notice to other arrangements or contracts) or determined by the Company, (i) Participant’s right to
vest in the Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, if any, will terminate as of such date and will not be extended by any notice
period (e.g., Participant’s period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of “garden leave” or
similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a service provider or the terms of
Participant’s employment or service agreement, if any, unless Participant is providing bona fide services during such time), and
(ii) the period (if any) during which Participant may vest in the Restricted Stock Units after such termination of Participant’s
engagement as a service provider will commence on the date Participant ceases to actively provide services and will not be
extended by any notice period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is employed or terms of
Participant’s employment or service agreement, if any; the Company will have the exclusive

16



discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for purposes of the Restricted Stock Unit grant
(including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence).
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II. COUNTRY-SPECIFIC PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO PARTICIPANTS WHO PROVIDE SERVICE IN THE
COUNTRIES INCLUDED BELOW

Australia

Notifications

The grant of Restricted Stock Units is made under the new rules promulgated on October 1, 2022, under the Australian
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Brazil

Notifications

Exchange Control Information. When transferring amounts resulting from the sale of Shares to Brazil, such funds must be
transferred by wire and declared as such through the foreign exchange closing operations of Participant’s preferred financial
institution in Brazil. The amounts received from abroad also must, subsequently, be declared by Participant for tax purposes.

By participating in the Plan, Participant understands that he or she is generally required to make an annual report of Shares
held outside Brazil to the tax authorities and the Central Bank if such holdings exceed a specified limit (typically, USD
100,000).

Canada

Terms and Conditions

Award Payable Only in Shares. The grant of the Restricted Stock Units does not give Participant any right to receive a cash
payment, and the Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only.

French Language Provisions. The following provisions will apply if Participant is a resident of Quebec:

The parties acknowledge that it is their express wish that this Agreement, as well as all documents, notices and legal
proceedings entered into, given or instituted pursuant hereto or relating directly or indirectly hereto, be drawn up in English.

Les parties reconnaissent avoir exigé la redaction en anglais de cette convention (“Agreement”), ainsi que de tous documents
exécutés, avis donnés et procedures judiciaries intentées, directement ou indirectement, relativement à la présente
convention.

Notifications

Tax Reporting. Foreign property (including the Restricted Stock Units granted under the Plan and the underlying Shares) held
by Canadian residents must be reported annually on Form T1135 (Foreign Income Verification Statement) if the total value of
such foreign property exceeds CAD100,000 at any time during the year. The form must be filed by April 30 of the following
year.

France
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Terms and Conditions

Nature of Award. The Restricted Stock Units are not intended to qualify for special tax and social security treatment applicable
to Restricted Stock Units granted under Section L.225-197-1 to L.225-197-6 of the French Commercial Code, as amended.

Notifications

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting Information. French residents must declare all foreign bank and brokerage accounts in which
they hold cash or securities, including accounts that were opened and/or closed during the tax year, on an annual basis on a
special form N° 3916, together with their income tax return. Participant should consult with a personal tax advisor to ensure
compliance with applicable reporting obligations.

Germany

Notifications

Exchange Control Information. Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 must be reported monthly to the German Federal
Bank. In case of payments in connection with securities (including proceeds realized upon the sale of Shares or the receipt of
dividends), the report must be made electronically by the 5th day of the month following the month in which the payment was
received. The form of report (“Allgemeine Meldeportal Statistik”) can be accessed via the Bundesbank’s website
(www.bundesbank.de) and is available in both German and English.

India

Terms and Conditions

Repatriation Requirements. As a condition of the grant of Restricted Stock Units, Participant agrees to repatriate any proceeds
from the sale of Shares acquired under the Plan or the receipt of any Dividend Equivalents or dividends to India within 180
days of receipt (assuming Optionee holds less than 10% of the Company’s share capital) and convert such amounts to local
currency. Participant also must obtain a foreign inward remittance certificate (“FIRC”) from the bank where he or she deposits
the foreign currency and maintains the FIRC as evidence of the repatriation of funds in the event the Reserve Bank of India or
his or her employer requests proof of repatriation.

Notifications

Foreign Assets Reporting Information. Participant must declare foreign bank accounts and any foreign financial assets
(including Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units held outside India) in his or her annual tax return. It is Participant’s
responsibility to comply with this reporting obligation and he or she should consult with his or her personal tax advisor to
determine such personal reporting obligations.

Japan

Notifications
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Foreign Asset/Account Reporting Information. If Participant acquires Shares valued at more than ¥100 million in a single
transaction, Participant must file a Report on Acquisition or Disposal of Securities (shoken no shutoku mataha joto ni kansuru
hokokusho) with the Ministry of Finance through the Bank of Japan within 20 days of the acquisition of the Shares. In addition,
Japanese residents are required to file a Report on Overseas Assets (kokugai zaisan chosho) in respect of any assets
(including Shares) held outside Japan as of December 31, to the extent such assets have a total net fair market value
exceeding ¥50 million.

Such Report must be filed with the competent tax office on or before March 15 each year. Japanese residents are responsible
for complying with this reporting obligation and should confer with their personal tax advisor in this regard.

Finland

No country-specific provisions.

Spain

Notifications

Foreign Assets Reporting. Participant may be subject to certain tax reporting requirements with respect to assets, rights, or
foreign currency that Participant holds outside of Spain, including bank accounts, securities (including Shares acquired under
the Plan) and real estate if the aggregate value for particular category of assets exceeds €50,000 as of December 31 each
year.

If applicable, Participant must report his or her foreign assets on Form 720 by no later than March 31 following the end of the
relevant year. After the rights and/or assets are initially reported, the reporting obligation will only apply if the value of
previously-reported rights or assets increases by more than €20,000 as of each subsequent December 31; additional reporting
requirements may apply if Participant’s assets or asset increases exceed these amounts.

Share Reporting Requirement. The acquisition of Shares must be declared for statistical purposes to the Direccion General de
Comercio e Inversiones, the Bureau for Commerce and Investments, which is a department of the Ministry of Economy and
Competitiveness. Generally, the declaration must be filed in January for Shares owned as of December 31 of each year;
however, if the value of the Shares acquired or the amount of the sale proceeds exceeds a designated amount the declaration
must be filed within one month of the acquisition or sale, as applicable.

Foreign Currency Payments. When receiving foreign currency payments exceeding €50,000 derived from the ownership of
Shares (i.e., dividends or proceeds from the sale of the shares), Participant must inform the financial institution receiving the
payment of the basis upon which such payment is made. Participant will need to provide the following information: (i)
Participant’s name, address, and fiscal identification number; (ii) the name and corporate domicile of the Company; (iii) the
amount of the payment and the currency used; (iv) the country of origin; (v) the reasons for the payment; and (vi) further
information that may be required.

United Kingdom

20



Terms and Conditions

Tax Obligations. The following provision supplements Section 7 of this Agreement:

Withholding Taxes include Primary and to the extent legally possible secondary class 1 National Insurance Contributions.
Participant agrees that the Company or the Employer and any Related Entity may calculate the Withholding Taxes to be
withheld and accounted for by reference to the maximum applicable rates, without prejudice to any right Participant may have
to recover any overpayment from relevant U.K. tax authorities. Participant understands and agrees that if payment or
withholding of any income tax liability arising in connection with Participant’s participation in the Plan is not made by
Participant to Participant’s employer within 90 days of the event giving rise to such income tax liability or such other period
specified in Section 222(1)I of the U.K. Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 (the “ Due Date”), that the amount of
any uncollected income tax will constitute a loan owed by Participant to Participant’s employer, effective on the Due Date.
Participant understands and agrees that the loan will bear interest at the then-current official rate of His Majesty’s Revenue
and Customs, it will be immediately due and repayable by Participant, and the Company and/or the employer may recover it at
any time thereafter by any of the means referred to in the Plan and/or this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Participant understands and agrees that if Participant is a director or an executive officer of the
Company (within the meaning of such terms for purposes of Section 13(k) of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended), Participant will not be eligible for such a loan to cover the income tax liability. Participant further understands that,
in the event that he or she is such a director or executive officer and the income tax is not collected from or paid by Participant
by the Due Date, the amount of any uncollected income tax will constitute an additional benefit to Participant on which
additional income tax and National Insurance Contributions will be payable. Participant understands and agrees that he or she
is responsible for reporting and paying any income tax due on this additional benefit directly to His Majesty’s Revenue and
Customs under the self-assessment regime and for reimbursing the Company or the employer (as appropriate) for the value of
any primary and (to the extent legally possible) secondary class 1 National Insurance Contributions due on this additional
benefit which the Company or the employer may recover from Participant by any of the means referred to in the Plan and/or
this Agreement.

National Insurance Contributions Indemnity. Participant acknowledges and agrees, as a condition of his or her participation in
the Plan and vesting in the Restricted Stock Units or receipt of any benefit in connection with the Restricted Stock Units, to
indemnify the Company against any liability of any person to account for any tax liability associated with the Restricted Stock
Units, which includes any tax liability to account to His Majesty’s Revenue and Customs or other tax authority for any amount
of, or representing, income tax or employees’ or any employer’s National Insurance Contributions or any other tax charge levy
or other sum, whether under the laws of the U.K. or otherwise, which may arise on the Restricted Stock Unit gain realized that
is treated as remuneration derived from Participant’s employment by virtue of Section 4(4)(a) of the Social Security
Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 (“Restricted Stock Unit Tax Liability”), on the grant, vesting, assignment or release of
the Restricted Stock Units or the acquisition, holding and/or disposal of Shares pursuant to this Agreement. The Company
shall not be obliged to allot and issue or procure the transfer of any Shares pursuant to this Agreement and this Addendum
unless and until Participant has paid to the Company such sum as is, in the opinion of the Company, sufficient to indemnify it
in full against any Restricted Stock Unit Tax
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Liability. Participant undertakes that he or she shall, if requested to do so, join with the employer in making an election for the
transfer to you, the Participant, of the whole, or such part as the Company may determine, of any liability to employer's
National Insurance Contributions (“NIC Joint Election”). Further, by entering into an NIC Joint Election Participant authorizes
the employer or the Company to recover an amount sufficient to cover this liability by such methods including, but not limited
to, deductions from Participant’s salary or other payments due or the sale of sufficient Shares acquired pursuant to the
Restricted Stock Units.
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APPENDIX

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions shall be in effect under this Agreement:

“Addendum” means the addendum to this Agreement setting forth special terms and conditions for Participant’s
country.

“Administrator” means the Compensation Committee of the Board (or a subcommittee thereof), acting in its capacity
as administrator of the Plan and pursuant to a delegation by the Board in accordance with Section 2(c) of the Plan.

“Agreement” means this Global Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.

“Applicable Acceleration Period” means: (i) 24 months, in the case of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, (ii) 18
months, in the case of any other executive officer of the Company, and (iii) 12 months, in the case of all other grantees of
RSUs hereunder, or (in the cases of (i), (ii), and (iii)) such other period(s) as may be determined by the Administrator on the
basis of Participant’s status on the Change in Control date.

“Applicable Laws” means the legal requirements related to the Plan and the Award under applicable provisions of the
federal securities laws, state corporate and securities laws, the Code, the rules of New York Stock Exchange, and the rules of
any non-U.S. jurisdiction applicable to Awards granted to residents therein.

“Award” means the award of Restricted Stock Units made to Participant pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

“Board” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Capitalization Adjustment” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Cause” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Change in Control” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Code” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Common Stock, or Shares” is defined in Section 1.

“Company” means Stem, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor corporation to all or substantially all of the
assets or voting stock of Stem, Inc., which shall by appropriate action adopt the Plan.

“Constructive Termination” means the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions: (i) (A) a change in the
Participant’s status, title, position or responsibilities (including reporting responsibilities) which represents an adverse change
from the Participant’s status, title, position or responsibilities as in effect immediately prior to the execution of the
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definitive agreement for the Change in Control transaction or at any time within the Applicable Acceleration Period after the
date of a Change in Control; (B) the assignment to the Participant of any duties or responsibilities which are inconsistent with
the Participant’s status, title, position or responsibilities as in effect immediately prior to the execution of the definitive
agreement for the Change in Control transaction or at any time within the Applicable Acceleration Period after the Change in
Control; or (C) any removal of the Participant from or failure to reappoint or reelect the Participant to any of the offices or
positions held by the Participant immediately prior to the execution of the definitive agreement for the Change in Control
transaction or at any time within the Applicable Acceleration Period after the date of a Change in Control, except in connection
with the termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service for Cause, as a result of the Participant’s Disability or death or by
the Participant other than as a result of Constructive Termination; (ii) a reduction in the Participant’s annual base
compensation or any failure to pay the Participant any compensation or benefits to which the Participant is entitled within five
days of the date due; (iii) the Company’s requiring the Participant to relocate to any place outside a 50 mile radius of the
location serving as Participant’s principal work site immediately prior to the execution of the definitive agreement for the
Change in Control transaction or during the Applicable Acceleration Period after the date of a Change in Control, except for
reasonably required travel on the business of the Company or a Related Entity which is not materially greater than such travel
requirements in effect during the applicable measurement period determined above; (iv) the failure by the Company to
(A) continue in effect (without reduction in benefit level and/or reward opportunities) any material compensation or employee
benefit plan in which the Participant was participating at any time within the 90-day period immediately prior to the execution of
the definitive agreement for the Change in Control transaction or at any time within the Applicable Acceleration Period after the
Change in Control, unless such plan is replaced with a plan that provides substantially equivalent compensation or benefits to
the Participant, or (B) provide the Participant with compensation and benefits, in the aggregate, at least equal (in terms of
benefit levels and/or reward opportunities) to those provided the Participant under each other employee benefit plan, program
and practice in which he or she was participating at any time within the 90-day period immediately prior to the execution of the
definitive agreement for the Change in Control transaction or at any within the Applicable Acceleration Period after the Change
in Control; (v) any material breach by the Company of any provision of an agreement between the Company and the
Participant, whether pursuant to this Plan or otherwise, other than a breach which is cured by the Company within 15 days
following notice by the Participant of such breach; or (vi) the failure of the Company to obtain an agreement, satisfactory to the
Participant, from any successors and assigns to assume and agree to perform the obligations created under this Plan.

“Consultant” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Continuous Service” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Director” means a member of the Board.

“Disability” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.
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“Employee” means any person who is in the employ of the Company (or any Related Entity), subject to the control and
direction of the Company or Related Entity as to both the work to be performed and the manner and method of performance.

“Employer” means the Company or the Related Entity employing or retaining Participant.

“Fair Market Value” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Grant Date” means the date that RSUs are awarded to Participant pursuant to this Agreement, and shall be the date
indicated in Section 1 hereto.

“Normal Vesting Schedule” means the schedule set forth in Section 1 hereto, pursuant to which the Restricted Stock
Units and the underlying Shares are to vest in a series of installments over Participant’s period of Continuous Service.

“Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now existing or hereafter established, as defined in Section 424(e) of
the Code.

“Participant” means the person to whom the Award is made pursuant to this Agreement.

“Related Entity” means (i) any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company and (ii) any corporation in an unbroken chain of
corporations beginning with the Company and ending with the corporation in the chain for which Participant provides services
as an Employee, Director or Consultant, provided each corporation in such chain owns securities representing at least twenty
percent (20%) of the total outstanding voting power of the outstanding securities of another corporation or entity in such chain
and there is a legitimate non-tax business purpose for making this Award to Participant.

“Restricted Period” is defined in the Award Summary contained in Section 1 hereto.

“RSU, or Restricted Stock Unit” means the Award in the form of a contractual right to receive Shares under this
Agreement which will entitle Participant to receive one actual share of Common Stock per Restricted Stock Unit upon the
satisfaction of the Continuous Service vesting requirements applicable to such Award.

“Separation from Service” means, with respect to a Participant, that the Participant dies, retires, or otherwise has a
termination of employment with the Employer that constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h)(1), without regard to the optional alternative definitions available under such regulation.

“Share Withholding Method” means an automatic Share withholding procedure (such as net settlement) pursuant to
which the Company will withhold, immediately as the Shares are issued under the Award, a portion of those Shares with a Fair
Market Value (measured as of the issuance date) equal to the amount of the applicable Withholding Taxes.

“Subsidiary” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Plan.

“Transfer” is defined in Section 2 hereto.
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“Withholding Taxes” means any and all income taxes (including U.S. federal, state, and local tax and/or foreign income
taxes) and the employee portion of the federal, state, local and/or foreign employment taxes (including social insurance,
payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items) required or permitted to be withheld by the Company in connection
with any taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, attributable to the Award or Participant’s participation in the Plan.
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Consent to International Data Transfers
(EU Participants)

I have read and understood the Stem, Inc. Global Restricted Stock Unit award agreement and in particular the information
provided in Section 20 (Data Privacy).

I herewith consent and agree that my Personal Data may be transferred to Stem, Inc. (acting as data controller) and any
third party service providers (acting as data processors - such as brokers, accounting firms, payroll processing firms or tax firms and
their sub-processors) assisting in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan and my Participation therein, such
as, as of the date hereof, Fidelity Investments, LLC (and its affiliates), as well as any tax or other public authorities, registries, security
exchange commissions, or other public institutions as may be required by applicable laws or regulations.

I understand that these recipients of my Personal Data are located in the United States or elsewhere outside the European
Economic Area and that the recipients’ countries may have different data privacy laws and a lower level of data protection standards
than my country and the European Economic Area and that these standards may be considered inadequate under the GDPR.

I understand that my consent is voluntary and that I may withdraw it at any time with effect for the future. However, while
refusing or withdrawing my consent will not have a negative effect on my employment, it may affect my ability to participate in the Plan.

__________________________________________________
Name, Date, Place, Signature



 

Exhibit 21

STEM, INC.

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT
The Registrant, Stem, Inc., a Delaware corporation, has no parent

The following are subsidiaries of the Registrant

(as of December 31, 2023)

Subsidiary Name Country or state of incorporation

AlsoEnergy Holdings, Inc. Delaware

Stem US Holdings, Inc. Delaware



 

Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-251397 on Form S-4, Registration Statements Nos.
333-267275, 333-265612, 333-257994 and 333-256501 on Form S-3, and Registration Statement No. 333-257665 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated February 28, 2024, relating to the financial statements of Stem, Inc. and the effectiveness of Stem, Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California
February 28, 2024



 

Exhibit 24
Powers of Attorney

Each of the undersigned, in the capacity or capacities set forth below his or her signature as a member of the Board of
Directors and/or an officer of Stem, Inc., a Delaware company, hereby appoints William Bush and Saul R. Laureles, or either of
them, the attorney or attorneys of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and revocation, for and in the name, place
and stead of the undersigned, to execute and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission the Annual Report on Form
10-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2023, and any amendment or amendments to any such Annual Report on Form 10-K, and any agreements, consents or
waivers related thereto, and to take any and all such other action for and in the name and place and stead of the undersigned
as may be necessary or desirable in order to comply with the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

/s/ John Carrington /s/ David Buzby
John Carrington David Buzby

Chief Executive Officer and Director Chairman of the Board

/s/ Adam E. Daley /s/ Anil Tammineedi
Adam E. Daley Anil Tammineedi

Director Director

/s/ Michael C. Morgan /s/ Laura D’Andrea Tyson
Michael C. Morgan Laura D’Andrea Tyson

Director Director

/s/ Ira Burns /s/ Jane Woodward
Ira Burns Jane Woodward
Director Director

Date: February 22, 2024



 

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, John Carrington, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 of Stem, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

STEM, INC.

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ John Carrington

Name: John Carrington

Title: Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, William Bush, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 of Stem, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over
financial reporting.

STEM, INC.

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ William Bush

Name: William Bush

Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Stem, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John Carrington, Chief Executive Officer of the registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.

STEM, INC.

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ John Carrington

Name: John Carrington

Title: Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act.



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Stem, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William Bush, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the registrant.

STEM, INC.

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ William Bush

Name: William Bush

Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act.



 

EXHIBIT 97

STEM, INC.
CLAWBACK POLICY

(adopted 10.26.23)

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Stem, Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the
Company and its stockholders to adopt this Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), which provides for the recovery of certain
incentive-based compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below). This Policy is designed to
comply with, and shall be interpreted to be consistent with, Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10D-1”) and Section 303A.14 of
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) Listed Company Manual (the “NYSE Listing Standards”).

Administration

This Policy is administered by the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors.
The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate or
advisable for the administration of this Policy. All determinations made by the Committee will be final and binding on all
affected individuals, and need not be uniform with respect to each individual covered by the Policy. Subject to any limitation
under applicable law, the Committee may authorize and empower any officer or employee of the Company to take any and
all actions necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy (other than with respect to any recovery
under this Policy involving such officer or employee).

Definitions

For purposes of this Policy:

“Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the
Company’s material non-compliance with any financial reporting requirement under the federal securities laws,
including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is
material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were
corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part
on the Company’s attainment of a financial reporting measure (as defined below) that was received by a person (a)
on or after October 2, 2023 and after the person began service as a Covered Executive, and (b) who served as a
Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for the Incentive-Based Compensation.

Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” for purposes of this Policy in the Company’s fiscal period during which
the financial reporting measure specified in the Incentive-Based



Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after
the end of that period.

“financial reporting measure” means (a) any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with U.S.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (including any measure derived wholly or in part from such a measure),
and (b) any measure based in whole or in part on the Company’s stock price or total shareholder return (“TSR”).
Financial reporting measures include but are not limited to the following (and any measures derived from the
following): stock price; TSR; revenue; net income; operating income; profitability of one or more reportable segments;
financial ratios (e.g., accounts receivable turnover); earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”); liquidity measures (e.g., working capital, operating cash flow); return measures (e.g., return on invested
capital); and earnings measures (e.g., earnings per share). A financial reporting measure need not be presented
within the Company’s financial statements or be included in a filing with the Securities Exchange Commission.

“Covered Executives” means the Company’s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Committee
in accordance with the definition of executive officer set forth in Rule 10D-1 and the NYSE Listing Standards.

“Recovery Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is
required to prepare the accounting restatement described in this Policy, all as determined pursuant to Rule 10D-1, as
well as any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following
those three completed fiscal years (except that a transition period that comprises a period of at least nine months will
count as a completed fiscal year).

Covered Executives

This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by a Covered Executive (a) after beginning services as
a Covered Executive; (b) if that person served as a Covered Executive at any time during the Recovery Period for such
Incentive-Based Compensation; and (c) while the Company had a listed class of securities on a national securities
exchange.

Required Recoupment of Incentive-based Compensation

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company shall promptly recoup the
amount of any Incentive-Based Compensation received by any Covered Executive, as calculated pursuant to this Section,
during the Recovery Period.

The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery under the Policy, as determined by the Committee,
is the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received by a Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive-
Based Compensation that would have been received by the Covered Executive had it been determined based on the
restated amounts.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or TSR, where the amount of erroneously awarded
Incentive-Based Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Accounting
Restatement, the Committee will determine the
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amount based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the relevant stock price or TSR
upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received. The Company shall maintain documentation of the
determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE.

Any Incentive-Based Compensation recovered will be determined without regard to any taxes paid with respect to
such compensation.

Method of Recoupment

The Committee will determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for promptly recouping Incentive-Based
Compensation pursuant to this Policy, which may include without limitation (a) seeking reimbursement of all or part of any
cash or equity-based award, (b) cancelling prior cash or equity-based awards, whether vested or unvested or paid or unpaid,
(c) cancelling or offsetting against any planned future cash or equity-based awards, (d) forfeiture of deferred compensation,
subject to compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder and (e)
any other method authorized by applicable law or contract. Subject to compliance with any applicable law, the Administrator
may affect recovery under this Policy from any amount otherwise payable to the Covered Executive, including amounts
payable to such individual under any otherwise applicable Company plan or program, including base salary, bonuses or
commissions and compensation previously deferred by the Covered Executive.

The Company need not recover the excess amount of Incentive-Based Compensation if and to the extent that the
Committee determines that such recovery is impracticable, subject to and in accordance with any applicable exceptions
under the NYSE listing rules, and not required under Rule 10D-1, including if the Committee determines that the direct
expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered after making a
reasonable attempt to recover such amounts. The Company is authorized to take appropriate steps to implement this Policy
with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation arrangements with Covered Executives.

Any right of recoupment or recovery pursuant to this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or
rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any other policy, any employment
agreement or plan or award terms, and any other legal remedies available to the Company; provided that the Company shall
not recoup amounts pursuant to such other policy, terms or remedies to the extent it is recovered pursuant to this Policy.

No Indemnification of Covered Executives

Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification or insurance policy or any contractual arrangement with any
Covered Executive that may be interpreted to the contrary, the Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives
against the loss of any Incentive-Based Compensation pursuant to this Policy.

Effective Date; Retroactive Application
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This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). The terms of this Policy will apply to any
Incentive-Based Compensation that is received by Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date. Without limiting the
generality of any provision of this Policy, and subject to applicable law, the Committee may affect recovery under this Policy
from any amount of compensation approved, awarded, granted, payable or paid to a Covered Executive prior to, on or after
the Effective Date.

Exhibit Filing Requirement

The Company shall post a copy of this Policy and any amendments thereto on the Company’s website and will file
this Policy as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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